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DECLARATION OF TIMOTHY RUSSELL 

I, Timothy Russell, do hereby declare and state that I am the petitioner in the 

above-entitled case; that in support of my motion to proceed without being required to 

prepay fees, costs, or give security therefor, I state that because of my poverty I am unable 

- . 
to pay the costs of said case or to give security therefor; and that I believe I am entitled to 

redress. 

I further state that the responses which I have made below relating to my inability 

to pay the cost of proceeding in this Court are true. 

1. I am not presently employed, and have been incarcerated on death row at 

San Quentin State Prison, San Quentin, California since 1999. 

2. I have not received within the last twelve months any income from a 

business, profession, or other form of self-employment, or in the form of rent payments, 

interest, dividends or other source. 

3. There is approximately $ .SO~n my prison account. I own no other cash, 

and have no other checking or savings account. 

4. I do not own any real estate, stocks, bonds, notes, automobiles, or other 

valuable property. 

5. There are no persons who are dependent upon me for support. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed 

this Q day of March, 2011. 

z~~ 
TI~RUSSELL 
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CAPITAL CASE 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

At the penalty retrial in a capital case following a jury deadlock, does application 

of a state hearsay rule to deny defendant's request to present relevant mitigating evidence 

that the prosecution introduced at the guilt phase and the jury was required to consider at 

the first penalty phase violate defendant's constitutional rights under the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments to a fair trial, to heightened reliability in capital sentencing, and 

to present evidence in mitigation of a death sentence? 
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No. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

TIMOTHY RUSSELL, Petitioner, 

v. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Respondent. 

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Petitioner, Timothy Russell, respectfully prays that a Writ of Certiorari issue to 

review the decision of the Supreme Court of California affirming his sentence of death. 

PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS 

The parties to the proceedings below were petitioner, Timothy Russell, and 

respondent, the People of the State of California. 

OPINION BELOW 

The California Supreme Court issued an opinion in this case on November 15, 

2010, reported as People v. Russell, 50 Ca1.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68 (2010). A copy of that 

opinion is attached as Appendix A. 

JURISDICTION 

The California Supreme Court entered its judgment on November 15, 2010. On 

November 30, 2010, a petition for rehearing was filed by petitioner. The opinion was 
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modified and rehearing denied on December 21,2010. A copy of the order modifying the 

judgment and denying rehearing is attached as Appendix B. On March 16,2011, this 

Court granted petitioner an extension of time from March 21,2011, to April 20, 2011, to 

filed this petition. A copy of that order is attached as Appendix C. The Court has 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a). 

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in relevant 

part: " ... nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due 

process oflaw; ... " 

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides: "Excessive 

bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual 

punislunents inflicted." 

California Evidence Code §§ 356 and 1220, and portions of California Penal 

Code § 190.4 are attached as Appendix D. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner, Timothy Russell, was convicted of murder for killing two police 

officers Michael Hangen and James Lehman who had responded to domestic violence at 

his home. At the penalty phase of Russell's capital trial, the jury considered all the 

evidence introduced at the entire trial including the videotapes of his interrogation by 

police. The videotaped interrogation, the first portion of which began a few hours after 

2 



Russell's arrest and about eight hours after the murders occurred, was introduced at the 

guilt phase of the trial at the prosecution's request. The videotape showed Russell 

admitting that he .shot the officers, explaining the circumstances surrounding the 

shootings, giving information about his background, attempting to explain his mental and 

emotional state at the time of the shootings, and expressing remorse. The jury, which 

heard this evidence, deadlocked eight-to-four on the appropriate penalty .. 

California is one of a handful of jurisdictions that permits a penalty retrial in a 

capital case when the jury cannot reach a decision on the sentence. l After the jury 

deadlock, the trial court shared with the parties its assessment of the choice that would 

face the new jury at the penalty retrial given that, in its view, "the case was tried" and 

"the evidence is fixed:" 

From my position, it depends on how the jury digests the evidence that's 
there. Either they are going to feel sympathetic towards the defendant, that 
he was intoxicated and that was a substantial contributing factor and the 
sympathetic value, his remorsefulness during the interview, depends on 
how the jury is going to digest that versus the argument that it was a 
premeditated, planned out, cold blooded killing. 

1 Four states by statute permit a retrial after a jury is unable to reach a sentencing­
decision: Alabama, Ala. Code §, 13A-5-46(g) (2011); Arizona, Ariz. Crim.Code.§ 13-
752(K) & (L) (2011); Oregon, Or. Rev. Stat. § 163.150(5) (West 2003); and Nevada, 
Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. 175.556 (Michie 2010). Two states by judicial decision permit 
such retrials: Connecticut, State v. Daniels, 542 A.2d 306, 317 (Conn. 1988); and 
Kentucky, Dillard v. Commonwealth, 995 S.W.2d 366, 374 (Ky. 1999). 
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R.T. 1787 (emphasis added). Despite recognizing the importance of the videotaped 

interrogation, the trial court granted the prosecution's motion to exclude the evidence as 

hearsay under California Evidence Code § 1220 and thus drastically changed the 

evidentiary landscape at the penalty retrial. The penalty retrial jury did not see or hear 

any of Russell's videotaped interrogation. It sentenced him to death. This Court should 

grant certiorari (1) to decide an important question going to the fundamental fairness and 

reliability of a death sentence imposed by a retrial jury who was not permitted to hear all 

the mitigating evidence heard by the original jury that deadlocked as to the appropriate 

penalty. 

and (2) to reaffirm the rule of Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 (1979) that highly relevant 

and reliable mitigating evidence cannot be excluded under a state hearsay rule from the 

penalty phase of a capital trial 

1. The Crime and Russell's Statements 

Following a domestic dispute with his wife, Elaine, in the early morning hours of 

January 5, 1997, Timothy Russell shot and killed the two police officers who had 

responded to a report of the disturbance. Russell ran into the desert surrounding his 

mobile home in rural Riverside County, California, where he remained until surrendering 

.-

the following morning at about 7:30 a.m. R.T.821-22? Russell spent much of the next 

2 "R.T." and "C.T." refer respectively to the Reporter's Transcript and the Clerk's 
Transcript of the certified record on appeal in automatic appeal of People v. Russell, 50 
Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68 (2010). The notation "4 Supp. C.T." refers to Volume 4 of the 
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36 hours assisting authorities in their investigation. While initially declining to make any 

statement without a lawyer, he voluntarily took the police into the desert to show them 

where he had hidden the gun with which he shot the officers. R.T.795-99. Later that 

morning, Russell agreed to talk. That first portion of the interrogation, conducted at the 

police station by Detective Eric Spidle of the Riverside Sheriffs Departr.iJent, lasted 

about 90 minutes. Detectives later returned and questioned Russell twice more about the 

facts of the shooting. All three portions of the interrogation were videotaped and 

introduced by the prosecution at the guilt phase of the trial. 

a. The First Statement 

While giving Detective Spidle his first statement, Russell appeared disheveled and 

despondent. P. Exh. 30. Russell told Detective Spidle about his emotional state. He 

said he had not "been right for years" and that "it's just been, been years of insanity." 4 

Supp. C.T. 3. He discussed his off and on again relationship with Elaine, who had been 

cheating on him. They had been to counseling, and Russell had been prescribed lithium 

after he sought psychiatric assistance at the Veteran's Administration Hospital. 4 Supp. 

C.T. 5,24-26. He stopped taking the medication because Elaine told him he did not need 

it any more. 4 Supp. C.T. 5. On the evening before the shooting, Russell had about 

twelve beers to drink. He believed he was co:qfrontational and prone to fighting when he 

Supplemental Clerk's Transcript, and "P. Exh." refers to the People's Exhibits and is 
followed by the relevant exhibit number. 
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had been drinking. 4 Supp. C.T. 78, 79. He left a bar at 2 a.m. and went home. 4 

Supp. C.T. 34. When Elaine woke up, things 'just turned ugly." Russell and Elaine 

started fighting physically. 4 Supp.C.T. 34. 

After the fight, Russell left the house and began to drive away. He knew Elaine 

was going to call the police. 4 Supp. C.T. 8,35. He was mad; he had his gun, and he 

obtained ammunition. 4 Supp. CT. 8. He went outside his home and fired three or four 

rounds into the air for no reason. He was just mad and wanted to get someone' s 

attention. 4 Supp. C.T. 38, 39, 76. 

Russell saw the police cars corning up the street to his home and stop. 4 Supp. 

C.T.43. He wanted to get away. 4 Supp. C.T. 43. He wanted to get across the freeway; 

he did not want to get caught and did not want to go to jail. 4 Supp. C.T. 9. 

Russell saw the silhouettes of the officers coming up the street and thought that if 

he shot in front of them, he could "scare 'em off." 4 Supp. C.T. 44. After firing, Russell 

'just took offrunnin.'" 4 Supp. C.T. 9. He ran into the desert. He hid the rifle and 

decided to give himself up. 4 Supp. C:T. 48. He then deliberately drew the attention of 

officers and was arrested without further incident. 4 Supp. C.T. 48-49. 

Russell did not know that he had killed the officers until told by the interrogating 

officer. 4 Supp. C.T. 52. He did not want ~o believe it was true; it was not his intention 

to kill anyone. 4 Supp. CT 53. 
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Russell continued cooperating with the police after making this first statement. He 

agreed to accompany officers to the scene of the shooting to reenact the shooting and 

explain what occurred. That visit to the scene took place in the afternoon of January 5. 

4 Supp. C.T. 95. 

b. The Second Statement 

Detective Spidle took a second, short statement from Russell at 6 p.m. on January 

5 to Clarify some points regarding the gun and ammunition. 4 Supp. C.T. 95-96. 

c. The Third Statement 

The police returned to take a third videotaped statement the next morning. Russell 

again cooperated. The interrogation generally went back over the facts of the shooting 

Russell had given earlier. Russell was also asked what he was feeling at the time. He 

responded, "And my actions are totally in the wrong ya know, I am in the wrong, it's no, I 

can't deny that, I fucked up, man I fucked up, what I did was wrong. Well takin' a life's 

everything and against what I believe man, and I really didn't mean, I di~'t mean for 

them to be struck, I didn't mean for them to die, I didn't mean for them to be hurt." 4 

Supp. C.T. 122, 138, 141-42. 

Afterwards, he accepted the officers' offer to make some telephone calls. He 

called his employer to apologize for what had happened and to arrange for his final. 

paycheck to go to his wife and children. 4 Supp. C.T. 144. He then called his brother to 
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say he was sorry for what happened and for involving the family through his actions. 4 

Supp. C.T. 146. 

2. The Guilt Phase Trial 

The videotapes of Russell's statements to Detective Spidle were central pieces of 

evidence in the prosecutor's guilt phase case. The prosecutor's principal theory was 

willful, -deliberate and premeditated first degree murder - that Russell waited outside in 

the dark night for the officers and deliberately killed them as they approached his home. 

Russell, on the other hand, claimed he was trying to get away to avoid arrest and was 

surprised to see the officers approaching. As Russell explained to Detective Spidle, he 

shot at the officers to scare them off. 

The prosecutor also had a second theory of first degree murder. He argued that 

Russell was guilty oflying-in-waitmurder even if the jury "believe [ d] 100 percent what 

Mr. Russell had to say to Detective Spidle on those videotaped interviews." R.T. 1303. 

The jury was instructed on both theories of first degree murder under California Penal 

Code § 189. R.T. 1380-83. The jury convicted Russell of two counts of first degree 

murder and found true two special circumstance allegations that made Russell eligible for 

the death penalty: (1) multiple murder and (2) intentionally killing a police officer in the 

performance of his duties. C.T.3485-92. The verdict forms did not reflect on which 

theory the first degree murder convictions rested. C.T. 3485,3489. 

8 



3. The First Penalty Trial 

The prosecutor's evidence in aggravation was based on the circumstances of the 

crime, Cal. Penal Code § 190.3, factor (a), which included victim impact testimony from 

friends and family members of the deceased officers who described the effects of their 

loss. 

The defense called Russell's long-time pastor and Russell's employer, who 

testified to Russell's efforts to seek help. R.T. 1547-48, 1563-64. Russell's mother 

testified to the difficulties in Russell's childhood and family history of alcoholism. R.T. 

1573-75,1579. 

The defense also called Detective Spidle, who testified to a brief Qonversation 

with Russell after the arrest and before he was taken to the station .where the videotaped 

statements were obtained. When Detective Spidle told Russell that the two officers were 

dead, Russell became teary-eyed and visibly emotional. R.T. 1567-68. 

The prosecutor argued to the jury that Russell was an uncaring and umemorsefu1 

person who did only what he wanted to do, R.T. 1648-49, 1656, and that he did not like 

authority figures telling him what to do. R.T. 1649, 1657. The defense countered this 

argument in part by referring the jury to the videotapes of Russell, pointing out how he 

cooperated with the police and showed remorse for what he had done: "Now, is 

somebody who is as bad as the district attorney is urging to consider him, as somebody 

who is showing remorse throughout the course of the videotape, showing remorse out in 

9 



the field, that is not the reaction that you would expect [from] somebody who is being 

painted as somebody who hates authority." R.T. 1678-7'9. The jury was given a standard 

jury instruction directing them to consider all evidence presented at the guilt phase in 

determining the appropriate penalty. R.T. 1640, C.T. 3550-51. After five days of 

deliberation, the jury deadlocked by a vote, of eight to four. C. T. 3581. 

4. The Penalty Retrial 

California permits a retrial after a penalty phase jury is unable to reach a decision 

fixing the defendant's sentence. Cal. Pen. Code § 190.4 (b). The prosecution here 

elected to retry the penalty phase. Prior to the penalty retrial, the defense sought a ruling 

to allow admission of the videotaped interrogation which had been admitted at the guilt 

phase. The defense argued that the videotapes provided mitigating evidence under 

Lockett v. Ohio,,438 U.S. 586 (1978) and Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982) of 

Russell's character and the'circumstances of the crime, including his mental state at the 

time and his emotional problems and frustrations which led up the homicides. C.T. 

3637-41. The defense argued that the tapes contained both hearsay and non-hearsay 

statements, and that any hearsay statements were admissible under Green v. Georgia, 442 

U.S. 95 (1979). C.T.3639-41. At the hearing on the motion, the defense argued that the 

videotape provided a clear picture of Russell, "in living color" shortly after the' 

homicides, being questioned about the events before during and after the shootings. R.T. 

1855. Counsel argued that Russell testifying to the events that occurred almost two years 
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earlier would not be an adequate substitute for the evi~ence contained in the tapes. R.T. 

1855; see C.T. 3640. 

The prosecutor opposed admission of the videotapes as hearsay, claiming 

Russell's statements were self-serving and unreliable, R.T. 1859, despite the fact that a 

few weeks earlier he had introduced the same tapes to prove Russell committed the 

charged crimes. The trial court found that the videotapes were relevant mitigating 

evidence - that Russell's version of the shootings would be relevant to lingering doubt 

and that his mental state in general would be relevant on the issue of remorse. R.T. 1862. 

The court nevertheless ruled the videotapes inadmissible because there was not a 

sufficiently substantial reason to believe Russell's hearsay statements were reliable. R.T. 

1862-66. 

At the penalty retrial, the prosecutor again relied on the circumstances of the crime 

and victim impact testimony. The defense presented additional evidence regarding 

Russell's addiction and mental health problems, R.T. 2847-52, as well as additional 

character and background witnesses. R.T.3085-90. 

As in the first penalty phase, during argument the prosecutor attacked Russell's 

character. He called Russell selfish and cowardly. R. T. 3154. He argued Russell did not 

care about other people, R.T. 3133, and did only what he wanted to do. R.T.3145. He 

also argued that Russell did not like to be told what to do. R.T.3150. Defense counsel 
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was unable to counter these arguments as he had in the first trial by urging the jurors to 

refer back to what they saw of Russell during the videotaped interrogation. 

The jury deliberated for three days and returned a verdict of death as to both 

counts. C.T. 5851, 5853. 

5. The California Supreme Court's Decision 

TheCalifornia Supreme Court affirmed Russell's convictions and sentence of 

death. Regarding the exclusion of the videotaped statements, the court ruled that the trial 

court "did not err by concluding that the statements, though relevant, were not as highly 

reliable as was the statement in Green." App. A 29. The court rejected the argument that 

the prosecution's use of the statements at the guilt phase distinguished this evidence from 

other out-of-court statements made by a defendant. App. A 30. The court also found 

harmless any error in failing to admit non-hearsay evidence of remorse. App. A 30. 

1. 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT CERTIORAPJ TO 
DECIDE AN IMPORTANT QUESTION 
GOING TO THE FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND 
RELIABILITY OF A DEATH SENTENCE IMPOSED 
BY A RETRIAL JURY WHO WAS NOT PERMITTED 
TO HEAR ALL THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE HEARD 
BY THE ORIGINAL JURY THAT DEADLOCKED AS TO 
THE APPROPRIATE PENALTY 

This case presents an important issue concerning the limits a state evidentiary rule 

may place on a defendant's right to present relevant mitigating evidence at a capital 

penalty retrial. The trial court applied California's hearsay rule on party admissions, 
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California Evidence Code § 1220, to exclude Russell's videotaped interrogation from the 

penalty retrial, although the prosecutor had introduced that evidence at the guilt phase and 

the first jury was instructed at the penalty phase to consider the evidence in selecting 

Russell's sentence. There is no question that the videotape contained relevant mitigating 

evidence. The trial court so found. R.T. 1862. And at trial and on appeal the State did 

not argue otherwise. C.T. 3956-58; R.T. 1856-59, 1861-62; Respondent's Brief, 

California Supreme Court, 62-73; Respondent's Supplemental Brief, California Supreme 

Court, 1-16. Nor is there any question that the videotaped interrogation was critical to the 

jury's sentencing decision, as the trial judge's own assessment of the centrality of the 

evidence after the eight-to-four jury deadlock made clear. R.T. 1787; see ante at 3. 

Under the hearsay rule in California Evidence Code § 1220 and the provisions for 

a capital penalty trial in California Penal Code § 190.4, the trial court was able to deny the 

retrial jury access to the relevant mitigating evidence contained in Russell's videotaped 

interrogation that the first jury had considered. As a result, Russell was placed in a worse 

position at the penalty retrial than he held at the original penalty phase. The prosecution 

was pennitted to use the videotaped interrogation against Russell to obtain capital murder 

convictions, but Russell was precluded from using that very same evidence to try to save 

his own life.3 Such arbitrary exclusion of relevant mitigating evidence, which was 

3 Unlike some other states, California does not have a rule providing that all the 
evidence of the prior trial may be introduced at the penalty retrial in a capital case. See, 
e.g. Ark. Code Ann. 5-4-616(a)(4)(A) (Michie 2010); Ore. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 
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affirmed by the California Supreme Court, violated Russell's right to a fair trial under the 

Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment as well as his right to heightened 

reliability in capital-sentencing and his right to present relevant mitigating evidence under 

the Eighth Amendment. 

The tension between the strictures of legitimate evidentiary rules and a defendant's 

due process and compulsory process rights to present evidence in his own defense has 

been a recurring issue in this Court. See United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308 

(1998); Rock v. Arkansas, 4$3 U.S. 44, 53-55 (1987); Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 

18 (1967); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302-03 (1973). As this Court has 

ruled, a defendant's right to present evidence in his own defense"is abridged by evidence 

rules that "infring[e] upon a weighty interest of the accused" and are "'arbitrary' or 

'disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve. '" Holmes v. South Carolina, 

547 U.S. 319, 325 (2006) (internal citations omitted). Thus, in determining whether a 

defendant is guilty, which requires the jury to decide the truth of the criminal charges, 

"the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically to defeat the ends of justice." 

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 300. 

The tension between state evidentiary rules and a defendant's constitutional rights 

is no less serious at the sentencing phase of a capital trial. At this stage, the jury is not 

tasked with finding the truth, but rather with making "a reasoned, moral decision ... 

138.012(2)(b) (West 2003); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-25(E)(2) (2010). 
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regarding whether death is an appropriate sentence for a particular defendant." Kansas v. 

Marsh, 548 U.S. 163, 179 (2006) citing California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 545 (1987) 

(O'Connor, J., concurring). The Eighth Amendment imposes stringent standards on this 

decision-making process through its requirement of heightened reliability and right of the 

defendant to present relevant mitigating evidence. Plainly put, the finality ofthe death 

penalty requires a 'greater degree of relia1:>ility' when it is imposed," Murray v. 

Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1989) (internal citations omitted), and "a correspondingly 

greater degree of scrutiny of the capital sentencing determination," California v. Ramos, 

463 U.S. 992, 998-99 (1983); see also Monge v. California, 524 U.S. 721, 732 (1998) 

(observing that there is an "acute need for reliability in capital sentencing proceedings"). 

This heightened standard of reliability focuses on the trial process and affords 

greater protections to capital defendants than the due process protections applicable in all 

criminal cases. See Sawyer v. Smith, 497 U.S. 227, 235 (1990) (distinguishing between 

due process protections and the "more particular guarantees of sentencing reliability 

based on the Eighth Amendment"). Thus, in Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28, 36-37 

(1986), the Court invoked. the heightened reliability principle to hold that, in a capital 

trial, a defendant charged with an interracial murder was entitled to voir dire the jury that 

would decide the penalty about racial prejudice, although earlier case law held that failure 

to permit such voir dire in a non-capital case did not violate due process. And in Beck v. 

Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 636 (1980), the Court also invoked the heightened reliability 
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principle to hold that, in a capital case, a defendant is entitled to lesser included offense 

instnlctions at the guilt phase of the trial, while noting that the Court had never held that a 

defendant was entitled to such an instruction as a matter of due process. 

The Eighth Amendment's reliability requirement also focuses on the outcome of a 

capital-sentencing trial. As the Court first explained in Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 

U.S. 280,305 (1976) when, invalidating a mandatory death penalty, the Court ruled that 

the-"qualitative difference" between the finality of death and life imprisonment required 

"a corresponding difference in the need for reliability in the determination that death is 

the appropriate punishment in a specific case." This ultimate question -whether a 

sentencer has reliably fixed a defendant's sentence at death - has been a recurring 

concern. See Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578, 585 (1988) (death verdict based even 

in part on "materially inaccurate" evidence in capital case violates heightened reliability 

demanded by Eighth Amendment),; Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 340 (1985) 

(death sentence made by a sentencer who was "led to believe that the responsibility for 

determining the appropriateness of the defendant's death rests elsewhere" violates 

heightened reliability required by Eighth Amendment). At bottom, the question is 

whether there is confidence that the sentencer has appropriately concluded that the 

defendant is among the small class of criminals who deserve to be executed. 

Undoubtedly, the reliability of the trial process directly affects the reliability of its 

outcome. As this case demonstrates, ensuring a reliable penalty retrial resulting in a 

16 



reliable sentencing decision afer a jury has deadlocked on the appropriate sentence poses 

unique challenges which this Court should address. 

The reliability requirement's focus on the outcome of a capital-sentencing 

proceeding gave rise to the Court's robust mitigation principle. In Lockett v. Ohio, 438 

U.S. 586 (1978) the Court held that "the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments require that 

. the senten~er, in all but the rarest kind of capital case, not be precluded from considering, 

as a mitigating factor, any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the 

circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentences less 

than death." ld. at 604 (plurality opinion); accord, Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 

110(1982). Since Lockett, the Court has repeatedly underscored the importance and 

breadth of the mitigation principle. A capital defendant's right to present anYTelevant 

mitigating evidence cannot be restricted by statute, Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. at 606, a 

sentencer's refusal to consider mitigating evidence the defendant presents, Eddings v. 

Oklahoma, 455 U.S. at 113-14, a jury instruction, Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 

398 (1987), an evidentiary ruling, Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1,4 (1986), a 

unanimity requirement, Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 375 (1988), or more than a "low 

threshold" of relevance, Tennard v. Dretke, 542 U.S. 274,284-85 (2004). Thus, the 

Court's mitigation jurisprudence seeks to avoid "the risk that the death penalty will be 

imposed in spite of factors which may call for a less severe penalty" - a risk that "is 
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unacceptable and incompatible with the commands of the Eighth and Fourteenth 

Amendments." Lockettv. Ohio, 438 U.S. at 605. 

That unconstitutional risk was realized in Russell's case. The admissibility of the 

videotaped interrogation was fully litigated before the first trial when Russell learned that 

the prosecution intended.to introduce the bulk ofthe Videotaped interrogation. Russell 

filed a motion under California Evidence Code § 356 requesting that if the prosecution 

introduced part of the statements, the entire Videotaped interrogation be admitted. C.T. 

715-21. The prosecutor opposed the motion. C.T. 870-88; R.T. 4-14. The trial court 

ruled that ifthe prosecutor used any of Russell's Mirandized interrogation statements, 

then all of the statements must be admitted. R.T 11-12. At that point, the prosecutor had 

the choice of introducing the complete videotaped interrogation in compliance with the 

court's ruling, which included no limitation as to its use, or introducing none of it. After 

taking a week to consider his options, R.T. 13-14, the prosecutor decided to introduce the 

videotaped interrogation in its entirety. R.T. 548-50. 

Having elected to use the videotaped interrogation, the prosecution made Russell's 

confession a cornerstone of its case in chief. The prosecutor did not simply seek 

admission of the very evidence that he later opposed, He also relied on that evidence in 

his closing argument at the guilt phase, telling the jury that Russell was guilty of first 

degree lying-in-wait murder even if they "believe[d] 100 percent what Mr. Russell had to 
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say to Mr. Spidle on those videotaped interviews." R.T. 1303. Before leading the jury 

through Russell's statements, the prosecutor stated: 

So, Ladies and Gentlemen, believe everything that the defendants says, he is 
still guilty of first-degree murder. And why? Here's the defendant's own 
words. The exhibits, the transcripts of his interview, as well as the tapes are 
in evidence. 

R.T. 1305. The prosecutor repeatedly referred to Russell's interrogation statements, at 

times quoting them verbatim, R.T. 1305-10, and pointed out to the jury which statements 

to believe and which to reject, R.T. 1305-06, 1309. He told the jury to recall Russell "on 

videotape, tell[ing] his side of the story." R.T. 1306. Undoubtedly, the videotaped 

interrogation was important to the prosecutor's closing argument at the guilt phase. 

Under California Penal Code § 190.4(d), a jury hearing both the guilt phase and 

the penalty phase is required to consider "the evidence presented at any prior phase of the 

trial" in deciding the appropriate penalty, and the jury was so instructed. R.T. 1640. In 

accordance with this directive, both the prosecutor and defense counsel referred to the 

videotaped interrogation in their closing penalty-phase arguments. The prosecutor 

pointed the jury to "defendant's own words," R.T. 1652, in an attempt to emphasize the 

aggravated nature of the murders, R.T. 1652, 1661-62, and to minimize the mitigating 

impact of evidence about Russell's mental state, character, and life experiences, R.T. 

1652-57. 

The videotaped interrogation .was Russell's most compelling evidence on two 

potentially powerful mitigating factors -lingering doubt about whether Russell either 
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intended or premeditated and deliberated the killings, and remorse for his actions.4 The 

trial court found that Russell's statements were relevant to both mitigating factors. R.T. 

1862. In the videotaped interrogation, Russell repeatedly asserted that he did not intend 

to hit, hurt or kill the officers. See 4 Supp. C.T. 139 ("Boy oh boy, oh Jesus, you know 

my intentions weren't that way. How'd they get hit, man, how'd they fuckin' get hit?"); 

see also 4 Supp. CT 2, 9 (P. Exh. 32); 4 SUpp. C.T. 119, 122, 125, 141, 145 (P. Exh. 

102). In arguing Russell's remorse, defense counsel was able to appeal directly to the 

jurors' own perceptions of Russell as the person they saw and heard on the videotapes. 

He asked the jury: based on the prosecutor's comments "would you not have expected an 

entirely different person had you not heard Tim on the tape?" R.T. 1677. And counsel 

referred to Russell as "showing remorse throughout the course of the videotape." R.T. 

1678. 

The impact on the jury of seeing and hearing Russell sh01ild not be 

underestimated. The videotaped interrogation permitted the jury to observe Russell for 

more than two hours soon after the crimes, to listen to his tone of voice, to assess his 

demeanor. As this Court has noted, "the defendant's behavior, manner, facial 

expressions, and emotional responses, or their absence, combine to make an overall 

4 Both lingering doubt and remorse are mitigating factors under California Penal 
Code § 190.3, factors (a) and (k). People v. Gay, 42 Ca1.4th 1195, 1218, 178 P.3d 422, 
437 (2008); People v. Terry, 61 Ca1.2d 137, 146,390 P.2d 381,387 (1964) (lingering 
doubt); People v. Ghent (1987) 43 Ca1.3d 739, 771 (remorse). 
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impression on the trier of fact, an impression that can have a powerful influence on the 

outcome of the trial. ... and on the degree to which he evokes sympathy." Riggins v. 

Nevada, 504 U.S. 127, 143 (1992); see also Coddington v. State, 142 P.3d 437,460 

(Okla. 2006) (videotaped deposition erroneously excluded from the penalty phase showed 

defendant's mother's "distress and sadness she had for her son in a way that the cold 

reading of a transcript could not portray," and her demeanor was "exactly the type of 

evidence that might invoke sympathy for a defendant facing the death penalty.") When· 

the jury was able to see and hear Russell during the videotaped interrogation, it 

deadlocked. 

After declaring a mistrial, the trial court gave the parties its frank evaluation of the 

case, noting, as set forth ante at 3, that the outcome of the retrial would tum on whether 

the jury viewed the evidence, "his remorsefulness during the interrogation," as showing 

Russell sympathetically or as cold-blooded killer. R.T. 1787. The point was not lost on 

the prosecutor. When defense counsel moved to introduce the videotapes, the prosecutor 

seized the opportunity to disavow the admissibility of the very evidence he previously had 

championed on the theory that Russell's statements no longer were being offered against 

a party declarant under California Evidence Code § 1220 and suddenly had become 

unreliable. C.T. 3956-58; R.T. 1856-59. The prosecutor was no more justified in 
, 

reversing course by objecting to his own evidence at the penalty retrial than he would 

have been at the original penalty phase. As defense counsel argued in urging the 
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admissibility of the videotapes at the penalty retrial, "we're not asking to do anything 

other than what the district attorney's office did in the first trial, which was present this 

evidence for the fact finders and use that evidence in deciding the case." R.T. 1855. 

Like the prosecutor, the trial court also did an abrupt turnabout with regard to the 

admissibility of the videotaped interrogation. The shift was not based on the content of 

the evidence, which was exactly the same, but solely on the identity of the party offering 

it. The trial court may have correctly read the literal terms of California Evidence Code § 

1220, but it disregarded the capital-case context in which the evidentiary question was 

being raised. Evidentiary rules are not ends in,themselves, but are means for achieving a 

particular goal. See Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. at 324-27; Williams v.New 

York, 337 U.S. 241, 246-47 (1949) (discussing rules of evidence in light of the purpose of 

non-capital sentencing). At the guilt phase of a capital trial, as at any criminal trial, the 

goal is to ascertain the truth about the criminal charges. See, e.g., Nix v. Whiteside, 475 

U.S. 157, 166 (1986). At the penalty phase ofa capital trial, the goal is different. There 

is no "truth" to ascertain. Rather, the jury's task is to reach a "reasoned, moral decision" 

about the defendant's deathworthiness. Kansas v. Marsh, 548 U.S. at 179. 

Given that objective, it was just as imperative for Russell's retrial jury as for his 

original penalty jury to hear all the available evidence relevant to punishment, including 

the videotaped interrogation. When a penalty retrial jury is deprived of relevant evidence 

that the first jury heard, then, as the California Supreme Court recognized in an analogous 
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context, "'the second jury necessarily w'ill deliberate in some ignorance of the total 

issue.'" People v. Gay, 42 Ca1.4th 1195,1218-19,178 PJd 422, 437 (2008) quoting 

People v. Terry, 61 Ca1.2d 137, 146,390 P.2d 381,387 (1964) (trial courts, erroneously 

excluded defendant's lingering doubt evidence from penalty retrials). Both the trial court 

and the state supreme court missed that point here. Having lost sight of the fundamental 

nature of the determination to be made at the penalty retrial, they did not sufficiently 

consider whether, under the particular circumstances before it, California's hearsay rule 

should yield to Russell's federal constitutional rights. As a result, the state courts 

mechanistically applied California Evidence Code § 1220 to exclude the videotaped 

, interrogation and denied Russell his rights to a fair trial, a reliable penalty trial leading to 

a reliable verdict, and to present relevant mitigating evidence under the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments. 

There is little question that the unconstitutional exclusion of the Videotaped 

interrogation prejudiced Russell's chances for a sentence oflife without parole at the 

penalty retrial under the harmless error standard of Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 

24 (1967). The presence of the videotaped interrogation in the first trial and its absence 

from the penalty retrial was the most significant difference between the two penalty trials. 

The jury that watched Russell during the course of the videotaped interrogation 

deadlocked on penalty by a substantial eight-to-four split. For this reason alone, the State 

cannot carry its burden of proving that exclusion of the videotape from the penalty retrial 
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was not prejudicial. The exclusion of the videotape from penalty retrial deprived Russell 

of the most compelling evidence of his remorse and lingering doubts about the culpability 

of his mental state in committing the crimes. Both factors - remorse and lingering doubt 

- are well recognized as weighing heavily in favor of life. See, e.g., Lockhart v. McCree, 

476 U.S. 162, 181 (1986) ("residual doubt has been recognized as an extremely effective 

argument" in mitigation); Blume, Johnson & Sundby, Competent Capital Representation: 

The Necessity of Knowing and Heeding What Jurors Tell Us About Mitigation, 36 Hofstra 

L.Rev. 1035, 1037 (2008) (empirical studies show that defendant's remorse, or lack of 

remorse, is one of the primary considerations that drives jurors in choosing between life 

and death sentences). 

The prosecutor exploited the absence of the videotaped interrogation. Defense 

counsel argued remorse and argued it strenuously. R.T.3177-80. However, in contrast to 

the original penalty trial, see R.T. 1677-78, he was unable to appeal directly to the jury's 

own perception of Russell as they saw him and heard him on the videotape. The 

prosecutor came back in his rebuttal closing argument and adamantly challenged the 

notion that Russell was sorry for what he had done and insisted that Russell's apparent 

lack of genuine remorse was "really important" and discounted his statements as not "true 

remorse." R.T. 3184-85. Even without the videotaped interrogation, the jury spent two 

and a half days deliberating Russell's fate, which suggests that the evidence favoring a 
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death sentence was not so overwhelming that the addition of the excluded videotape into 

the evidentiary mix would have made no difference to the verdict. 

In our adversary system, the responsibility for mediating any conflict between 

state evidentiary rules and a capital defendant's right to a fair trial and reliable penalty 

determination lies with the trial jUdge. See Lakeside v. Oregon, 435 U.S. 333, 341-42 

(1978) ("It is the-judge, not counsel, who has the ultimate responsibility for the conduct 

ofa fair and lawful tri,al"); Glasser v. United'States, 315 U.S. 60, 71 (1942) ("Upon the 

trial judge rests the duty of seeing that the trial is conducted with solicitude for the 

essential rights of the accused"). As the California Supreme Court has stated, "'the court 

has a duty to see that justice is done.'" People v. Sturm, 37 Ca1.4th 1218, 1237, 129P.3d 

10,22 (2006). That duty was not fulfilled here. The California courts denied Russell the 

opportunity to present to the retrial jury relevant mitigating evidence that the prosecution' 

already had introduced at the guilt phase. Because the erroneous exclusion of relevant 

mitigating evidence can have such dire consequences for a capital defendant and because 

the interplay between state evidentiary rules and a defendant's constitutional rights at a 

capital-sentencing trialraises concerns of federalism and comity, this Court should grant 

certiorari to decide whether, consistent with the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, a 

.state evidentiary rule can be interposed at a penalty retrial following a jury deadlock in a 

capital case to keep relevant mitigating evidence from being heard by the second jury 
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when the evidence was introduced by the prosecution and considered by the jury at the 

original trial. 

II. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT CERTIORARI TO REAFFIRM 
THE RULE OF GREENv. GEORGIA, 442 U.S. 95 (1979) THAT 
HIGHLY RELEVANT AND RELIABLE MITIGATING 
EVIDENCE CANNOT BE EXCLUDED UNDER A STATE 
HEARSAY RULE FROM THE PENALTY PHASE OF A 
CAPITAL TRIAL 

In Green v. Georgia, 422 U.S. 95 (1979), this Court recognized that in some 

circumstances important mitigating evidence cannot constitutionally be excluded from a 

capital penalty hearing under a state hearsay rule. In its short, per curiam opinion, the 

Court in Green adapted the rule of Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973) to apply 

to the penalty phase of a capital trial. In the last 32 years, this Court has addressed Green 

only indirectly. See Oregon v. Guzek, 546 U.S. 517,524 (2006); Sears v. Upton, _ U.S. 

_, 130 S.Ct. 3259, 3263 & fn.6 (2010). When Green was decided, this Court's post-

Furman death penalty jurisprudence was just beginning to develop. Woodson v. North 

Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, had announced the requirement of heightened reliability in 

capital cases, and Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, had announced the right to present 

relevant mitigating evidence. Since Green, the Court has refined and expanded the 

meaning of both these Eighth Amendment principles. See ante at 10. 

Meanwhile, the lower courts, both state and federal, have taken differing 

approaches in applying Green, particularly with regard to its reliability prong. As a result, 

there are inconsistent standards for reliability under Green. The state court decision in 
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Russell's case is an example of the constitutional problems that arise when a court adopts 

too narrow a definition of reliability. This Court should grant certiorari to reaffirm the 

vitality of Green, particularly where, as here, the hearsay evidence defendant sought to 

introduce at the penalty phase already was admitted at the guilt phase. 

In Green, Green and Moore were tried separately for the rape and murder of 

Teresa Allen. Moore was tried first, convicted and sentenced to death. At his trial a 

witness, Pabsy, testified that Moore had confided to him that he (Moore) had killed Allen 

after ordering Green to run an errand. Subsequently, Green was convicted of murder, and 

at his sentencing hearing Green attempted to introduce Pabsy's testimony to prove that he 

was not present when Allen was killed and did not participate in killing her. Green v. 

Georgia, 422 U.S. at 96. The trial court refused to admit Pabsy's testimony on the 

grounds that it was inadmissible hearsay under state law. Green was sentenced to death. 

Vacating Green's death sentence, this Court held that on the facts of the case, the 

exclusion ofPabsy's testimony violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment and denied Green a fair trial on the issue of punishment. The Court pointed 

to two reasons for its ruling (1) "[t]he excluded testimony was highly relevant to a critical 

issue in the punishment phase of the trial," citing to Lockett v. Ohio, 428 U.S. at 605-05, 

and (2) "substantial reasons existed to assume its reliability." Echoing some ofthe factors 

used in Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 300-01, the Court then catalogued the facts 

supporting its conclusion that Pabsy's evidence was reliable: 
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Moore made his statement spontaneously to a close friend. The evidence 
corroborating the confession was ample, and indeed sufficient to procure a 
convi~tion of Moore and a capital sentence. The statement was against 
interest, and there was no reason to believe that Moore had any ulterior 
motive in making it. Perhaps most important, the State considered the 
testimony sufficiently reliable to use it against Moore, and to base a 
sentence of death upon it. 

Greenv. Georgia, 422 U.S. at 97. The Court then asserted, "In these unique 

circumstances, 'the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically to defeat the ends of 

justice.'" Green v. Georgia, 422 U.S. at 97, quoting Chambers, v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 

302.5 . 

The due process rule in Green, like that in Chambers, has two components: the 

proffered hearsay must be highly relevant to a critical issue before the jury, and there 

must be substantial reasons to assume the evidence is reliable. Green v. Georgia, 422 

U.S. at 97. Some justices of this Court appear to read Green as limited to third-party 

statements of culpability, see Sears v. Upton, 130 S.Ct. at 3269 & fn. 3 (Scalia, J., 

dissenting). But Green does not suggest that its rule is limited to its particular facts. 

Nothing about the constitutional principle that a state hearsay rule must yield to the 

5 In Chambers, to ensure a defendant's due process right to a fair trial, this Court 
held that the state may not apply its rules of evidence to exclude from the jury's 
consideration critical and reliable evidence going to the defendant's guilt or innocence. 
Id. at 302. "In these circumstances, where constitutional rights directly affecting the 
ascertainment of guilt are implicated, the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically 
to defeat the ends of justice." Id. Chambers's rule that the due process clause demands 
admission of evidence despite state evidentiary rules under which it may be excluded has 
two prongs: (1) the evidence must be highly relevant or "critical" to an issue at trial; and 
(2) "bear persuasive assurances of trustworthiness ... " Id. 
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presentation of highly relevant and reliable mitigating evidence pertains only to third­

party confessions, especially in light of the broad Eighth Amendment right to present 

relevant mitigating evidence discussed above. See ante at 15-18. Indeed, lower courts, 

like the California Supreme Court in this case, have decided claims of Green error arising 

from the exclusion of other types of hearsay evidence. See Brown v. Luebbers, 371 F.3d 

458,467-469 (8th Cir. 2004) (applying Green to letter from defendant's brother regarding 

their close relationship); Paxton v. Ward, 199 F.3d 1197, 1212-1215 (lOth Cir. 1999) 

(applying Green to defendant's own polygraph results); Jones v. Polk, 401 F.3d 257,263-

264 (4th Cir. 2005) (applying Green to defendant's own statements of remorse to family 

member). 

In determining whether highly relevant evidence is reliable under Green, and by 

analogy under Chambers, some courts have conflated the requirement of reliability with 

the particular facts in Green this Court found adequate to satisfy that prong of its rule. 

These courts have treated the Green factors - that the statement was made spontaneously, 

is corroborated by other evidence, was against the declarant's interest and without ulterior 

motive, and was used by the prosecution -:- as the exclusive touchstones for finding 

evidence reliable. See, e.g., Turpin v. Kassulke, 26 F.3d 1392, 1396-96 (6th Cir. 1994) . 

(applying Chambers and Green in non-capital context); Skillicorn v. State, 22 S.W.3d 

678, 686-87 (Mo. 2000) (in non-capital context construing Chambers as setting forth a 

"test" requiring three prongs that must be met in order to establish reliability). Nothing in 
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Green, however, suggests that the facts it cites present a fixed set of criteria for reliability, 

so that only the presence of similar facts permit a finding that the hearsay evidence is 

reliable or the absence of any of them precludes such a finding. On the contrary, in 

applying the analogous Chambers rule, courts have held its factors "are not exhaustive or 

absolute." Cunningham v. Peters, 941 F.2d 535,540 (7th Cir.1991); United States v. 
( 

Guilette, 547 F.2d 743, 754 (2nd Cir. 1976); People v. Tenney, 793 N.E.2d 571,587 (Ill. 

2002). 

The decision of the California Supreme Court in Russell's case illustrates the 

. confusion and inconsistency surrounding application of Green's reliability prong. 6 In its 

Green analysis, the California Supreme Court makes no mention of what this Court found 

to be a key indicia of reliability in Green - the prosecution's use of the same evid~nce in 

a related trial. Whereas the prosecution in Green used the hearsay testimony to obtain a 

conviction and death sentence against a different defendant in a different trial, the 

prosecution here elected to introduce Russell's entire videotaped interrogation without 

6 The California Supreme Court's ruling focuses solely on Green's reliability 
prong without ~ddressing whether the videotaped interrogation was "highly relevant" to 
the issue of punishment. However, there is no question the videotaped interrogation 
satisfied Green's first prong. The state supreme court accepts the trial court's finding 
that Russell's interrogation statements were relevant to lingering doubt and remorse. 
App. A 29. Given the trial court's assessment of the conflicting portraits· of Russell 
presented by the evidence after the first jury deadlocked, there can be no question that the 
videotaped interrogation was highly relevant to the critical, and ultimate, question of 
whether life without parole or death was the appropriate penalty for Russell. 
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limitation as to its use to obtain special circumstances murder convictions against the 

same defendant - Russell- in a prior phase of the same criminal prosecution. This 

Court called the prosecution's prior use of the hearsay evidence proffered in Green 

"[p ]erhaps most important" in concluding that the hearsay evidence was reliable. 

The California Supreme Court ignores the salient fact that the prosecution used the 

videotaped confession against Russell and notes only that Russell's "statements were 

introduced during the guilt phase of his trial." Id. at 1259. Thus, the state court 

disregards the presence of a factor that this Court and many others courts have found 

highly probative of reliability. See, e.g. Paxton v. Ward, 199 F.3d 1197, 1213-15 (lOth 

Cir. 1999) (because prosecution had relied on evidence as trustworthy in earlier 

proceeding, it was sufficiently reliable to mandate admission under Green); Rivera v. 

Director, Department of Corrections, 915 F.2d 280,282 (7th Cir.1990) (evidence was 

found reliable under Chambers largely because prosecution admitted it in related 

proceeding); People v. Barrera, 547 N.W.2d 280,291,293,295 (Mich. 1996) (same); 

People v. Tenney, 793 N.E.2d 571,587-90 (Ill. 2002) (same); Woods v. State, 696 P.2d 

464,466,468 (Nev. 1985) (same); see also Lee v. McCaughtry, 933 F.3d 536,537 (7th 

Cir. 1991 ) [noting "if a confession is sturdy enough for the state to use in its own case - if 

it is the sort of evidence that prosecutors regularly use against defendants - then 

defendants are entitled to use it for their own purposes"); Pettijohn v. Hall, 599 F.2d 476, 
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482 (1 st Cir. 1976) ("If [evidence] is sufficiently reliable for prosecutorial use, the state 

cannot claim that it is too unreliable when offered by the defendant").7 

Indeed, applying Green's reliability requirement makes little sense under the facts 

of this case, where the evidence the defendant wants to use already was admitted -

without any limitation whatsoever - in his own trial. Russell's videotaped statements did 

not become less reliable between the time they were admitted in the prosecution's guilt 

phase case-in-chief and the time of Russell's request to use them at the penalty retrial. 

Rather, they simply became less admissible under state law because the prosecutor made 

a strategic choice not to introduce them as party admissions under California Evidence 

Code § 1220. This is precisely the kind of rote application of a state hearsay rule that 

violates due process under Green and Chambers. 

The California Supreme Court found "no indicia of reliability" in the videotaped 

interrogation based on one and only one factor: 

Defendant's self-serving statements concerning the circumstances of the 
crime were uncorroborated; indeed, the physical evidence suggests that 
defendant's account of the shootings was false. For example, defendant 

. . . 

7 By ignoring t1).e prosecution's prior use of the videotaped interrogation against 
Russell, the California Supreme Court overlooks the fundamental distinction between 
this case and its other decisions holding there was no Green error in excluding the 
defendant's taped statements from the penalty phase. App. A 30. In none of those cases 
did the prosecution introduce the defendant's statements as part of its case at the guilt 
phase. People v. Jurado, 38 Cal.4th 72, 128-30, 131 P.3d 400,438-39 (2006); People v. 
Weaver, 26 Ca1.4th 876,980-81,29 P.3d 103, 165-66 (2001); People v. Stanley, 10 
Ca1.4th 764,838-40,897 P.2d 481,588-89 (1995). 
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claimed that he aimed several yards in front of the officers, but the bullet 
wounds could not have been the result of ricochet. 

App. A 29. This analysis, in which corroboration is the beginning and the end of the 

reliability question, underscores the-inconsistent approaches among courts to applying 

Green's reliability prong. It also raises the question of the degree of corroboration 

required under Green and Chambers. Some courts appear to require complete 

corroboration. See, e.g., Turpin v. Kassulke, 26 F.3d at 1397-98 & fn. 11 (suggesting that 

"every material detail" of co-defendant's hearsay confession must be corroborated to be 

reliable unde~ Chambers). Others require only some corroboration. See, e.g., People v. 

Tenney, 793 N.E.2d at 587 (Chambers requires only that the hearsay statement 

corroborated by "'some other evidence in the case"'). Still others posit an inverse 

relationship between the importance of the evidence and the amount of corroboration 

required. See, e.g., People v. Barrera, 547 N.W.2d at 291 (under Chambers "the more 

crucial the statement is to the defendant's theory of defense, the less corroboration a court 

may constitutionally require for its admission"). 

In this case, the California court required complete corroboration. In its analysis, a 

single inconsistency between one of Russell's many statements in his hours of videotaped 

interrogation and the prosecution's physical evidence, by itself, rendered the entire exhibit 

and every statement in it unreliable without considering any other factor. Not only is the 

approach of the California court inconsistent with that of other courts applying Green and 

Chambers, but in demanding complete corroboration the state court,has read into Green a 
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standard that is almost certainly impossible to meet. Turpin v. Kassulke, 26 F.3d at 1411, 

(Feikens, DJ., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (noting that requiring full or 

complete corroboration of every material detail of a statement often would place 

defendants in an "unconstitutional Catch-22 position"). In fact, much of what Russell 

said during the vide_otaped interrogation was corroborated by the prosecution's own 

evidence.8 

In addition, the California Supreme Court's finding that the "physical evidence 

suggests that defendant' account of the shoots was false" indicates a misunderstanding of 

the roles of thejudge and the jury with regard to the videotaped interrogation. The trial 

court's responsibility was to determine whether the hearsay statements Russell made 

8 Russell's story, from the time he moved out of his house to live in the sign shop 
through the moment when he fled into the desert after shooting the officers was largely 
consistent with the testimony of the prosecution witnesses. A friend confirmed that 
Russell had visited and told him of his personal crisis - that he had moved out of his 

. home and was thinking about getting into a recovery program, R.T. 615-19,4 C.T. Supp. 
14, 15, 81. A bartender acknowledged that Russell drank at the bar before leaving in the 
early morning hours of January 5, R.T. 635-38, just as Russell described, 4 Supp. C.T. 
31-32, 82. Russell's wife, Elaine, and her sister, Beverly Brown, corroborated Russell's 
admission that he returned home to talk to Beverly, R.T. 651-53,4 Supp. C.T. 31-34, 
became angry when Elaine woke up and began physically fighting with her, R.T. 654-58, 
4 Supp. c.T. 34. Even details such as Russell pulling the telephone out of the wall, R.T. 
659, 967,4 Supp. C.T. 35, were the same in the prosecution's case and in Russell taped 
statement. Prosecution witnesses heard a rapid series of shots, R.T. 672 , 734, consistent 
with Russell's statement that he reacted quickly and shot rapidly when he saw the 
officers,4 Supp. C.T. 119. The spot where the shell casing were found where Russell 
said he was when he saw the officers and fired. R.T. 841; 4 Supp. C.T. 11, 12, 19. 
Moreover, he unequivocally admitted that he was the person responsible for the shooting. 
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during the interrogation in their totality were sufficiently reliable to be considered and 

evaluated by the jury; and the jury's task was to assess the credibility of Russell's 

. assertions in light of all the evidence and decide whether they raised a lingering doubt 

about whether he intended to shoot the officers or killed them with premeditation and 

deliberation, and whether he demonstrated remorse. As one court has explained, "[t]he 

corroboration requirement should not be used as a means of usurping the jury's function." 

Demby v. State, 695 A.2d 1152, 1159 (Del. 1997). In this case, the California courts did 

just that. 

The California Supreme Court's exclusive focus on the fact that one of Russell's 

statements was uncorroborated also highlights its inadequate and truncated application of 

. Green. Not only did the state court overlook facts that Green considers indicia of 

reliability, like the prosecutor's use of the Videotaped interrogation against Russell in this 

case, but the state court failed to consider facts, not found in Green, that provide ample 

basis for assuming the videotaped interrogation were reliable hearsay. First, the 

prosecutor's introduction of the videotaped interrogation at the guilt phase meant that 

under California Penal Code § 190.4(d), the original, deadlocking jury had considered 

this evidence at the first penalty phase. Ifthe videotaped interrogation was admissible 

under state law for the first jury to consider as mitigating evidence in deliberating 

Russell's fate, then it was sufficiently reliable for the retrial jury to consider for the very 

same purpose. The California Supreme Court overlooks this key point. 
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Second, the California Supreme Court disregards two substantial differences 

between the oral admissions at issue in Green and the videotaped interrogation at issue 

here. With regard to the form of the evidence, there is no question here that the 

interrogating officer's questions and Russell's responses, as well as his tone of voice and 

other characteristic reflecting his demeanor, were reliably preserved by the videotapes. 

See Coddington v. State, 142 P.3d at 458 ("the State'~ objection to videotaped deposition 

was not based on a claim that it was not a reliable preservation of the testimony"); People 

v. Barrera, 547 NW.2d at 291 (when "[t]here is no question that [the] statement was in 

fact made," that "is a considerable factor" in assessing its reliability and admissibility 

under Chambers); cf Brown-v. Luebbers, 371 F.3d at 468-69 (state court's finding that 

letter from defendant's brother was not reliable where trial court had uncertainty as to its 

authenticity was not contrary to or an unreasonable application of Green). That assurance 

plainly is not possible with the introduction of oral hearsay admissions, where mistaken 

recollection is only human and deliberate falsification is possible. See People v. 

Mayfield,14 Ca1.4th 668, 776, 928 P.2d 485,549 (1997); People v. Bemis, 33 Ca1.2d 395, 

398-399,202 P.2d 82, 84-85 (1949) . 

. With regard to the contents of the hearsay evidence, the videotaped interrogation 

removed a major problem attending the introduction of an oral hearsay admission: it gave 

the first jury, and would have given the retrial jury, ample with opportunity to assess 

Russell's demeanor and credibility. See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 298 (noting 
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that out of court statements are traditionally excluded in part because the declarant "is not 

available in order that his demeanor and credibility may be assessed by the jury"). In this 

way, the videotaped interrogation offered an indicia of reliability not present in Green or 

in any other case involving testimony about a third party's admissions. 

In Green v. Georgia, 422 U.S. 95, this Court recognized that the fair trial 

guarantee of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that in a 

capital case highly relevant and reliable mitigating evidence cannot be kept from the 

sentencing jury because it is inadmissible under a state hearsay rule. Since deciding 

Green, this Court has expanded its Eighth Amendment jurisprudence and underscored the 

paramount importance of the heightened reliability in capital cases, including the right of 

a capital defendant to present relevant mitigating evidence as a basis for persuading the 

sentencer to spare his life. The rule in Green is as vital today as a safeguard against 

unfair and unreliable death sentences as when it was announced more than three decades 

ago. The California Supreme Court's erroneous application of Green's reliability prong 

in Russell's case erodes that constitutional protection. This Court should grant certiorari 

to reaffirm the continuing validity of the Green rules especially under the unique facts 

presented here. 
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CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be granted, and the death judgment of 

the California Supreme Court should be reversed. 
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H 
Supreme Court of California 

The PEOPLE, Plaintiff and Respondent, 
v. 

Timothy RUSSELL, Defendant and Appellant. 

No. S07S87S. 
Nov. IS, 2010. 

Rehearing Denied Dec. 21, 2010. 
As Modified Dec. 21, 2010. 

Background: Defendant was convicted in the 
Superior Court, Riverside County, No. 
RlF72974,Panick F. Magers, J., of two counts offrrst 
degree murder, with special circumstances of peace 
officer victim and mUltiple murder, and was 
sentenced to death. Appeal was automatic. 

Holdings: The Supreme Court, Moreno, J., held that: 
ill evidence supported finding that defendant 
committed lying-in-wait murder; 
ill trial court was not required to have jury view 
murder scene; 
ill questionillg about juror misconduct was proper; 
i.£l. due process did not require admission of 
defendant's videotaped statements; 
ill trial court was not required to instruct that 
uncharged crimes must be proven beyond reasonable 
doubt for consideration in aggravation; and 
® trial court was not required to instruct that lack of 
prior felony convictions was mitigating. 

Affrrmed. 

Kelmard, J., filed concurring opinion. 

West Headnotes 

ill Homicide 203 €=>S42 

203 Homicide 
203II Murder 

203kS39 First Degree, Capital, or Aggravated 
Murder 

203kS42 k. Deliberation and premeditation. 
Most Cited Cases 

For frrst degree murder based on lying in wait, 
the requisite mental state which must be indicated by 
the period of lying in wait is one akin to 
''premeditation or deliberation" rather than 
"premeditation and deliberation." West's 
AlUl.Cal.Penal Code § 189; CALJIC 8.2S. 

ill Homicide 203 ~S40 

203 Homicide 
203II Murder 

203k539 First Degree, Capital, or Aggravated 
Murder 

203kS40 k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

Lying-in-wait murder consists of three elements: 
(1) a concealment of purpose, (2) a substantial period 
of watching and waiting for an opportune time to act, 
and (3) immediately thereafter, a surprise attack on 
an unsuspecting victim from a position of advantage. 
West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 189. 

ill Homicide 203 ~S40 

203 Homicide 
203II Murder 

203kS39 First Degree, Capital, or Aggravated 
Murder 

203k540 k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

Supreme Court may look to analyses of the law 
of the lying-in-wait special circumstance even when 
addressing first degree murder committed by means 
of lying in wait. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code §§ 189, 
190.3. 

ill Homicide 203 €=>1396 

203 Homicide 
203XII Instructions 

203XIl(B) Sufficiency 
?03k1394 Deliberation and Premeditation 

203k1396 k. Time. Most Cited Cases 

Lying-in-wait murder pattern jury instruction 
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stating that the "lying in wait need not continue for 
any particular period of time provided that its 
duration is such as to show a state of mind equivalent 
to premeditation or deliberation" adequately 
conveyed that the period of watching and waiting 
must have' been "substantial." 'Vest's Ann.Cal.Penal 
Code § 189; CALJIC 8.25. 

ill Homicide 203 ~1139 

203 Homicide 
203IX Evidence 
----W3IX(G) Weight and Sufficiency 

203kl138 First Degree, Capital, or 
Aggravated Murder 

203kl139 k. In general. Most Cited 

Any coriclusion by the jury that defendant 
committed 1ying-in-wait murder would be supported 
by sufficient evidence, and thus defendant's 
conviction was necessarily based on a legally 
adequate theory of fIrst degree murder, where 
evidence indicated thai defertdimt became agitated 
when his wife calIedpblice, that defendant went 
outside his house and fIred several rounds before 
returning to the house, that he told sister-in-law he 
planned to kill the arriving officers, that defendant 
formulated a plan to leave the house and sneak away, 
that defendant revised the plan upon becoming 
concerned that he was visible, and that defendant shot 
at the officers fi:om a position of advantage before the 
officers had time to draw their weapons. West's 
Ann.Cal.Pena! Code § 189. 
See Annot., Homicide: what constitutes "lying in 
wait" (J963) 89 A.L.R.2d 1140; 1 Witkin & Epstein. 
CaL CrimintLlLaw del ed. 2000) Crimes A gainst the 
Person, H 115, 120;. Cal. JUl:. 3d., Criminal Law: 
Crimes Against thePerson .. §§ 58, 60. .. 
ill Homicide 203 ~542 

203 Homicide 
203II Murder 

203k539 First Degree, Capital, or Aggravated 
Murder 

?03k542 k. Deliberation and premeditation. 
Most .Cited Cases 

:.; . 

Even a short period of time is, sufficient to 
overcome an inference that a defendant acted rashly, 
for purposes of 1ying-in-wait murder. West's 

Ann.Cal.P~nal Code § '189. 

ill Criminal Law 110 ~1152.15 

llQ Criminal J.,aw 
110XXIV Review 

110XXIV(N) Discretion of Lower Court 
11Okl152 Conduct of Trial in General 

11Ok1152.15 k. View and inspection. 
Most Cited Cases 

A trial court'~· denial of a motion to view the 
scene of a murder is reviewed for abuse,of discretion, 
i.e., whether the court exercised its discretion in an 
arbitrary, cl;lpricious, or patently absurd mannet:,:that 
results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. . , 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

110XXCB) Course and Conduct of,\[ria1 in 
GeIiera1 

11 Ok651 View and Inspection ,,' I , , 

11 Ok651(1) k. In general. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Putiishmerit 350H~1780('l) 

:3 5 OH Sentencing and p'umsliIrient 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

'.;. 350HVIIl(G) Proceedings' 
350HVIIl(G,)3 Hearing . 

350Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hk1780(1) k. In general. 

Cited Cases 

Trial court acted 'Within its discretion ill denying 
capital defendant's guilt and penalty phase motions to 
have jury view scene of Ldefendant's shooting of the 
two victims, even though defendant contended that 
the "extreme darkness" at the· scene,was .crucial to his 
defense theory that he did not uit~~d to 'kiiI' the 
victims, where the trial was conducted during the 
summer months, the crime occurred in ,January, and 
defendant's own statements revealed that he could see 
vietirns'silhouett~s.' W e~t's Ann.Cal.Pella] Code§ 
1119. 

L.i~ J .:n_ 

ill Crinrlnal Law 110 ~651(1) 
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ill Criminal Law 
Il0XX Trial 

11 OXXCB) Course and Conduct of Trial in 
General 

IlOk651 View and Inspection 
11 Ok651 ( 1) k. In general. Most Cited 

When the purpose of a motion to have jury view 
scene of crime is to test the veracity of a witness's 
testimony about observations the witness made, the 
trial court may properly consider whether the 
conditions for the jury view will be substantially the 
same as those under which the witness made the 
observations, whether there are other means of 
testing the veracity of the witness's testimony, and 
practical difficulties in conducting a jury view. 
West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code IS 1119. 

l!Ql Sentencing and Punishment 350H €;=1685 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVlII The Death Penalty 

350HVIIHD) Factors Related to Offense 
350Hk1685 k. Claim of innocence or 

residual doubt as to guilt. Most Cited Cases 

Capital defendan.t has no federal constitutional 
right to have the jury consider lingering doubt in 
choosing the appropriate penalty. 

l!!l Criminal Law 11 0 €;=1166.6 

ill Criminal Law 
110XXIV Review 

110XXIV(Q) Harmless and Reversible Error 
1 lOkI 166.5 Conduct of Trial in General 

llOkl166.6 k. In general. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H €;=1789(9) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVlII The Death Penalty 

350HVIJl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIlJ(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350Hk1789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 

350Hk1789(9) k. Harmless and 
reversible error. Most Cited Cases 

Any error in trial court's denial of capital 
defendant's guilt and penalty phase motions to have 
jury view scene of defendant's shooting of the two 
victims was not prejudicial to defendant's conviction 
and death sentence, under the state ''reasonably 
probable" or federal "beyond a reasonable doubt" 
standards, even though defendant contended that the 
"extreme darkness" at the scene was crucial to his 
defense theory that he did not intend to kill the 
victims, where ample evidence of the lighting 
conditions was presented during both phases of the 
trial. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 1119. 

lUl Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
€;=1789(5) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350Hk1789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 
350Hkl789(5) k. Scope of review. 

Most Cited Cases 

Capital defendant did not invite any error in trial 
court's allegedly intrusive and coercive penalty phase 
questioning of jury foreperson and a juror who had 
been accused of juror misconduct by another juror, 
even though defendant initially suggested. that the 
court question the juror and acquiesced to the court's 
alternate suggestion that it ftrst question the 
foreperson, where defendant ultimately reversed his 
position and suggested that the jury should continue 
deliberating without questioning the juror. 

.IDl Criminal Law 110 €;=868 

ill Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

Il0XX(J) Issues Relating to Jury Trial 
Il0k868 k. Objections and disposition 

thereof. Most Cited Cases 

A claim of prejudicial juror misconduct is 
waived when the defendant fails to object to a juror's. 

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



242 P .3d 68 Page 4 
50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 10 Cal. Daily Op. Servo 14,306,2010 Oaily Journal D.A.R. 
17,287 
(Cite as: 50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615) 

continued service and fails to seek a mistrial' based 
upon prejudice. 

.l1.1l Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1789(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
'350HVIII(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350Hk1789 Review of Proceedings to 

Imp6seDeath Sentence 
350HkI789(3) k. Presentation and 

reservation in lower court of grounds oheview. Most 
Cited Cases 

Capital defendant's claim that the court's 
questions of a juror who had been accused of juror 
misconduct by another juror during pem,llty phase 
deliberation constituted reverSible error because they 
were improper, intrusive" and coercive was forfeited 
because defendant failed to object. 

115] Criminal Law 110 ~857(1) 

1 fOCrlminal Law 
110XX Trial 

110XXm Issues Relating to Jury Trial 
110k857 Deliberations in General 

llOk857(1) k. In general. Most Cited 

Courts must exercise care when intruding mto 
the jury's deliberative process to ensure that the 
secrecy, as well as the sanctity, of the deliberative 
process is maintained; 

.llQl Criminal Law 11 0 ~868 

llQ Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

110XX(J) Issues Relating to JuryTrial 
110k868 k. Objections arid, disposition 

thereof. Most Cited Cases 

The need to protect the sanctity of Jury 
deliberations does not preclude reasonable inquiry by 
the court into . allegations of misconduct during 
deliberations. 

ll1l Criminal Law 110 ~868 

llQ Criminal Law 
1l0XX Trial '" 

11 OXX( J) Issues Relating to Jury Trial 
110k868 k. Objections and disposition 

thereof. Most Cited Cases 

Jliry230 €=>149 

230 JUry 
230VI Impaneling for Trial, and Oath 

. 230k149 k. Discharge of juror or jury periding 
trial. Most Cited Cases 

Because thecbUrt has the sta,tutory ppwei ;t6' 
discharge a juror who is unable to·perf~rm hkor her 
duties, a court may also undertake less drastic steps 
to ensure that a juror is able to continue in 'his or her 
role. West's Ann.Cal.Pena] Code § 1089. ' 

@ Sentencing and PuriishIrierit 350H 
~1779(3) 

350H Seriten6ing and ,Punishment 
350HVm The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Heann&r 

.' . j.:' 

350Hk1779 Matters Related'to Jury;' 
350HkI779(3) k.Deliber~hions. Most 

Cited Cases 

Trial court did not improperly interfere with the 
secrecy of penalty phase, deliberations ot ask 
improperly intrusive questions, jnaskirig a juror who 
had been accused of juror misconduct whether she 
was improperly influenced by sympathy for the 
defendant or by her personal experiences, where the 
court stressed with the juror that it would not be 
asking how she or any other jurors were voting, and 
when jl.)Ior answereq tri~l c01lrt's q~estions .ip the 
negative the court directed her to adhere to her oath 
as a juror and retwn to deliberations. West's 
Ann.Cal.Penal Code §1089. ,. 

" , 
.l!2l Sentenci"g and Punishment 350H 
~1779(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
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350HVIIl The Death Penalty 
350HVIII(G) Proceedings 

350HVIU(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350Hkl779 Matters Related to Jury 
350Hkl779(3) k. Deliberations. Most 

Trial court's statements to a juror during penalty 
phase deliberation, that she could not permit her 
feelings of pity and sympathy for the capital 
defendant to influence her deliberative process and 
that she must not permit "a particular personal event 
in [her] life" to iriterfere with her "objectivity," were 
not improperly coercive, even though the trial court· 
made the statements after questioning the juror about 
another juror's allegations that she committed juror 
misconduct, where the court at no time suggested that 
it favored any particular verdict,and the court stated 
that it did not wish to know juror's personal vote. 

.lli!l Criminal Law 11 0 ~865(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 
--UOXX{J) Issues Relating to Jury Trial 

110k865 Urging or Coercing Agreement 
11 Ok865(l) k. In general. Most Cited 

Any claim that the jury was pressured into 
reaching a verdict depends on the particular 
circumstances of the case. 

Inl Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1779(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350Hk1779 Matters Related to Jury 
350Hkl779(3) k. Deliberations. Most 

Trial court did not invade the secrecy of penalty 
phase jury deliberations in any way, in telling the 
foreperson that the trial court would "discuss with the 
attorneys if we have any recourse," after another 
juror had been accused of juror misconduct. 

@ Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1779(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIlI(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl779 Matters Related to Jury 
350Hkl779(3) k. Deliberations. Most 

Cited Cases 

Trial court acted within its discretion, during 
penalty phase 0 capital murder prosecution, in 
questioning jury foreperson outside the presence of 
the rest of the jury, in investigating allegations that 
another juror committed juror misconduct. 

1m Criminal Law 11 0 ~778(1 0) 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

11OXX(G) Instructions: Necessity, 
Requisites, and Sufficiency 

I IOk778 Presumptions and Burden of 
Proof 

11 Ok778 (1 0) k. Suppression or 
fabrication of evidence. Most Cited Cases 

Pattern jury instruction on consciousness of guilt 
is properly given when there exists evidence that.a 
defendant made a deliberately misleading or false 
statement to explain his or her conduct. CALJIC 
2.03. 

~ Criminal Law 110 ~778(10) 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

llOXX(G) Instructions: 
Requisites, and Sufficiency 

Necessity, 

110k778 Presumptions and Burden of 
Proof 

1l0k778(lO) k. Suppression or 
fabrication of evidence. Most Cited Cases 

Trial court acted within its discretion in giving 
pattern jury instruction on consciousness of guilt, 
where evidence indicated that capital murder 
defendant told his sister-in-law that he intended to 
"take out" arriving police officers, during police 
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interrogation defendant initially denied making the 
statement to sister-in-law, and defendant testified that 
he intended only to shoot in front of the officers· to 
scare but not to injure them; jury could rationally 
infer that defendant made a false statement to deflect 
suspicion from hiinself. CALJIC .2.03. 

[25) Criminal Law 110 ~1172.2 

ill Criminal Law 
110XXN Review 

110XXIV(Q) Harmless and Reversible ijrror 
11 Okll72 Instructions 

1l0kL172.2 k. Instruction ,as t9 
evidence. Most Cited Cases 

Any error in instructing jury on consciousness of 
guilt in guilt phase was harmless to murder defendant 
who was convicted and sentenced to death, where 
defendant made numerous taped confessions. 
CALJIC 2.03. 

il.hl Criminal Law 11 0 ~872.5 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

110XX(K) Verdict 
110k872.5k. Assent of required number of 

jurors. Most Cited Cases 

Homicide 203 ~540 

203 Homicide 
203Il Murder 

203k539 First Degree, Capital, or Aggravated 
Murder 

203k540 k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

Lying-in-wait murder and deliberate and 
premeditated murder are simply different means of 
cdmri1itting the same crime, and thus juror unanimity 
as to the theory underlying its guilty verdict is not 
required. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 189. 

[27) Constitutional Law 92 ~4744(2) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92xx\nI(i-l) Crimlnal taw 
92XXVliO-f)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4741 Capital Punishment; Death 
Penalty 

92k4744 Matters Considered 
92k4744(2) k. Evidence and 

witnesses. Most Cited Cases 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1765 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIlI(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1765 k. Declarations and 

confessions. Most Cited Cases 

Capital defendant's Videotaped sfiltemerits'tcl" 
police lacked indicia of reliability, and thus due 
process did not require trial court to allow adinission· 
of the statements as mitigating evidence in the 
penalty phase, even though the statements ha:d peen 
introduced by the prosecution as party admissions in 
the guilt phase before a different jury; where the 
statements were uncorroborated, defendant claimed 
in the statements that he aime~his gun several yards 
in front, of the victims to scare them, and the physical 
evidencesl1ggested thatvictims',bullet wounds could 
not have been the result of ricochet. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14; West's Ann.Cal.Evid.Code § 1220. 

@ S~ntencing a~d PU~ishment 3S0H~1766 . , 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
. 350HVIII The De~th Penalty 

350HVIl1(G) Proceedings 
350HVIl1(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility .• 
350H.k1766 k. Hearsay. Most Cited 

Supreme Court would not recognize an 
exception to the hearsay rule for penalty phase 
evidence of capital defendant's Videotaped statements 
to police, even though the statements had been 
introduced by the prosecution as party a~ssjons in 
the guilt phase before a . different jury, where the 
statements were self-serving and uncorroborated by 
physical evidence. . , ., ' 

," 
[29] Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1756 • 
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350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIIICG) Proceedings 
350HVlIICG)? Evidence 

350Hk1755 Adnrissibility 
350Hk1756 k. In general. Most Cited 

Where the trier of fact at a subsequent phase of a 
capital trial is not the same as the trier of fact at a 
previous phase, it is not the case that evidence 
presented at that prior phase "shall be considered" at 
the subsequent phase; to be considered, that evidence 
must be admissible. West's AlUl.Cal.Penal Code § 
190.4(d). 

QQl Sentencing and . Punishment 350H 
~1789(9) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIlI The Death Penalty 

350HVIIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIIHG)4 Determination and 

Disposition . 
350Hkl789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 
350Hkl789(9) k. Harmless and 

reversible error. Most Cited Cases 

Any error in trial court's failure to admit 
evidence of capital defendant's nonverbal conduct in 
his videotaped statements to police as character 
evidence of his remorse for murdering two police 
officers was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt to 
defendant in the penalty phase, where police 
detective testified that he used the word "remorse" to 
describe defendant's emotional state in his report, 
though he believed it would be more accurate to say 
that defendant felt "regret," that defendant was 
initially cooperative with the police, and that upon 
learning that the officers were dead defendant 
became teary eyed and visibly emotional. West's 
Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 190.3(k). 

Inl Criminal Law 110 E>1139 

1 J 0 Criminal Law 
1 J OXXIV Review 

J I OXX1V(L) Scope of Review in General 

11 OXXIV(L) J 3 Review De Novo 
11 Okl139 k. In general. Most Cited 

Supreme Court reviews de novo a trial court's 
decision to excuse a prospective juror based solely 
upon that juror's written response to a questionnaire. 

1ln Jury 230 ~108 

230 Jury 
230V Competency of Jurors, Challenges, and 

Objections 
230k104 Personal Opinions and 

Conscientious Scruples 
230k108 k. Punishment prescribed for 

offense. Most Cited Cases 

Trial court acted within its discretion in excusing 
prospective juror for cause on the basis that his death 
penalty views would prevent or substantially impair 
the perfonnance of his duties as a juror, based solely 
upon juror's answers to jury questionnaire, where 
juror stated that he was "against capital punishment," 
that he would "not always" follow the law if it 
differed from his beliefs, that his "no on capital 
punishment" feelings might prevent him from being a 
fair and impartial juror, that he "strongly opposed" 
the death penalty, and that "no matter what the 
evidence was" he would always vote for the death 
penalty; it was clear that juror misread .the question 
about whether he would always vote for or against 
the death penalty. 

[33) Jury 230 ~108 

230 Jury 
230V Competency of Jurors, 

Objections 
230k104 Personal 

Conscientious Scruples 

Challenges, and 

Opinions and 

230k108 k. Punishment prescribed for 
offense. Most Cited Cases 

Trial court acted within its discretion in excusing 
prospective juror for cause on the basis that his death 
penalty views would prevent or substantially impair 
the performance of his duties as a juror, based solely 
upon juror's answers to jury questionnaire, where 
juror stated that he was "not absolutely certain" he 

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



242 P.3d 68 Page 8 
50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 10 Cal. Daily Op, Servo 14,306,2010 Daily Journal D.A.R. 
17,287 
(Cite as: 50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615) 

would follow the law as the judge instructed, that he 
was "strongly opposed to the death penalty," that he 
"simply would not vote for" death, and that no matter 
the evidence he would always vote for life without 
the P9ssibility of parole. 

[34lJury 230~108 

230 Jury 
230V Competency of Jurors, Challenges, and 

Objections 
,230k104 Personal. Opinions and 

Conscientious Scruples 
230kl08 k. Punishment prescribed for 

offense. Most Cited Cases 

Trial court acted within its discretion ill excusing ~ 
prospective juror for cause on the basis that his death 
penalty views would prevent or substantially impair 
the perfotImtnce of his duties as a juror, based solely. 
upon juror's answers to jury questionnaire, where 
juror stated that she. was "strongly against" the death 
penalty, that "God alone controls our life or death," 
that the death penalty served nQPurpose; and that she 
would always vote for life without the possibility of 
parole. 

(35) Jury 230~108 

230Ji.rry 
230V Conipetency of Jurors,' Challenges, and 

Objections 
230kl04 Personal Opinions and 

Conscientious Scruples 
230kl08 k. Punislnhent 'prescribed for 

offense. Most Cited Cases 

Trial court acted withIn its discretion in excusing 
prospective juror for cause on the basis that his death 
penalty views would prevent or substahtially impair 
the performance of his duties as a juror,based' solely 
upon jurot's ansWers to jury questionnaire, even 
though juror responded "yes" when' queried whether 
he would follow the law as instructed even if those 
instructions differed from his beliefs· or opinions, 
where juror stated he could not condemn a person to 
receive the death penalty under any circumstance, 
that he strongly .opposed the death penalty; aBd that 
he would always vote for a life sentence. 

(36) Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1763 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1763 k. Victim impact. Most 

Cited Cases 

Victim impact evidence is relevant and 
admissible under "circumstances' of the offense" 
capital sentencing factor so long as it is not so unduly 
prejudicial that it renders the trial fundillnentally 
unfair. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 190.3(a). 

(37) Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1763 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1763 k. Victim impact. Most 

Cited Cases 

During the penalty phase of a capital 
prosecution, vIctim impact testimony regarding the 
two victims' characters Was not impropeflyexcessive 
or irrelevant. 

(38) Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1763 
, , . 

350HSentencing and Punishment 
350HVIlI The Death Penalty 

, ~ . 350I:tVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibiiity ,} 
350Hkl763 k. Victim impl3:ct. Most 

Cited Cases 

During the penalty phase of a capital 
prosecution, evidence regarding the character of the 
victim is admissible to demonstrate how a victim's 
family is impacted by the loss~nd to show . the 
victim's uniqueness as an individual human being, 
whatever the jury might think the lo~s t9 the 
community resulting from his death might be. " 

(39) Sentencing'and Punishment 350H ~1763 
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350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIIHG) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1763 k. Victim impact. Most 

Cited Cases 

During the. penalty phase of a capital 
prosecution, victim impact testimony from victims' 
wives about the impact of victims' deaths on their 
families did not preclude victims' children from 
providing testimony .regarding their personal 
experiences resulting from the deaths of the victims. 

[40] Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1763 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 

350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1763 k. Victim impact. Most 

Cited Cases 

During the penalty phase of a capital 
prosecution, victim impact testimony provided by 
victim's mother and daughter, that daughter 
experienced fear as a result of her father's death and 
that mother suffered a heart attack just weeks after 
her son was killed, was admissible because it was not 
so prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally 
unfair. 

Hll Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1789(9) 

350HSentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350Hk1789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 
350Hk1789(9) k. Harmless and 

reversible error. Most Cited Cases 

Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable 
doubt to defendant's death sentence for the murders 

of two police officers, in the admission of any of the 
victim impact testimony from nine witnesses, in light 
of the overwhelming evidence in aggravation. 

142] Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIIHG) Proceedings 
350HVIU(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hk1780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Cited Cases 

Capital defendant's proposed penalty phase 
instruction on victim impact evidence, stating that the 
jury "may not impose the ultimate sanction as a result 
of an irrational, purely subjective response to 
emotional evidence and argument," was defective in 
that it was unclear as to whose emotional reaction it 
directed the jurors to consider with caution, that of 
the victim's family or the jurors' own. 

[43] Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Cited Cases 

During the penalty phase of a capital 
prosecution, trial court was not required to provide 

.. the jury with an instruction concerning victim impact 
evidence, where the instruction proposed by the 
defendant was defective, and the jury was given an 
instruction broadly cautioning it to determine the 
facts from the evidence presented, to follow the law, 
and to avoid being swayed by bias or prejudice 
against defendant. CALJIC 8.84.1. 

f44J Criminal Law 110~783(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

lI0XX(G) Instructions: Necessity, 
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Requisites, and Sufficiency 
110k783 Purpose arid Effect of Evidence 

1l0k7830) k. In general. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

350Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
3S0Hk1780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

'Cited Cases 

A reasonable doubt instruction is not required 
regarding . evidence of Uilcharged crimes; if that 
evidence is admitted for purposes other than as a 
factor in aggravation in the penalty phase of a capital 
murder prosecution. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § . 
190.3(b). 

[45] Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVlll The Death Penalty 

350HVlIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIll(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Trial court was not required to instruct penalty 
phase jury that capital defendant's commission of 
uncharged domestic violence crimes must be proven 
beyond a reasonable doubt for those crimes to be 
considered in aggravation, even though the evidence 
was introduced during the penalty retrial, and the 
purpose for which it was introduced was not made 
entirely clear, where prosecutor argued that "other 
criminal activity" wa,s not among the relevant 
sentencing factors, and the uncharged crimes were 
relevant as circumstances of the charged crimes. 
West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 190.3(a, b). 

[46] Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1789(9) 

350B Sentencing'and'Punishment 

350HVIII The Death Penalty 
350HVIIT(G) Proceedings 

350HVlll(G)4 Determination and 
Disposition 

350Hkl789 Review of Proceedings to 
Impose Death Sentence 

350Hkl789(9) k. Hannless and 
reversible error. Most Cited Cases 

Any error was hannless in trial court's failure to 
instruct penalty phase jury that capital defet;Ld~t's 
commission of uncha~ged domestic violence crimes 
must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, for 'tllOlle . 
crimes to be considered in aggravation, since it was 
not possibly probable that providing the omitted 
instruction would have altered the verdict, where 
defendant did not argue that the evidence concerning 
the 'a:ileged domestic abuse was rr.;accunit6: -'We~t's 
Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 190.3(b). 

[47) Constitutional Law 92 ~4745 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

Penalty 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4741 Capital Punishment; Death 

. , " ) '", ~>, 

92k4745 k. Proceedings. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVllI The Death Penalty 

350HVIII( G9 ,Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350I-Ikl780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructiops. Most 

Trial court did not violate capital defendant's 
state and federal constitutional rights to due process 
and a reliable penalty determination, or the statute 
requiring trial court to charge the jlll"Y on pertinent 
points of law, in instructing penalty phase jury only 
that it must take into account the "presence'(or 
absence of any prior felony conviction," rather than 
that defendant's lack of prior felony convictions was 
a mltigating factor, even though prosecutor arg~ed 
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that the "presence Of absence of any prior felony 
conviction" was not among the relevant sentencing 
factors. U.S.CA. Const.Amends. 8, 14; West's 
Al111.Cal.Penal Code §§ 190.3(c), 1093(f). 

148J Constitutional Law 92 ~4745 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

Penalty 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4741 Capital Punishment; Death 

92k4745 k. Proceedings. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H <£=1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVllI The Death Penalty 

350HVIIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIIl(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Trial court did not violate capital defendant's 
rights to due process and a reliable penalty 
determination under the Eighth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Constitution, in 
failing to instruct the jury in penalty phase retrial that 
it should not double count aggravating factors which 
were special circumstances, even though guilt phase 
jury had found the special circumstances of peace 
officer victim and multiple murder, where prosecutor 
did not suggest that double-counting aggravating 
factors was permissible, and the jury received the 
standard instruction concerning the weighing of 
aggravating and mitigating factors. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amends. 8, 14; West's Ann.CaLPenal Code §§ 
190.2(a)(3, 7), 190.3. 

149J Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1780(3) 

3S0H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIll(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl780 Conduct of Hearing 

350Hk1780(3) k. Instructions. Most 
Cited Cases 

Pattern jury instruction on "other criminal 
activity" capital sentencing factor did not improperly 
allow jury to consider murder defendant's uncharged 
crimes of assault with a deadly weapon against sister­
in-law and misdemeanor spousal abuse against wife, 
since those crimes were circumstances of the charged 
crimes of murdering two police officers who . arrived 
to investigate defendant's attacks on sister-in-law and 
wife, even though prosecutor argued that "other 
criminal activity" was not among the relevant 
sentencing factors. West's Ann.CaLPenal Code ~ 
190.3(a, b); CALJIC 8.85. 

150J Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1789(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVlII The Death Penalty 

350HVIIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIIICG)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350Hk 1789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 
350Hkl789(3) k. Presentation and 

reservation in lower court of grounds of review. Most 
Cited Cases 

Capital defendant's failure to object to jury 
instructions on "circumstances of the offense" capital 
sentencing factor and statute authorizing 
consideration of criminal activity involving use or 
attempted use of force during the penalty phase of a 
capital prosecution, and defendant's argument to the 
jury that it could and should consider the "use or 
attempted use of force" factor, forfeited the argument 
on appeal that the instructions improperly permitted 
the jury to double count evidence of defendant's 
uncharged crimes which were cir{:urnstances of the 
charged crimes. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code § 

190.3(a, b); CALJIC 8.85. 

151) Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1762 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVIll The Death Penalty 

350HV}W G) Proceedings 
3S0HVIIl(G)2 Evidence 
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350Hk1755 Admissibility 
350Hk1762 k. Other offenses; 

charges, or misconduct. Most Cited Cases 

, Statute authorizing consideration of crimina}, 
activity involving use or attempted use of force 
during the penalty phase of a capital prosecution . 
permits the jury to consider a defendant's violent" 
crimes other than the crimes at issue iri, the 
proceeding before it. West's Ann.Cal.Penal Code .• ~ 
190.3(b). 

152] Sentencing" and Punishment 350H 
~1789(9) 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVlII The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350HkI789 Review of Proceedings to 

'Impose Death Sentence 
350Hk1789(9) k. Harmless and 

reversible error. Most Cited Cases 

Any error in trial court's penalty, phase jury 
instruction on "other criminal activity" capital 
sentencing factor was not prejudicial to capital 
defendant, even though prosecutor argued that "other' 
criminal activity" was not among the relevant 
sentencing faCtors; and evidence of defendant's 
uncharged crimes of assault with a deadly weapon' 
against sister-in~law and misdemeanor spousal abuse 
against wife was presented as circumstances of the 
charged crimes of murdering two pOlice officers who 
arrived to investigatedefendarit's attacks on sister-in­
law and wife, where it was never suggested to the 
jury that circumstances of the murder should be 
considered both as circumstances of the crime and as 
criminal activity. West's Ann.Cal.Penal. Code ~ 

190.3(a, b);CALJIC 8.85. 

153] Sentencing and Punishment 350H 
~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIIl(G)3 Hearing 

350Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 

350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions;' Most 
Cited Cases 

Trial court was not required to instrudthe J1iIy 
that it must find beyond a reasonable doubt that 
aggravating factOi'soutweighed mitigating factors 
before it imposed a sentence of death. West's 
Ann.Cal.Penal Code ~ 190.3. 

154] Constitutional Law 92 ~4745 

92 ConstitlItional Law 
92XXVU Due Process 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVIl(H)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4741 Capital Punishment; Death 
Penalty .::' 

92k4745 k. Proceedings. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1780(3) 

350H SentenCing and Punislunent 
350HVnIThe Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl780 Coriduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. MoSf 

Cited Cases 

Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment did not 
require jury instruction that the jury was pehnittedto 
impose death only if it were' persuaded 'beyond a 
reasonable doubt that aggravating factors outweighed, 
mitigating factors. U.S.C.A. COilst.Amends.8, i4. 

~ Coristitutional Law, 92 ~4745 

92 Constitutional Law, 
92XXVn Due Process 

Penalty 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)6 Judgment and,Sentence 
, 92k4741 Capital Punislupent; Death 

92k4745 ]c. Proceedings. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H ~1771 

350H Sentencing and Punislunent 
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350Hvm The Death Penalty 
350HVIII(G) Proceedings 

350HVIII(G)2 Evidence 
3S0Hkl77l k. Degree of proof. Most 

Cited Cases 

Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the United States Constitution do not require that the 
state bear a burden of persuasion at the penalty stage 
of a capital murder prosecution. U.S.c.A. 
Const.Amends. 6, ~, H. 

(56] Sentencing and Punishment 350B 
18=1780(3) 

350HSentencing and Punishment 
350HVlII The Death Penalty 

3S0HVlIl(G) Proceedings 
350HVIII(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

3S0Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
3S0Hk1780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Penalty phase instructions were not 
constitUtionally deficient in failing to mandate juror 
unanimity concerning aggravating factors. 

1m Sentencing and Punishment 350B 
18=1780(3) 

3S0H Sentencing and Punishment 
3S0HVlll The Death Penalty 

350HVllI(G) Proceedings 
350HVllI(G)3 Hearing 

Cited Cases 

350Hkl780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hk1780(3} k. Instructions. Most 

Trial court was not required to instruct penalty 
phase jury regarding a "presumption of life." 

(58] Constitutional Law 92 €=>4745 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
. 92XXVlI(H)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4 7 41 Capital Punishment; Death 
Penalty 

92k4745 k. Proceedings .. M.ost Cited 

Jury 230 €=>34(9) 

230 Jury 
230n Right to Trial by Jury 

230k30 Denial or Infringement of Right 
230k34 Restriction or Invasion of 

Functions of Jury 

Cited Cases 

230k34(S) Sentencing Matters 
230k34(9) k. Death penalty. Most 

Sentencing and Punishment 350B ~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HvlJI The Death Penalty 

350HVlll(G) Proceedings 
350HVIll(G)3 Hearing 

3S0Hk1780 Conduct of Hearing 
350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. Most 

Cited Cases 

Concluding pattern jury instruction for death 
penalty trials did not violate. defendant's rights to due 
process, a fair trial by jury, and a reliable penalty 
determination under the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Constitution, in 
allegedly failing to adequately convey deliberative 
principles, in being misleading, or in being vague. 
U.S.c.A. Const.Amends. 6,~, 14; CALnC 8.88. 

W Constitutional Law 92 18=4745 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

Penalty 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)6 Judgment and Sentence 

92k4 741 Capital Punishment; Death 

92k4745 k. Proceedings. Most Cited 

Sentencing and Punishment 350B ~1780(3) 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVlIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIlI(G) Proceedings 
350HVIlI(G)3 Hearing 

350Hkl780 Conduct of Hearing 
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350Hkl780(3) k. Instructions. Most 
Cited Cases 

In concluding pattern jury instruction for death 
penalty trials, the phrase "so substantial" ,in the 
statement that jurors could return a verdict of death if 
each was ''persuaded that the aggravating 
circumstances are so substantial ill comparison with 
the mitigating circumstances that it warrants ~ , 
judgment <;>f. death" did not create a vague and 
directioruess standard in violation of the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments to' the United States 
Constitution. U.S.C.A. Const.Amends. 8, 14. 

160] Sentencing and Punishment 3'50H 
C;;;>1789(3) 

350H Sentencing and Pumsbment 
350HVllI The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(G) Proceedings 
350HVIU(G)4 Determination and 

Disposition 
350HkI789 Review of Proceedings to 

Impose Death Sentence 
350Hk1789(3) k. Presentation and 

reservation in lower court of grounds of review. Most 
Cited Cases ' .', 

Capital defendant's failure to reques~ a clarifying 
instruction forfeited any objection h~ had to 
concluding pattem jury instruction for death penalty 
trials. CALnC 8.88. 

l2!l Constitutio~al Law 92 C;;;>4774 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVll(H)8 Appeal or Other 

Proceedings for Review 
92k4772 Death Penalty Cases 

92k4774 k. Proportionality review. 
Most Cited Cases 

Sentencing and Punishment 350H C;;;>162'4 

350H Sentencing and Punishment 
350HVIIl The Death Penalty 

350HVIII(A) In Geperal 
350HkI.622, Validity of Statute or 

Regulatory Provision 
350Hk1624 k. Provision authorizing 

death penalty. Most Cited Cases 

The California capital sentencing scheme's lack 
of intercase proportionality review did not violate 
capital defendant's rights to be free from the arbitrary 
and capricious imposition of a capital sentence 
pursuant to th~ Eighth and Fourteenth Amendrrients, 
to, the United States Constitution. U.S.c.A., 
Const.Amends. 8, 14. 

***623 Michael J. Hersek, State PubIicDefender, 
under appointment by the Supreme CoW1,., Kent • 
Barkhurst and Nina Rivkind, Deputy State Public 
Defenders, for Defendant and Appellant. 

Edmund G. Brown, Jr., Attorney General; Dane R. 
Gillette, Chief Assistant Attorney General, Gary W. 
Schons, Assistant' Attorney General, Holly D. 
Wilkens, Rhonda Cartwright-Ladendorf and Annie 
Featherman Fraser, Deputy Attorneys General; for 
Plaintiff and Respondent. 

if 
MORENO, J. '. 

**75 *1234 On SepteIIiber :4; 1998, a: jury 
convicted Timothy Russell of the murders of 
Riverside County Sheriffs Deputies Micha~LHaugen 
and James Lehrn~nn (Pen.C~de, rnQ'1"87:j.,oThe jury 
found true a sentencing enhancement aIlegation that 
defendant had used a rifle during the commission of 

, " . t; ,:' , ~. i : C_J " • 

the murders (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a), 1192~7,subd. 
(c)(8»; and found n:ue a special pirctimstance 
allegation that defendant had intention;tlly killed 
Deputies Haugen and Lehmann during the 
performance of. their duties as pe~ce officers (§. 
1~0.2, subd. (a:)(7», and a multiple-murder special­
circumstance allegation (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(3». The 
first penalty phase resulted in a mistrial. Aft,er a 
penalty retrial, the jury returiled a verdict of death. 
The trial cotlrt denied defendant's motions for a new 
trial, and for modification of the sentence, and 
sentenced defen:dimt to death on both counts.' The 
court also imposed four-year determinate sentences 
on both counts for defendant's per:sonal use of a 
firearm, to run concurrent with the imposition of the 
death sentences. This appeal is automatic~ (§ 1239, 
subd. (b),) Weaffmn the judgment. 

FNl. All further statutory references are 'to 
the Penal Code urueSs otherwise indicated. 
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***624 I. BACKGROUND 
A. Guilt Phase 

1. Prosecution Evidence 
Defendant and his wife, Elaine Russell, had a 

tumultuous and violent relationship. Early in the 
couple's relationship, defendant had a particularly 
violent encounter with his wife in which he threw 
furniture, ripped the phone cord from the wall, 
choked his wife, and held. a gun to her head. During 
this incident, defendant told his wife that if she called 
the police, he would kill both her and the police. 

**76 In the early morning hours of Friday, 
January 3, 1997, following the years-long 
deterioration of the marriage,Elaine confronted 
defendant with her suspicion that he was using drugs. 
Defendant and Elaine had both previously used 
methamphetamine. Elaine asked defendant to leave 
the house the couple shared with their two children; 
defendant acquiesced. Defendant spent the rest of 
that night in the sign shop where he worked and 
sought the advice oLhis old friend, Jeffrey Alleva, 
later that day. Defendant and Alleva had not been in 
contact recently, although they had formerly been 
close friends. 

Alleva testified that defendant appeared sad and 
concerned and. indicated to *1235 Alleva that he 
needed to make changes and get his life in order. 
Defendant returned the next day and they discussed 
what defendant needed to do to get his life "back on 
track." Defendant left Alleva's home the evening of 
January 4, 1997, between 8:00 and 10:00 p.m A 
bartender at the Red Bam bar in Palm Desert recalled 
defendant's arriving around 10:30 or 11 :00 p.m. that 
same night. Defendant was quiet, drank three or four 
beers, and left the bar a few hours later. At 2:30 a.m. 
on January 5, 1997, defendant returned to the home 
he shared with Elaine, waking his sister-in-law, 
Beverly Brown, who was staying at the house. He 
asked· Brown if he could talk with her; she agreed. 
Brown noted that defendant was "a little" intoxicated 
and appeared angry or disturbed, but defendant's 
affect did not cause Brown concern. 

During his 10-minute conversation with Brown, 
defendant drank from a large bottle of beer. Brown 
later testified that defendant became more agitated, 
raised his voice, made large gestures, and made 
statements about his wife that Brown viewed as 

inappropriate. Defendant's conversation with Brown 
eventually woke Elaine and the couple's two children. 
Elaine emerged from her bedroom and asked 
defendant to leave, which caused defendant to 
become more agitated. Elaine left the room briefly; 
upon her return, defendant kicked her and threw her 
to the floor. Elaine begged for defendant to leave the 
house. Defendant finally agreed to leave. He tore the 
telephone wire out of the wall on his way out, yelling 
at Elaine and Brown "not to f-k with his job, his 
life, and not to call the cops." 

After defendant left, Elaine quickly went to the 
house of her neighbors, John and Twilla Gideon, to 
call the police. Shortly thereafter, defendant returned 
to his house with an unloaded M-1 rifle, asking 
Brown where the bullets to the gun were located. 
Brown initially told defendant that she did not know, 
but after defendant threatened to kill Brown, she 
relented and told defendant where to fmd the bullets. 
Defendant had a history of recreational gun use and 
was proficient with the guns he owned, which 
included a .22-caliber Uzi firearm and the M-1 rifle. 
Defendant used the guns in target practice, and was 
described as a ''very good shot." 

Defendant threatened to hold Brown hostage 
because he knew Elaine was calling the police. He 
said that he would kill Brown if necessary. Defendant 
walked ***625 outside and fired his gun four or five 
times, Brown testified that defendant came back 
inside, telling her to get out because the police were 
on their way and he was "going to kill [the police]." 
Brown testified that defendant told her to take the 
kids and run. Brown took the children to the Gideons' 
house. 

Brown noticed a police car arriving as she ran 
across to the Gideons' home. She took the children to 
the safety of the master bedroom at the rear of the 
Gideons' home, and shortly she thereafter heard 
around six shots fired. *1236 After the shooting 
ceased, she and the Gideons crept to the front of the 
house to see what had happened. They looked 
through the kitchen window and saw lying in the 
street the bodies of Riverside County Sheriffs 
Deputies Michael Haugen and James Lehmann, who 
had been dispatched to respond to Elaine's call. 

Deputy Lehmann had been shot in the head. 
Deputy Haugen had been shot in the chest and toe. 
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Both menwere'dead by the time the next responding 
officer, Deputy' Mark Smith, arrived at, the scene. 
Both still had their weapons holstered. 

Following the shooting, defendimt ran into the 
desert; in'the morning, between 7:00 arid **77 7:30 
a.m., he emerged from the desert and was arrested 
without incident. Defendant admitted fIring shots in 
the air in front of the deputies, but said that he only 
shot to "scare" them. ' 

Defendant made a number of statements to 
police concerning the shooting. Defendant fIrst spoke 
with Senior Detective' Eric Spidle the morning of 
January 5', 1997: Defendant offered to show 
Detective Spidle where he had dropped his 'gun, and 
the two drove 'into the desert where defendant 
showed Detective Spidie where he had piitced the 
gun and ammunition. The weapon and other evidence' 
were recovered, and defendant was taken to the' 
Riverside County Sheriffs station, where his clothing 
was taken, his blood analyzed, and his body tested for 
gUnshot residue. Wheri defendant 'was taken into 
custody, he had no methamphetantirie," cocaine, 
opiates, alcohol or lithium' in his blood. He had ail' 
injury and blood on the right side of his face. An 
expert presented testimony that the gunshot residue 
found on defendant's hand and face at that time had a 
"very similar chemical composition" "to: the residue' 
oli the expended cartridges found at the scerie of the 
crime. The gUnshot residue found on defendant's face 
indicated the gun had 'been held close to his face 
when it was being fIred. 

Defendant initially declined to be interviewed, 
but later changed his mind and gave a videotap~d 
interview after waiving his Mimncia rights. (Miranda 
V. Arlzoim (1966) 384 U.S. 436. 86 S.Ct. ,1'602, 16 
L.Ed.2d 694.) Defendant spoke at length about his 
deterioratingtelationship with his wife, who had 
admitted to cheating on defendant and had left the 
couple's home with th~ir children. About six months 
prior to the shootings, Elaine called defendant and 
asked if she and the children could return to the 
couple's home; defendant agreed. Prior to 'Elaine's 
retlim, defendant had ,been ,attending Alcoholics 
AtibnymOi.!s meetings and felt like he was '!able to 
handle life"~ following Elarne'srehirn home, 
defendant began drinking again. 

,Defendant explained that he was intoxicated on 

the night of the shooting, having consumed about a 
l2-pack of beeL After fighting with his wife, *1237 
defendant had left, then returned to his house with his 
unloaded gun and/coerced Bro~,w~o giving hi~ the 
ammunition she and Elaine had hidden. Defendant 
looked out the windo~ and sa~,'that'ili~polic,e w:er~. 
coming; he thought he, was a "de~d man" and "jus~ 
felt it was alloveL"Defendant turned the. ***626 
lights off and left the house" hoping he co~ld "~p.e~k 
past" the officers. He was surprised that he c<;>uld,.,;~!r~J 
thesil,h,ouettes of the offIcers, and was concernedtpat 
they could also see ,hi~. Defendal1t planned ,t9, rlI,C( 
shots in front of the officers to "scare 'em off' so that 
they: would "run back the other way.~'Defenda.nt,ftred 
several shots from a ,crouched position Witho.ut 
sighting through the rifle scope, then ~~n into)lJ.y 
desert. He did not ,know he had killed the officefs 
uJ?,tilhe was told by the interrogating'MfIcer, ",'! ;, 

, " ~ .,., H 

Officers investigating the scene ,folll1P 
defendant's gun in the location he had pointed <;>u~, 
with one live round in it and three magaz!nes lying 
Ullderneath it. While exammmg the' scene, 
inyestigators found two groupings of 30-calib,er shell 
ca~ings around the same locatiop., indi~ating t4~t.'f9.~ 
rounds had been discharged at one targeta;n~ eigpt 
rounds had been fIred at a second target. Five more 
shell casings were" fOUl,ld in ~he front yard of 
defendant's home, ' 

,', 

The prosecution presented ;testimonY)Ipm a 
forensic 'pathologist, who stated that ,tl1e€1ntJ;ance 
trajectories of Deput¥ Le1unann'sa~d' Deputy 
Haugen's wounds were inconsiste1;lt with a hyp()thesis 
that the injuries resulted from ricocheted bullets. The 
trajec:tory of the bullet, that killed, DePUty Lemnann 
was slightly front-to-back,left-to~right; ap.d slightly 
downward.' Deputy H~ugen's, wound w~.s c~msiste;nt 
with the bullet's passing through hisbulletproof vest 
before entering his, che~t, \Vhich o:p1y higl].7:velocity 
projectiles are, capable of doing. 

2. Defense Evidence 
'Fhe defense presented three witnesses duringtbe 

guilt phase of the'trial. Riverside County Sheriffs 
Sergeant David Wilson, a forensic supervisor who 
w~s at the crime scene when defe1;ldant reenacted the 
[shootings, testifIed.that he heard defend~nt,~t!!~e,Jj"i'78 
that he had. been running southboUI).d qn~: ,dirt,r9ad, 
hild seenthedeputies walk intj); th~ jmer~ect~qP,i~nd 
appro,ach his home, and that hep:oi1l~eqf)1isgllTI ~.uhe 
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ground near the deputies and started shooting. 
Defendant said that he saw sparks, which might have 
been his shots ricocheting off the asphalt, and that he 
did not see the deputies after he fired the shots. 

Charles Darnell, a retired army officer with 22 
years of service, reviewed defendant's military 
record, and testified that defendant, who had been 
training to be a medic, had received only the basic 
level of weapons training *1238 that all soldiers 
receive. Defendant had the qualification of 
"marksman," the lowest qualification level a soldier 
could receive, and would have been trained using an 
M-16 rifle, rather than an M-1, which was used in 
the shooting. Darnell, who was familiar with the M-
1, testified that the M-1 skews to the right when shot 
by a right-handed person and is not regarded as a 
sniper weapon, because it lacks the control and 
accuracy required for sniping. He also stated that the 
more rapidly shots are fired after the first shot, the 
less control a shooter has over the M-1. Kneeling or 
crouching would improve the accuracy of the shooter 
compared to shooting while standing. 

Detective Eric Spidle, the prosecution's 
investigating officer, testified for the defense that in 
test-firing the M-1 for speed, he expended 12 rounds 
in 4.85 seconds and 2.9 seconds in two different tests. 
In a third test, he deliberately fired more slowly, and 
expended 12 rounds in 10 seconds. The test measured 
timing, and not accuracy. 

3. Rebuttal Evidence 
The Riverside County Sheriffs Department 

tested defendant's M-1 rifle in the ***627 condition 
it was in when received. Twelve shots were fired 
from a distance of 132 feet, and the rounds hit the 
target slightly high and to the left. 

B. First Penalty Phase 
J. Prosecution Evidence 

The prosecution presented victim impact 
evidence from friends of the deceased officers and 
members of their families. Deputy Haugen's wife, 
Elizabeth, described the devastating effect her 
husband's death had on her and their two children, 
Katy and Stephen. The Haugens' niece, Jacqueline 
Mangham, provided more testimony relating to the 
impact of the death on Elizabeth and Stephen 
Haugen. Deputy Haugen's father-in-law, Geoffrey 
Mangham, stated that his wife grew ill after the 

funeral as a result of stress surrounding the death. 

Deputy Lehmann's wife, Valerie, described the 
effect of his death on her and their children, six-year­
old Ashley and 10-year-old Christopher. Deputy 
Lehmann's brother-in-law, James Odam, gave further 
testimony as to the death's impact on Christopher, 
who had become an angry child. 

2. Defense Evidence 
The defense presented several witnesses during 

the first penalty phase. Gordon Young, a pastor at 
defendant's church who had provided counseling 
*1239 to defendant and his wife, testified that 
defendant had made sincere efforts to reform his life 
and improve his marriage. Melvin Wachs, who 
employed defendant as a sign painter, testified that 
defendant had been one of his best employees. Wachs 
stated that defendant was generally punctual and got 
along with the other employees. In the period leading 
up to the homicides, Wachs testified that defendant 
seemed indecisive, and he appeared to be reaching 
out for help. 

Detective Spidle testified to defendant's actions 
at the time of the arrest. Spidle stated that when he 
told defendant that the deputies were dead, defendant 
"tilted his head back, closed his eyes, became a little 
teary-eyed [and his] emotion changed a bit."He 
confirmed that he had described defendant in his 
report as "visibly emotional." 

Defendant's mother, Lucille Williams, gave 
testimony as t.o the difficulties defendant faced while 
growing up. Williams testified that defendant's father 
was an alcoholic who died when defendant was 10 
years old; Williams's subsequent husband abused 
defendant. Defendant behaved poorly while in 
school, dropped out, and joined the army at **79 age 
17. Williams testified that defendant was "totally 
changed" and began having mood swings after being 
the victim of a beating and robbery in which he 
suffered severe head trauma. Defendant had problems 
with alcohol after leaving the army. Williams 
testified that defendant's arrest was difficult for her, 
and that the arrest impacted his children. She stated 
that she did not believe defendant would intentionally 
take a life. 

C. Penalty Retrial 
With respect to the circumstances of the crime, 
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most of the evidence presented at the penalty phase 
retrial was the same as the evidence presented during 
the original guilt phase. At the retrial, however, 
defendant's videotaped statements made following 
the shooting were not played. Instead, Detective 
Spidle testified about defendant's statements and his 
demeanor following the shootings. Additional 
forensic evidence was presented regarding the test­
firing of defendant's M-1 rifle. Forensic scientist 
Richard Whalley testified that the gun fired five 
inches high and to the left, and. if the gun' was not 
lowered between each. shot, the recoil caused the 
***628 gUn to el~vate, increas~g :the angle of each 
subsequent shot. Mr. Whalley also testified tha,t he 
conducted firi:p.g tests. from heights of 32 and 42 
inches from thy ground, and the expended shell • 
casings fell from the weapon in a 20-inch circle and 
a .17-to J 9~inch circle, respectively. 

*1240 I. Prosecution Evidence 
The prosecution again presented i evidence 

regarding the impact of Deputies Haugen's and 
Lehmann's deaths on their friends and family; ,Deputy 
Haugen's wife, Elizabeth, again testified regarding 
her IS-year relationship with her husbanq" how hard 
he had worked, to gain acceptance. into, and 
successfully c:omplete, the police academy, and his 
devotion to his career. Deputy H!\ugen's niece also 
testified for a second time, rell!.ying the contents of a 
letter Deputy Haugen had sent to her shortly before 
his death about his experie:p.ce as a police officer. 

Elizabe:th. Haugen learned of her husband's death 
from her neighbor, whose husband also worked for 
the sheriff's department. Stephen, Deputy Haugen's 
10-year-old son, was very upset following his 
father's death; his grades slipped, his behavior 
became problematic, and eventually pe decided to 
attend a boarding school to avoid being at pis house. 
At the time of the penalty retrial, Stephen hadbeel1 
seeing a psychologist, taking antidepressants, and 
preferred living at a boarding school to living at his 
former home. 

Deputy Lehmann's wife, Valerie, also testified 
again about her over-20-year relationship with her 
husband and the devastating impact of his death on 
her and their two children. Upon learning of her 
husband's death, Valerie became hysterical, called 
her family for help, and ran to a neighbor'S house 
seeking assistance. When she returned to her home a 

short while later, she found her children hysterical 
after they, had been told that their father was dead: 
Christopher, Deputy Lehmann's 1 O-yeat~oldj sen; 
became an angry and agitated child folloWing"his 
father's death, and began having seizures shortly after 
his father's death. Ashley, Deputy Lehmann's six­
year-old daughter, also became a very emotional 
child following her father's death and wo:uld not, 
Tl1ention his ,name, 

2. Defense Evidence 
The defense presented evidence from Edward 

Verde, M.D., of the Veterans Administration medical 
center, who had no recollection of defendant but 
testified regarding his medical records. Dr.,Vetde 
testified iliat defendant Was diagnosed with drug aild 
alcohol dependence in i 984, and was treated,off and, 
on, for a period of five months. Defendant failed to 
complete an addiction treatrIient program dlir:ing that 
time. He returned to the hospital for treafinent in 
August 1984, but was not admitted. For a three­
m()nth period between November 1986 and January 
1987, defendant again attempted to, but did riOt, 
complete an addiction treatrIient program at the 
hospitaL' 

In March and April 1996; defendant iefuInedto 
the Veterans Administration medical center, where he 
Was diagnosed with *:1<80 arnphetarrriile, alCohol; and 
*1241 marijuana dependency. Defendant complained 
of "feeling agitated" and haV:ii1g"moodsW'iitgs. 
Defendant was prescribed a low dose of lithium to 
control his mood swings, but ,failure to take the 
lithium would not have caused any adverse effects in 
light of the low dosage and brief duration of use. 
Defendant's chart indicated that he had had 
'fhomiCidal, ideations towards people who had 
betrayed him, but displayed ,no defInite [plans]. He 
also displayed impulsivity-a lack of planning." 

***629 Jeffrey Alleva, who originally testified 
for .the prosecution, testified for defendant at the 
penalty phase retriaL Alleva's testimony, concerning 
defendant's demeanor in the days leading up to the 
shootings, did not deviate from his previous 
testimony. 

Defendant's previous employer, David 
Wakefield; testified that defendant was it noriiiiil, 
trustworthy efuployee. Wakefield testified that Elaine 
Russell had a verbal altercation with defendant while 
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he was at work, and defendant called shortly 
thereafter and quit. Defendant's employer at the time 
of the shooting, Melvin Wachs, testified again on 
defendant's· behalf, providing much the same 
testimony as he did at the first penalty phase trial. On 
the Friday before the shootings, while discussing his 
marital problems, defendant mentioned that he felt as 
though his wife had been putting "speed!' in his 
coffee. 

Defendant's mother testified on defendant's 
behalf at the second penalty phase trial; her testimony 
was consistent With her earlier statements. Pastor 
Gordon Young again testified on defendant's behalf, 
largely reiterating his earlier testimony, and adding 
that once defendant gave Pastor Young an army rifle 
for safekeeping. Pastor Young also stated that he felt 
defendant made himself look better during 
counseling sessions by "fudging" the truth. 

Detective Spidle· offered testimony regarding 
defendant's statements to police following the 
shootings. Detective Spidle testified that defendant 
became "a little teary eyed" upon learning that 
Deputies Lehmann and Haugen were dead. Detective 
Spidle testified concerning the extent of defendant's 
cooperation with police-that defendant showed 
police. the location where he had dropped the rifle, 
and agreed to be interviewed at the scene and at the 
police station. Detective Spidle stated that defendant 
was cooperative, and appeared regretful. 

*1242 II. DISCUSSION 
. A. Guilt Phase 

1. Alleged InstructionalError on Lying in Wait as 
Theory of Murder 

Defendant alleges that the trial court erroneously 
instructed the jury on the lying-in-wait theory of 
murder. He further alleges that the prosecutor 
improperly suggested that the jury could convict 
defendant of first degree murder based upon a lying­
in-wait theory even if the jury believed defendant's 
account of the facts, which showed that no substantial 
period of watching and waiting occurred prior to the 
shooting. Defendant claims the proseciltor's 
suggestion, coupled with instructional error, violated 
defendant's rights to due process and a fair trial under 
the state and federal Constitutions. Defendant 
suggests his conviction is based potentially upon an 
erroneous theory of murder and must be reversed 
because it cannot be determined whether the jury 

relied on a legally adequate or inadequate theory to 
convict him of first degree murder. 

During his interviews with Detective Spidle 
following the shootings, defendant explained that he 
saw the officers approaching, "saw the silhouette of 
them, and I thought well if I shoot in front of [them] 
... they'll run back the other way." Defendant then 
claims he "took off' running. 'When pressed later in 
the interview regarding the circumstances 
surrounding the shooting, defendant explained that 
his initial plan was to sneak past the officers. 
Defendant revised his plan when he realized he could 
see the officers and became concerned that they 
could also see him. Acknowledging that his initial 
plan of running past the officers would not help him 
evade detection, defendant explained that he crafted a 
new plan to run away from the officers and "put a 
line of fire down in front of [the officers] to turn them 
back." ***630 Defendant either slowed down or 
stopped while running away from the officers, aimed 
**81 "in the general direction" of the officers' 
silhouettes, and shot at them a number of times. 

The jury was instructed on the elements of first 
degree murder by lying in wait pursuant to CALJIC 
No. 8.25, and received a special instruction regarding 
lying-in-wait murder pursuant to defendant's request. 
CALJIC No. 8.25 defmes murder by lying in wait "as 
a waiting and watching for an opportune time to act, 
together with a concealment by ambush or by some 
other secret design to take the other person by 
surprise [even though the victim is aware of the 
murderer's presence]. The lying in wait need not 
continue for any particular period of time provided 
that its duration is such as to show a state of mind 
equivalent to premeditation or deliberation. [~ [The 
*1243 word 'premeditation' means considered 
beforehand.] [~ [The word 'deliberation' means 
formed or arrived at or determined upon as a result of 
careful thought and weighing of considerations for 
and against the proposed course of action.]" (CALJIC 
No. 8.25, brackets in original.) 

ill Defendant requested that the jury receive a 
special instruction regarding lying in wait. The court 
incorporated two paragraphs of defendant's requested 
special instruction into the instructions given to the 
jury; the court found that the remaining portion of the 
requested instruction was not a correct statement of 
the law.FN2 Accordingly, the jury was instructed that 
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"[i]n order to establish First Degree Murder based 
upon 1ying-in-wait, the perpetrator must exhibit a 
state of mind equivalent to, but not identical to, 
premeditation and deliberation. This state of mind is 
the intent to watch and wait for the purpose of 
gaining an advantage in taking the victim unawares 
in order to facilitate the act which constitutes murder. 
The concealment which. is required is that which puts 
the defendant in a position of advantage from which 
one can infer that the principal act of lying-in-wait 
was part of the defendant's plan to take the vicnipsl;ly 
surprise. It does not include the intent to kill or illjure 
the victim. In order t~ establish Lying in wait 
Murder, the prosecution must prove the crime 
involved the unlawful killing ,of a human being with 
malice aforethought. Malice may be express or 
implied." (Italics added.) During 'its deliberations, the 
jury requested clflrification of the special instruction, 
noting that CALlIC No. 8.25 defmed the requisite 
mental state as one akin to "premeditation· or 
deliberation" while the special instruction defined the 
state of mind as equivalent to "premeditation and 
deliberation." (Italics added.) The com;t ,})~operly 
responded that the instructions should both be in the 
disjunctive. Shortly thereafter the jury returned its 
guilty verdicts on both counts of murder. 

FN2. The. rejected portion of defendant's 
requested instruction stated, ''To establish 
murder by l)jng-in-wait the ,prosecution 
mu~t prove the elements of concealment of 
purpose together with 'a substantial period 
of watching and waiting for an opportune 
time to act, and ... immediately thereafter, a 
surprise attack on an unsuspecting victim 
from a position of advantage' " (relying .on 
and citing People v. Ruiz (1988) 44 Ca1.3d 
589, 615, 244 Cal.Rptr. 200, 749 P.2d 854, 
and People v. Mattison (1971) 4 Ca1.3d 177, 
183,93 Ca1.Rptr. 185,481 P.2d t93). 

Defendant claims that there was insufficient 
evidence to establish that a substantial period of 
watching and waiting, a necessary element of lying­
in-wait murder, occurred in this case. Defendant 
suggests that the prosecutor's argument that the jury 
could believe defendant's story and nonetheless 
convict him of. lying-in-wait ***631 murder was 
errone~us because' defendant would have had "at 
most a fe~ seconds" to decide on his course of 
conduct, which defendant sugge~ts is insufficient to 

con1?titute a substantial, period of watching and 
waiting. Defendant also contends thatj.:the. jury 
instructions concerning lying-in-wait murcl~.r¥l~re 
inadequate because they did not ,c:onyey' tha,t: t1;te 
*1244 period of watching and waiting mu~t1:>e 
substantial. Because the jury may have conyiqted: 
defendant based on a legally erroneous theory of 
lying-in-wait murder; defendallt ccmtends,· his 
conviction must be reversed. We find no error 
concerning the sufficiency of evidence or jury 
instruction; accordingly, reversal js .not required. 

illQJ As a preliminary matter, we conclude that 
the jury instr:uction concerning lying-in-wait murder 
was adequate. Section 189 provides, in pertinent part, 
th~t "murder which is perpetrated by ... lying in wait 
.. ,' **82 is murder of the fITst degree." Lying-in-wait 
murder consists of three elements •. FN3 " , "( 1) ~ 
concealment of purpose, (2) a substa)1tialperiod .of 
watching and waiting for an opportune time to act, 
and (3) inunediately thereafter, a surprise attack on 
an unsuspecting vIctIm from apositio;n .of 
advantage .... " [Citations.], " (People v,. Cruz. (200S) 
44.CalAth 636, 679, 80 CaLRptr3d 126, i87P.3cl 
970.) We have repeatedly held that CALJIC No.S.2S 
adequately conveys to a jury the elements of lyillg~m:­
wait murder. (People V. MOOl1, supra. 37 Cal.4th. at p. 
23, 32 Cal.Rptr.3d 894, 117 P.3d .591: ·people v .. 
Ceja, supra, 4 Ca1.4th at p. 1139, 17 Cal.Rptr.2d 375, 
847 P 02d 55 ["we have repeatedly upheld. the 
mstruction, and continue to do so"];, see People. 1'. 

Hard)! (1992) 2 Ca1.4th 86, 161-163, 5Cal.Rptr.2d 
796, 825 P.2d 781: People 1'0 Ruiz, supra. 44 Cal.3d 
at pp. 613-615,244 Cal.Rptr: 200, 749 P.2d854.) 

FN3. We note that fITst degree murder 
committed by means of lying in. wait, at 
issue here, is distinct from intentional 
murder while lying in wait, as required by 
the related but distinct special circunw~nce 
not alleged here. (People Vo Ceja (1993) 4 

.. CalAth 1134,. 1140: fn. 2, .17 Cal.Rptt.2d 
375,847 P02d 55.) Because the requirements 
of the· special circumstance are . more 
s;tringent than the requirements of IY,ing-in­
wait murder, we haye concluded that where 
substantial evidence supports the fogner, it 
necessarily supports the latter. (People" 1'. 

Moon (2005) 37. Cal.4th 1, '23, .32 
Cal.Rptr.3d 894, 117 P.3d59l.) Wer;nay 
look to analyses of the law of special 
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circumstance cases even when addressing 
lying-in-wait murder. (People V. Ceja, 
supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1140, fn. 2. 17 
Cal.Rptr.2d 375.847 P.2d 55.) 

ill Defendant argues that the instruction was 
inadequate because it failed to convey tbat the period 
of watching and waiting must have been 
"substantial." We considered and rejected a similar 
claim in People V. Moon. There, we noted that 
"[a]lthough we have held the period of watchful 
waiting must be 'substantial' [citation], we have 
never placed a fixed time limit on this requirement. 
Indeed, the opposite is true, for we have previously 
explained that '[t]he precise period of time is also not 
critical.' (People V. Ceja (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1134. 
1145. 17Cal.Rptr.2d 375, 847 P.2d 55.) ... [A] few 
minutes can suffice." (People v.Moon, supra, 37 
Cal.4th at p. 23, 32 Cal.Rptr.3d 894. 117 P.3d 591; 
see also People v. Edwards (1991) 54 Ca1.3d 787, 
823. I Cal.Rpu:.2d 696, 819 P.2d 436 ["We have 
never required a certain minimum period of time, 
only a period not insubstantial. The instructions 
sufficiently convey this meaning."].) 

Defendant acknowledges that "no particular 
words are necessary" to convey that the period of 
watching and waiting must be substantial, and *1245 
agrees that the period can be quite short. He argues, 
however, that although a few moments may be 
adequate, we have never concluded that a few 
***632 seconds constitutes a substantial period of 
watching and waiting. While we have not previously 
considered this particular factual scenario, we have 
held on numerous occasions that "[t]he precise period 
of time is ... not critical. As long as the murder is 
immediately preceded by lying in wait, the defendant 
need not strike at the first available opportunity, but 
may wait to maximize his position of advantage 
before taking his victim by surprise. In People v. 
Edwards. supra. 54 Ca1.3d at page 825, I Cal.Rptr.2d 
696. 819 P.2d 436, we found that evidence from 
which the jury could infer that the 'defendant waited 
and watched until the [victims] reached the place of 
maximum vulnerability before shooting' supported a 
finding of lying in wait." (People v. Ceja. supra. 4 
Cal.4th at p. 1145. l7 CatRpn-.2d 375,847 P.2d 55.) 

UJl.2l Here, the jury may have concluded that 
defendant, in a rather short period of time, assessed 
his options and decided to shoot at the officers. 

Before he made his decision to shoot, however, 
defendant spent ample time planning his crime. He 
found bullets and loaded his weapon. He became 
agitated, went outside, and fired several rounds 
before returning to the house. He told Brown that he 
planned to kill the arriving officers. He formulated a 
plan to leave the house and sneak away, which he 
revised upon discovering that he could see the 
officers' silhouettes and becoming concerned that he 
was also visible. He shot at the officers from a 
position of advantage before the officers had time to 
even draw their weapons. Even a short period of time 
is sufficient to overcome an inference that a **83 
defendant acted rashly. (People v. Stevens (2007) 41 
Ca1.4th 182,203,59 Cal.Rptr.3d 196. 158 P.3d 763.) 
In People v. Stevens. the defendant committed a 
series of shootings at drivers of vehicles while 
driving his own vehicle. Immediately after 
completing one such shooting, the defendant set his 
sights on his next victim. He sped up to meet that 
victim, made a gesture requesting that his victim slow 
down, and once the victim did so, he shot the victim. 
" Once the intended victim slowed down, the time to 
act became opportune. Defendant stopped watching 
and started shooting. Such behavior is completely 
consistent with, and provides substantial evidence 
for, the watching and waiting element.. ... " (Ibid.) Like 
the defendant in People v. Stevens. defendant here 
quickly formulated a plan, and then he "stopped 
watching and started shooting." Defendant did not act 
rashly; he acted quickly once he had opportunity to 
do so. 

We conclude that the evidence was sufficient to 
support the lying-in-wait theory of first degree 
murder, and the instructions adequately conveyed the 
elements of the crime. Because we find no error, we 
conclude that the jury's conviction was necessarily 
based on a legally adequate theory of murder and 
reversal is not warranted. 

*12462. Allegedly Erroneous Denial of Guilt and 
Penalty Phase Motions to Have Jury View Scene of 

Shooting 
Defendant alleges that the trial <:ourt erroneously 

denied his guilt and penalty phase motions to have 
the jury view the scene of the murder, in violation of 
article I. section 28 of the California Constitution as 
well as the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments 
to the United States Constitution. Before the 
beginning of the guilt phase, defendant filed a motion 
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requesting that the jury view the scene of the 
shooting at night. Defendant contended that the 
"extreme dadmess" at the scene was crucial to his' 
defense theory that he did not intend to kill the 
officers. Defendant raised the' issue twice more, and 
the proSecut()r objected to the jury view. The 
prosecution contended that defendant's own ***633 
statements revealed that he could see the officers' 
silhouettes,· aIld could see well enough to note that 
there was a size discrepaIlcy between the officers, 
Brown and Twilla Gideon also testified about the 
lighting conditions at the scene,explaining that they 
could see the officers' bodies lying in the intersection 
and that one of the officers had facial hair. The 
prosecutor argued that a jury view of the scene was 
unnecessary because the issue Was not whether 
defendant could see the officers, but whether he 
aimed at them. 

The trial court denied defendant's guilt phase 
motion, explaining that it would be impossible to 
duplicate the lighting conditions of the scene because 
the trial was conducted during the summer months, 
while the crime occurred in January. Additionally, 
the court expiained that there was' ample evi.dence 
that it was "pitch black" and "difficult to see" on the 
night of the murder. Finally, the court agreed with the 
prosecutor's argument that the issue was one Of 
aiming, not one of visibility~ 

[7][8][9] Section 1119 provides that "[w]hen, in 
the opinion of the court, it is proper that the jury 
should view the place in which the offense is charged 
to have been committed, .. : it may order the jury to be 
conducted ... to the place .... " We review a trial coUrt's 
denial ofa motion to view the scene of a murder "for 
abuse of discretion [citation], i.e., whether the court 
exercised its discretion iri an arbitrary, capricious,or 
patently absurdrhaniler that results in a manifest 
miscarriage of justice." (Peoplev. Lawlev (2002) 27 
Ca1.4th 102. 158. 115 Cal.Rptr.2d 614. 38 P.3d 461. 
citing People V. San dei's (995) 11 Ca1.4th 475: .512, 
46 Cal.Rptr.2d 751: 905P.2d 420.) Defendantitrgues 
that none of the trialc()urt's stated reasons for 
denying the jury-view motion withstand scrutiny; we 
disagree; Defendant argues at some length that the 
court's concern that lighting conditions would be 
difficult to duplicate is unfounded. In People ". 
Williams. we conchided iliat the trial court's reasons 
for denying a jury view motiori-"that lighting and 
foliage conditions at the scene might be different than 

those prevailing at the time of the offense"-*1247 
were reasonable and correct. (People v: Williams 
(1997) 16 Cal.4th 153.213.66 Cal.Rptr.2d 123, 940 
P .2d 710.) **84 " 'When the purpose of the view is 
to test the veracity of a witness's testimony about 
observations the witness made, the trial: court may 
properly consider whether the conditions for.the,jury 
view will be substantially the same as those. under 
which the witness made the observations" .wheth!!r' 
there are other means of testing the veraci~foLthe. 
witness's testimony, and practical difficulties' in 
conducting a jury view.' (People v. Price (1991)01 
Ca1.4th 324. 422 (3 Cal.Rptr.2d 106, 821 P2d610].)" 
(People V. Lawlev. supra. 27 Ca1.4th atp. 158, 115 
Cal.Rptr.2d 614, 38 P.3d 461.) 

Defendant argues that testimony that the scene 
was "pitch black" was not sufficient to "address the 
real issue of how that level of darkness affected 
visibility." Defendant also contends the trial "court 
failed to recognize that the visibility at the scene was 
highly relevant to whether appellant· aimed at the 
officers." Defendant's arguments are unavailing, 
Defendant admitted that he was able to see 'the 
officers' silhouettes; we fail to see how a jury view of 
the scene would assist the jury in determining 
whether defendant aimed at those silhouettes; W.e 
conchide that the court did not abuse its discretion in 
denying defendant's request to have the juryview.the 
scene of the murders. As the court Iloted, testimonial 
evidence adequately informed the jury as ·to the 
lighting conditions at the scene. The trial court 
reasonably concluded that a jury ***634. Yiew~ 
conducted at a different time of night aridaidifferent 
time of year with very different lighting conditions­
was unnecessary. 

[10][11] Defendant again requested that the 
second penalty-phase jury be permitted to ·view ifue 
scene of the murders at night; the trIal court denied 
iris request. Defendant claims the court's denial 
violated his state law rights, as well as his Eighthiilld 
Fourteenth Amendment rights under the Uiilted 
StatesCoIlstitution, because a view' of the· seehe 
would have enabled deferidant to rebut aggravating 
evidence a.nd to establish lingering doubt. As' the 
People cogently explain, a "capital defendant has no 
federal constitutional right to have the jury consider 
lingering doubt in choosing theappropriilte penalty." 
(People v. Stirelv (2005) 35 Ca1.4th 514; _566, 26 
Cal.Rptr.3dl. 108 P.3d 182.) In People v.Stitelv, we 
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explained that "[ e ]vidence that is inadmissible to 
raise reasonable doubt at the guilt phase is 
inadmissible to raise lingering doubt at the penalty 
phase." (Ibid.) For the same reasons we rejected 
defendant's guilt phase argument, we conclude that 
the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying 
defendant's penalty phase motion to have the jury 
view the scene of the crime at night. Even assuming 
that the trial court erred in denying defendant's guilt 
and penalty phase requests, considering the ample 
evidence of the lighting conditions presented during 
both phases of the trial, we conclude that it is not 
reasonably probable that the jury would have 
returned a verdict more favorable to defendant (see 
People V. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 299 P.2d 
243), and error, if any, was harmless beyond a *1248 
reasonable doubt (see Chapman V. California (967) 
386 U.S. 18.24.87 S.O. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705). 

3. Allegedly Erroneous Interference with Jury's 
Deliberations and Improper Coercion of Guilt 

Verdicts 
Defendant argues that the court's questioning of 

a juror after allegations of impropriety were made 
intruded upon the jurors' deliberations and coerced a 
guilty verdict in violation of defendant's rights to due 
process, a fair trial, and a unanimous jury verdict 
under the state and federal Constitutions. For the 
reasons addressed below, we conclude that 
defendant's claims are not meritorious. 

After two days of deliberations, the court 
received a note from Juror No.2 expressing concern 
about Juror No. 8's ability to deliberate objectively. 
The note explained that Juror No. 2 was concerned 
that Juror No.8 was "unable to set aside her empathy 
for the defendant," "unable to set aside her own 
personal experience relating to mental illness," and 
that "she seems to be suffering personal angst during 
the process stating 'pick on somebody else, 1 can't do 
this anymore.' 'I've had it!' 'Can 1 abstain?' " 

Upon receipt of this notification, the court asked 
counsel to address how it wished to proceed. Defense 
counsel argued that if the court thought "it would be 
appropriate, to **85 call out the juror ... referred to, 
which is Juror No.8 and ... make inquiry whether or 
not she's able to continue or is she deliberating," the 
court should do so. Because the note was received 
from a juror who was not the foreperson, the court 
suggested instead that it call the fo:r;eperson to see 

whether the issue raised by Juror No.2 "is a problem 
and then take it from there." Counsel for both parties 
agreed. The court took a moment before the 
foreperson entered the court to make clear that it 
"tread[s] very lightly on these issues and [does not] 
want to intrude on the deliberations .... [B]y talking to 
the foreperson first," the court ***635 and parties 
will "get a better take on whether or not this is a 
general perception of the other jurors." 

The court explained to the foreperson, Juror No. 
12, that it had received a letter suggesting that there 
was a juror experiencing difficulty "setting aside his 
or her sympathy for the defendant and objectively 
deliberating on the case." Juror No. 12 agreed that 
there was an issue with a juror, and independently 
named Juror No.8 as the individual experiencing the 
problem. The court clarified that it did not wish to 
intrude in any way in the deliberative process, and 
requested that· the foreperson not mention the 
individual jurors' votes regarding guilt or innocence, 
but asked the foreperson to explain how jurors were 
"deliberating or refusing to deliberate." 

*1249 The foreperson explained that Juror No.8 
was not refusing to deliberate because she was 
actively discussing the case with the jurors, but was 
expressing sympathy for the defendant, "[t]hat she 
feels sorry for him," "identifies with his plight so 
much that she ... has projected," and "she is 
describing an emotional state ... that she feels that she 
shares with the defendant ... [and that] she used ... as 
the basis of her decision." Juror No. 12 also 
explained that Juror No. 8 seemed particularly 
emotionally invested in, and emotionally drained by, 
the deliberations. Noting that it is an emotional 
experience, the foreperson explained that Juror No.8 
became so exhausted by the process that she refused 
to participate at one point, saying, " 'I wasn't going to 
talk today. 1 just wasn't going to say anything.' " The 
foreperson told that court that Juror No.8 discussed 
how drained she felt, and seemed much more 
emotionally involved than the other jurors. 

The court asked counsel how they wished to 
proceed in light of the foreperson's statement. 
Counsel for defendant requested that the jury 
continue its deliberations undisturbed. The People 
argued that it seemed, based upon the letter and the 
foreperson's statement, that Juror No.8 was basing 
her decision upon personal experience instead of the 

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. --



242 P.3d 68 ,Page 24 
50 Cal.4th 1228, 242 P.3d 68; 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 10 Cal. Daily Op. Servo 14,306,2010 Daily JoUrnal D.A.R. 
17,287 
(Cite as: 50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615) 

evidence, against the court's instruction; and that she 
may be unable ito set aside her sympathy foro 
defendant. The People argued, and the 'couii agreed, 
that direct inquiry of JUror No.8 was martdate'd.' 

The court stressed'with Juror No.8 that it would 
not be asking how she or any other jurors were 
voting, but only whether any "jurors are using pity or 
sympathy for a defendant in any way In this case." 
The court explained that the jury's instructions and 
"black letter. hiw [require] that a juror must not in any 
case 'allow pity or sympathy for a defendant to 
interfere with the deliberation process or influence 
hi~ or her vote in the jury process." The court asked if 
Juror No. 8 believed her feelings of sympathy for 
defendant interfered with her deliberative process, to 
which she responded in the negative. Juror No.8. 
explained' that sheurtderstood both that it would be 
Unfair and against the Jaw to allow her sympathy for 
defendant to interfere, with the deliberative process, 
and that she understood that she could nbt allow a 
particular personal event in her background to 
interfere with or influence her objectivity. The court 
directed Juror No.8 not to allow events in her past to 
"interfere with [her] objectivity in this case'" and 
"direct[ed her] to further deliberate with the jl,lfors. 
That means to discuss the evidence. Objectively." 
Juror No. 8 explained that the jury, had "gone over 
and over" the evidence, and the court directed her to 
return to the deliberation room and continue to 
deliberate. 

The People expressed concern that Juror No. 8's 
statements apparently confiicted***636 with the 
statements in the note and those made by the 
fore'person. *1250 The court Stated that it **86 did 
not wish to further question jurors, but would do so if 
there were further problems. Defense counsel offered 
no argument following Juror No; 8's questioning, nor 
did defense counsel object td JUror No. 8is toi1tinued 
service on the jury. Defendant now contends that the 
court made a nurriber of errors'::"""nainely; that it erred 
by questioning Juror No.8; that the coUrt's questions 
of Juror No. 8 were intrusive, that the court's 
ins'tructions to Juror No.8 were coercive, and that the 
court made an unnecessary cominent to the 

'foreperson-each of which, individually br 
collectively, mandate reversal. We disagree. 

, I.1ll As an' initial matter, the People suggestthat 
defendant's dilims concerning Juror No.8 are barred 

because he' invited the error by initially suggesting 
that the court question Juror No.8. As the Peopie 
explain, the doctrine of invited error, applies' when a 
defendant, for tactical reasons, makes a request 
acceded tb by the trial court and claims onappeaHhat 
the court erred in granting .the request. IPedpZe 11., 

Williams (2008) 43 Cal.4th 584. 629, 75 Ca1.Rptr.3d 
691. 181 P.3d 1035; People V. Wickersham 1,1982)32 
Cal.3d 307, 330. 185 Cal.Rptr. 436,650 P.2d.3 11, 
disapproved on other groUnds in People v.Barton 
(1995) 12 Cal.4th 186.201, 47 Cal.Rptr.2d 56~h9Q6 
P .2d 531.) Here, although defendant initially 
suggested that the court question Juror No.8, and 
acquiesced to the court's alternate suggestion ,that :it 
flrst question the foreperson"defendant ultimately, 
reversed his position, suggesting'thatthe jury should 
continue deliberating without questioning JUror No. 
8. The court rejected defendant's later suggestion,' and 
questioned Juror No.8. Accordingly, we conclude 
that defendant did not invite any error he now claims 
occurred. 

[13][14] The People suggest in the alternative 
that defendant's claims concerning Juror No. 8 are 
forfeited, Defendant did not object to the qia},court's 
decision to "bring out ... ;Juior No.8", after the 
prosecution suggested that th'ecourtdo so. After ,the 
coUrt admomshed Juror No.8; it engaged iri a bmef 
colloquy with the prosecutor regarding whether any 
further steps were necessary. Defense counsel did not 
comment throughout the duration of the court's 
exchange with Juror No. 8,nor did coupsel join in the 
conversation between the proseclltor and ,the court 
after Juror No.8 left the courtroom. Defense counsel 
did not object to Juror No. 8's continl,lecl service ~m 
the jury, and did not :r:equest a ,mistrial based upon 
juror misconduct. A claim of prejudicial misconduct 
is waived when the defendant fails to object ,to a 
juror's continued service· and fails to seek a mistrial 
based upon prejudice. (People v. StQlIley(2006) 39 
Ca1.4th 913 . .950,47 Cal.Rptr.3d 420. 140 P.3d 736.) 
Here, defendant's claim that the court's questions of 
Juror No.8 constituted reversible error because they 
were improper, intrusive, and coercive is forfeited 
,because defendant failed to object. As dIscussed 
more fully below, def~ndant's <;:laims additjonally fail 
on the merits. 

[15'1[16] *1251 As defendant aptly points out, 
"[t]he secrecyo( deliberations is the cPTIlerl?tone of 
the modem Anglo-American jury system:' (United 
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Slates V. Thomas (2d Cir.1997) 116 F.3d 606, 618.) 
Courts must exercise care when intruding into the 
deliberative process to ensUre that the secrecy, as 
well as the sanctity, of the deliberative process is 
maintained. (See People V. Cleveland (2001) ?5 
Cal.4th 466. 475. 106 Cal.Rpu'.2d 313. 21 P.3d 
1225.) "The need to protect the sanctity of jury 
deliberations, however, does not preclude 
reasonable***637 inquiry by the court into 
allegations of misconduct during deliberations." U4. 
at p. 476. 106 Cal.Rptr.2d 313. 21 P.3d 1225.) In 
People V. Keenan (1988) 46 Ca1.3d 478. 532. 250 
Cal. Rptr. 550, 758 P.2d 1081. we held that the court 
had a duty to investigate an allegation of juror 
misconduct, "emphasiz[ing] that when a trial court 
learns during deliberations of a jury-room problem 
which, if unattended, might later require the granting 
of a mistrial or new trial motion, the court may and 
should intervene promptly to nip the problem in the 
bud. The law is clear, for example, that the court 
must investigate reports of juror misconduct to 
determine whether cause exists to replace an 

. offending juror with a substitute." 

[171 [18] Here, the court did nothing more than 
follow established law by investigating, **87 to as 
limited an extent as possible, allegations that a juror 
was unable to perform her duties. Because the court 
has the power to discharge a juror who is unable to 
perform his or her duties pursuant to section 1089, a 
court may also undertake less drastic steps to ensure 
that a juror is able to continue in his or her role. 
(People v, Keenan. supra. 46 Ca1.3d at p. 533. 250 
Cal.Rptr. 550, 758 P.2d 108l.) Defendant argues that 
the court interfered with the secrecy of the 
deliberations, and asked improperly intrusive 
questions, when it interviewed Juror No.8, based 
upon what he characterizes as Juror No. 2's 
"unsubstantiated concerns." Defendant's arguments 
are demonstrably specious; indeed, defendant 
initially suggested that the court question Juror No.8 
after being made aware of Juror No. 2's letter 
expressing concern regarding the deliberative 
process. Moreover, the court was mindful of its 
potential impact on the deliberative process, 
explaining before it questioned both the foreperson 
and Juror No. 8 that it did not wish to know 
individual votes, that it wished to limit its impact on 
the deliberative process, and that it sought only to 
ascertain the extent of any potential misconduct. 

In People V. Cleveland. we explained that "a trial 
court's inquiry into possible grounds for discharge of 
a deliberating juror should be as limited in scope as 
possible, to avoid intruding unnecessarily upon the 
sanctity of the jury's deliberations. The inquiry 
should focus upon the conduct of the jurors, rather 
than upon the content of the deliberations. 
Additionally, the inquiry should cease once the court 
is satisfied that the juror at issue is participating in 
deliberations and has not expressed an intention to 
disregard the court's instructions or otherwise 
committed misconduct, and that no other proper 
ground for discharge exists." *1252(People V. 

Cleveland. supra. 25 Ca1.4th at p. 485, 106 
Cal.Rptr.2d 313, 21 P.3d 1225.) Upon hearing that 
Juror No. 8 was not permitting her sympathy for 
defendant to interfere with her deliberations, and that 
she understood that she could not permit events in her 
personal life to obscure her objectivity in the case, 
the court directed her to adhere to her oath as a juror 
and return to deliberations. The court intruded as 
minimally as possible to satisfy its dual goals of 
investigating allegations of misconduct while 
preserving the secrecy of the deliberative process. 
Accordingly, we conclude that the court did not 
abuse its discretion when questioning Juror No.8, 
either by improperly intruding upon the secrecy of 
deliberations, or asking improperly intrusive 
questions. 

[19][20] Defendant next suggests that the court's 
comments to Juror No.8 were coercive. We disagree. 
"Any claim that the jury was pressured into reaching 
a verdict depends on the particular circumstances of 
the case." ***638(People 1'. Pride (1992) 3 Ca1.4th 
195, 265, .10 Cal.Rpu'.2d 636. 833 P.2d 643.) In 
People V. Pride, addressing the admittedly distinct 
circumstance of a deadlocked penalty-phase jury, we 
explained that coercion was not present where the 
court did not comment on the vote; suggested that the 
status of the vote was irrelevant; did not tell the jury 
to reach a verdict within a particular period of time; 
and otherwise did not constrain the jury. ( 3 Cal. 4th 
at pp. 265-266, 10 Cal.Rptr.2d 636, 833 F.2d 643.) 
Here, similarly, the court explained that it did not 
wish to know Juror No. 8's personal vote, nor the 
votes of any other members of the jury, and did not 
constrain Juror No.8 or the jury except to require that 
the jury abide by the instructions given. 

More specifically, the court instructed Juror No. 
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8 that she could hot pennit her feelings of pity and 
sympathy fotdefendant to influence her deliberative 
process and directed her not to pennit "a particular 
personal event in [her] life ... to interfere with [her] 
objectivity in this case." It then directed her to 
resume deliberations. The court at no time suggested 
that it favored any particular verdict; indeed, it stated, 
"I am not and will not be asking you questions about 
how people are voting or how you are voting, one 
way _ or .the other. It doesn't make any difference to 
me." We conclude that neither the court's instruction 
to Juror No. 8 to follow tlie law, nor the court's. 
express statement that it did not wish to know the 
votes and that such knowledge made no difference, 
was coercive. As in People v, Pride. the court's 
instruction . that deliberations continue cannot be 
construed as coercive. **88(People V. Pride. supra. 3 
Cal.4th at.p.266. 10 Cal.Rpt\';2d 636,.833 P.2d 643.) . 

[21][221 Defendant makes a few final arguments 
without reference to any authOrity. He first contends 
the court's conunent to the foreperson, "I'll discuss 
with the attorneys if we have any recourse;" 
improperly invaded the secrecy of the jury's 
deliberations. He also suggests that tlle court's' 
colloquy with theforeperson was improper because 
the cbuitneither requested that thefeirepersori keep 
the exchange confidential, nor did the court holddre . 
conversation in *1253 front of the entire jury, as 
defendant contends it should have done had it 
intended that the conversation be public. None of 
these contentions has merit. The court's corn.ment to 
the foreperson that it would discuss With the 
attorneys how it wished to handle the allegations of 
misconduct raised against Jur.or No.8 was nothing 
more than an informative, offhand comment 
regarding the next step the court planned to take. It 
did not invade the secrecy of the deliberations in any 
way. Moreover, the court's decision not to hold the 
exchange between it and the foreperson before. the 
entire jury .was hot an abuse of its discretion. The 
sanctity of deliberations must be protected, and 
courts must act reasonably when inquiring about 
potential misconduct. (People V. Cleveland, supra, 25 
Ca1.4th at p. 476. 106 Ca1.Rptr.2d 313, 21 P~3d 
1225.) Conducting such an inquiry before the entire 
panel, rather than: . discreetly ·questioning the 
foreperson regarding alleged misconduct before 
taking further action, .arguably would be more 
intrusive and less reasonable than what occurred 
here. AccordiIlgly,. we conclude that tlle trial court 
did not abuse its discretion when it minimally 

intruded upon the deliberative process to qllestion the 
foreperson regarding an allegation of miscqnduct. 

Because we conclude that the trial court' did not 
err by questioning the foreperson or Juror'iNoF8, 
regarding allegations of misconduct, reversal is ;not 
warranted under either the harmless error' or the· 
reasonable probability standards proposed' by 
defendant. ***639CChapman V. California; .supra, 
386 u.s. 18,87 s.C!. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d305: Beaple V. 

Watson, supra. 46 Ca1.2d 818,299 P.2d 243.) 

4. Alleged Instructional Error on Consciousness Of 
Guilt Consistent with CA.UIC No. 2.03 : 

This claim concerns the inconsistencies iil 
defendant's and Brown's statements :regarding 
whether or not defendant told Brown that he planned' 
t6kill the officers. On the night ofthe'mtiideis, after 
firing several shots into the air, defendant refiirned to: 
the home he had shared with his wife and told Brown i 

that police were coming and that "he was going-to 
kill them" When asked whether he used those Weirds; 
Brown replied in the affrrn:iative~ Brown was Tat'er 
impeached on cross-examination when she was 
confronted with her earlier grand jury testimony that 
defendant told her only. that '~the police were coming 
and 'that he :[defendant] was going~down;11 :W;hile 
being cross-examined; Brown explained that when 
she gave her testimony beforethegra'nd jUFY sHe did 
not recall precisely J what defendant had said 
concerning his plans to kill the police officers;';but 
that the "gist" of defendant's comments was that ~!hi! 
was going to kill the cops." 

Immediately following his arrest, defendant 
agreed to be iirterViewed by Detective Spidle 
regarding the shootings. During that first interview', 
defendant told Detective Spidle that he "never 'told'" 
Brown that he planlu:d'to shoot *1254 the responding 
officers, and never said "anything abouiifthf! cops 
come I'm gonnashoot 'em." Detective Spidle 
returned the next day to continue defendant's 
interview, and asked defendant whether he recalled 
saying, " 'The cops are camin', I d()n'tcare1 I'll take 
them out too.' " Defendant replied that he ditlii't 
"remember saying that but it's very possible that I 
did, yes." -

Based on these inconsistent statements, tfle 
prosecutor asserted during dosing argument that the 
jury could "conclude that [defendant] was lying, [and 
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that] he did, in fact, threaten the police officers ... 
[and] did what he told [Brown] he was going to do. 
He was going to kill the cops. [f1 The judge is going 
to tell you that if you find that [defendant] lied to 
[Detective] Spidle you can use what is called a 
consciousness of guilt. He has something to hide." 

**89 The jury was instructed based on CALJIC 
No. 2.03, which currently and as given provides: "If 
you find that before this trial the defendant made a 
willfully false or deliberately misleading statement 
concerning the crimes for which he is now being 
tried, you may consider that statement as a 
circumstance tendmg to prove a consciousness of 
guilt. However, that conduct is not sufficient by itself 
to prove guilt, and its weight and significance, if any, 
are for you to decide." 

Defendant argues that the trial court eqoneously 
instructed on consciousness of guilt, and that the 
court's error in giving this instruction violated 
defendant'sSixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights 
under the United States Constitution, as well as his 
rights pursuant to article L sections 7, .u, and 16 of 
the California Constitution. Defendant primarily 
argues that the court erred in instructing the jury 
pursuant to CALJIC No. 2.03 because there was 
insufficient evidence supporting the instruction. 
Defendant also contends that the instruction 
permitted the jury to draw an improper inference 
concerning defendant's intent in committing the 
shootings, and contends that the instruction is 
impermissibly argumentative. For the reasons 
explained below, we reject each of defendant's 
contentions. 

[23][24] Defendant first contends that no 
evidence supported instructing the jury pursuant to 
CALJIC No. 2.03. Defendant argues that his initial 
responses to Detective***640 Spidle's questions as to 
whether he told Brown he planned to harm the 
officers, namely, "I never told [Brown] that" and 
"No," do not constitute sufficient evidence of a false 
or deliberately misleading statement to explain his 
conduct. CALJIC No. 2.03 is properly given when 
there exists evidence that a defendant made a 
deliberately misleading or false statement to explain 
his or her conduct. (See People v. Page (2008) 44 
Ca1.4th L 50-51. 79 Cal.Rptr.3d 4, 186 P.3d 395.) 
Here, defendant argues that his initial denial to 
Detective Spidle that he told Brown that he planned 

to harm the officers and *1255 his later equivocation 
regarding the same statement "cannot reasonably be 
considered a prefabricated story to explain his 
conduct" because even if his earlier statement to 
Detective Spidle was untrue, the statement does not 
demonstrate defendant's consciousness of guilt. 
Defendant does not dispute that he made inconsistent 
statements regarding whether he told Brown he 
planned to kill the officers, from which a jury could 
conclude that at least one of the statements was 
untrue. "The jury could rationally infer that defendant 
made a false statement to deflect suspicion from 
himself." (People v. Ban/well (2007) 41 Ca1.4th 
1038, 1057, 63 Cal.Rptr.3d 82, 162 P.3d 596.) 
Accordingly, the trial court did not err by instructing 
the jury pursuant to CALJIC No. 2.03. 

Moreover, we conclude that ample additional 
evidence was presented justifying the court's decision 
to instruct the jury pursuant to CALJIC No. 2.03. In 
addition to the inconsistent statements regarding 
defendant's stated intent to harm the officers, the 
prosecution suggests that CALJIC No. 2.03 would 
have been appropriately given to the jury to consider 
the conflicting evidence that defendant initially 
planned to sneak past the officers as they approached 
and his later decision to TIll in the opposite direction; 
and defendant's statement to Brown that he planned 
to "take out" the officers, and defendant's later 
testimony that he intended only to shoot in front of 
the officers to scare but not to injure them. Ample 
evidence of defendant's potentially false or 
deliberately misleading statements was presented; 
accordingly, the trial court did not err by instructing 
the jury with CALJIC No. 2.03. 

Defendant also contends that his inconsistent 
statements do not demonstrate that he was "being 
willfully false in any meaningful way." Defendant 
relies on People v.Martson (1990) 50 CaL3d 826, 
872. 268 Cal.Rptr. 802. 789 P.2d 983, in which we 
noted that the inference of consciousness of guilt and 
the probative value of a denial are "tenuous" where a 
defendant initially denies but later confesses to 
committing a crime. Defendant argues that the 
connection between the inconsistent statements here 
is even more tenuous. We disagree. 

We recently clarified our earlier statement in 
People \.. Mattson, explaining: "The fact that a 
defendant initially denies involvement and later 
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makes admissions certainly supports**90 a 
conclusion that the earlier statement was a lie made 
to avoid detection or culpabilitY. Even when a 
defendant confesses, his or her state of mind· or other 
details of a crime may remain in dispute. The fact' 
that it defendant initially denied culpabiHtY and later 
made admissions are relevant facts, which must be 
weighed 'in . light of all the evidence." (People v. 
Carrington (2009) 47 Cal.4th 145, 188, 97 
Cal.Rptr.3d 117, 211P.3d 617 (Carrington ).) Here, 
as in Carrington.\'defen.dant admitted [his] role in ... 
ilie crimes," but his " coUnsel continued to 
dispute*1256 [his] state of mind.'? (Ibid.) We found 
no error in Carrington. and reach the same 
conclusion here. Although defendant did notitiitially 
deny culpabilitY and later recant, his inconsistent 
statements ***641 concerning his intent to harm the 
respondirig officers, like the inconsistent statements 
in Carrington, "certainly support[ ] a conclusion that 
the earlier statement Was a lie made to avoid 
detection or culpabilitY." (Ibid.) 

Defendant argues that. instructing the 'jury 
pursuant to CALJICNo. 2.03 allowedthe·jury'to 
improperly infer guilt from evidence thatdthei'wise 
would not have properly been susceptible of such an 
infer~nce, and that the mstruction was impeifuisslbly 
argUinentative. Deferidant acknowledges· that, we 
have repeatedly rejected these claims an.d prese'nts us 
with no reason' to reconsider oui earlier . deCisions. 
(See People v.McWhorter (2009) 47 Ca1.4th 318, 
377, 97 Cal.RptJ:.3d 412. 212 P.3d 692; Carriilgton, 
supra, 47 Cal:4th at p,188, 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 117, 211 
P.3d 617.) 

U2l Defendant argues that the court's error in 
instructing the jury pursilant to CALJIC No. 2,03 
requires reversal because it cannot oedemonsrriited: 
that the error was harmless beyond a rea.sorta:ble 
doubt pursuant to CI7apman v. Califorilia, supra: 386 
U,S.at page 24, 87 S.Ct, 824. In light of de fetid ant's 
numerous taped confessions, we conclude that eitor-i 
if any, in instructing the jury pursuant to CAbJIC No, 
2,03 was harmless. . . 

5. Alleged i1fstructional Error That jury Need Not 
Agree Whether Defendant Committed ci Premeditated 

Murder or Lying-in-wait Murder 
nMendantcontends that the trial court's failure 

to require that the jury 'unanimouslyctecide which 
statutory form of firsfdegree murder he corilriIitted-'---

deliberate and premeditated 'or by lying in wait""T 
violated his rights under the state arid fedetal 
Constitutions to due process, to have the state 
establish proof of murder beyond. a reasonable doubt, 
and to a reliable determination of whether'ihei, 
committed a., capital offense. ,As defendant. 
ackD.owledges, we have previously considered and 
rejected such claims. (See People v. Nakahara (2003) 
30 CaL 4th 705, 712, 134 Cal.Rptr.2d 223, 68P.3d 
1190; People v. Hardv supm, 2 ,Cal.4th at p. ·162,,5. 
CaLRptr.2d 796, 825 P .2d 781.) III Schad .v~ .. Ar.izona 
(1991) 501. U.S. 624, .636, III S.Ct.· 2491,. 115 
LEd.2d 555, the high court held that a jury need I10~ 
unanimously decide the theory oLm1.Jfder, ,felony or 
malice, upon which it based its guilt)r verdict, 
because those theories are not distinct elements of¢e 
crime but are instead merelyq distinc~mel.lIl,S of 
committing the offense. Defendant urges "us to 
distinguish Schad v. AriZ077a: we declhle to do so. 

'UQl Defendant argues that lying-in-~ait murder 
requites proof of different' elements t4,an.; for, 
deliberate and premeditated murder, and a~cordinglY: 
*1257 requires that a jury unanimouslyde~ide o;n;,the 
theory underlying its fIrst degree murder verdict. To 
support his argument, defendant. relies on two high, 
court cases, both of which apdress ,th~ Jeg~l 
significance of distinguishing between elemen~s, of a 
crime and the means of committing .a~rimfh,(Schad 
v. Arizona, supra, 501 U.S, at p. 637, 1 HcS.Ct. 2491; 
Richard5·onv .. United States (l999}·526 U.S •. 813, 
817, 119 S.Ct.,.1707, 143· L.Ed.2d 985.) The 
significance of the distinction between the eleIpep.~,s 
of a crime and the means of its commission is not lost 
on this court; however, defendant fails to cit,e, any 
authority suggesting that deliberate and premeditated 
murder has elements distinct from lying-in-wait 
IPurder. Indeed, as the Peopl,e point out, defeIlqant's 
contention is erroneous. We ~o.nsidered andiejecteQ 
a similar argument in People v .. Hardv .. in which we 
concluded ''[t]his court .. ; views lying in walt 'as the 
functiollal equivalent of proof of premedItation, 
deliberation **91 and intent to ***642 'kill.' " 
(People v. Hard". ~·ltp~a .. 2Ca1.4th. at .Pd 162, 5 
Cal.RptT.2d 796, 8'25 P,ld 781, quoting,De0J2le v. 
Ruiz .. supra, 44 Ca1.3d at p, 614, 244 Cal.Rptr.200, 
749P.2d 854.).BecauselyiI,lgin wait and deliberate 
and premeditated theories of murder are, simpJ;y 

~ ,- a ',,. J l 

different means of committing the same crime, juror 
,unanimitY ,!IS tp th.e theory underlying .jts guHtY 
verdict is not required; Defendant presents us with,I1o 
compelling reason to reconsider oUr sound prior 
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reasoning to that effect. 

Finally, defendant argues that the trial court's 
erroneous failure to require juror unanmllty 
constituted structural error requiring reversal of the 
entire judgment. (Sllllivan V. Louisiana (1993) 508 
U.S. 275, 282. 113 S.Ct. 2078. 124 L.Ed.2d 182.) 
Because we find no error, structural or otherwise, 
reversal is not warranted. 

B. Penalty Retrial 
1. Allegedly Erroneous Denial of Defendant's Motion 

to Admit His Recorded Statements to Police 
Defendant argues that the court's denial of his 

request to introduce, as evidence of the circumstances 
of the crime and of his character and background, the 
three videotaped statements he made to police 
following his arrest viol~ted his rights to due process 
'and a fair and reliable penalty determination under 
the state and federal Constitutions, as well as section 
190.3, factors (a) and (k):FN4 Defendant concedes that 
the statements constitute hearsay but nonetheless 
argues that they were admissible under Green V. 

Georgia (1979) 442 U.S. 95, 99 S.Ct. 2150, 60 
L.Ed.2d 738 (Green) because *1258 the evidence 
waS reliable and highly relevant, and its exclusion 
violates defendant's right to due process. Defendant 
'also argues that the tapes were admissible character 
evidence as nonhearsay or as exceptions to the 
hearsay exclusion. The trial court concluded that the 
statements were relevant to the issues of lingering 
doubt and defendant's alleged remorse, but that they 
were self-serving statements and therefore umeliable 
, and inadmissible. 

FN4: Section 190.3, provides in pertinent 
part that "the trier of fact shall take into 
account" "(a) [t]he circumstances of the 
crime of which the defendant was convicted 
in the present proceeding and the existence 
of any special circumstances found to be 
true pursuant to Section 190.1," and "(k) 
[a]ny other circumstance which extenuates 
the gravity of the crime even though it is not 
a legal excuse for the crime." (§ 190.3, 
factors (a), (k).) 

[27J At the guilt phase, the taped statements were 
introduced by the prosecution as party admissions 
pursuant to Evidence Code section 1 no. Defendant 
suggests that because the prosecution introduced the 

statements during the guilt phase of the trial, it must 
be precluded from objecting to introduction of those 
same statements in a penalty retrial. During the 
penalty retrial, the prosecution did not seek to 
introduce the taped statements, and defendant was 
not able to avail himself of Evidence Code section 
1220 because that provision applies only to 
statements offered against a party declarant, not 
offered by that party. (Evid.Code, § 1220.) Defendant 
argued that the statements were relevant and 
admissible as evidence concerning the circumstances 
of the crime and as mitigating evidence, and were 
admissible pursuant to section 190.3, factors (a) and 
(k). The prosecution argued that the statements 
should be excluded, even if relevant, because th~y 
were unreliable, self-serving hearsay. The prosecutor 
argued that the statements were made nearly 12 hours 
following the shootings and over four hours after 
defendant's arrest-not immediately following 
defendant's being made aware of the officers' deaths. 
The prosecution also ***643 noted that defendant 
initially did not want to speak with law enforcement 
officers, and that his eventual statements were 
inconsistent with the physical evidence and lacked 
corroboration. ' 

In Green. the high court held that due process 
requires that highly relevant mitigating evidence may 
be introduced, though hearsay, where "substantial 
reason,s existed to assume its reliability." (Green. 
supra, 442 U.S. at p. 97, 99 S.O. 2150.) Here, no 
indicia of reliability are present. Defendant's self­
serving statements concerning the circumstances of 
the crime were uncorroborated; indeed, the physical 
evidence suggests that defendant's account of the 
shootings was false. For example, defendant **92 
claimed that he aimed several yards in front of the 
officers, but the physical evidence suggested that the 
bullet wounds could not have been the result of 
ricochet. The statement in Green, in contrast, was a 
corroborated confession of the codefendant sufficient 
to produce a conviction and capital sentence for that 
codefendant. (Ibid,) We conclude that the trial court 
did not err by concluding that the statements, though 
relevant, were not as highly reliable as was the 
statement in Green. 

Defendant attempts to distinguish several cases 
in which we concluded that taped statements made by 
a defendant could not be introduced for their truth 
during the penalty phases of the trial. (See 
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*1259People i;. Jurado (2006) 38 Ca1.4th72. 128-
130. 41 Ca1.Rptr.3d 319. 131 P.3d 400: People v, 
Weaver (2001) 26 Ca1.4th 876. 980-981, 111 
Cal.Rptr.2d 2. 29 P .3d 103: People v. Stanley (1995) 
10 Cillo4th 764. 838-840. 42 Ca1.Rptr.2d 543. 897 
P .2d 481.) In each of the cases cited by defendant, we 
concluded that the trial court did not err under Green 
when it exCluded, or provided limiting instructions 
concerning, self-serving statements sought to be 
introduced by the defendants dliring the penalty 
phases of their trials. (See People 1'. Jurado, supra, 
38 Ca1.4th at pp. 128-130.41 Ca1.Rptr.3d 319, 131 
P.3d 400; People 1', Weaver, supra. 26 Ca1.4th atpp. 
980-981, 111 Ca1.Rptr.2d 2, 29 P.3d 103: People v. 
Stanley, supra. 10 Ca1.4th at pp.838-840. 42 
Ca1.Rptr.2d 543. 897 P.2d 481.) Defendant contends 
that his case is distinguishable because his statements 
were introduced during theg'lliltphase of his trial; but' 
exCluded at the penalty phase. We see no distinction; 
in all instances, the trial courts reasonably concluded 
that the due process considerations underlying the 
high court's decision to permit the introduction of 
highly reliable, relevant evidence in Green were not 
present in these cases involving self~serving, 

uncorroborated statements made by defendants. (See 
People 1'. Jurado. supra, 38 Culo4th at pp. 128-130, 
41 Cal.Rptr.3d319. 131 P.3d 400: People v. Weaver. 
supm. 26 Ca1.4th at PP. 980-981. 111 Cal.Rptr.2d 2. 
29 P.3d 103; People v. Stanley; supra, 10 CalAth at 
pp; 838-840.42 CalRpl1'.2d 543. 897 P.2d 481.) 

[28J We also reject defendant's contention that 
there exists an independent state law basis to 
introduce his videotaped statements. Defendant 
argues that this court possesses the inherent authority 
to recognize exceptions to the hearsay rule, though he 
aclmowledges that we "do so cautiously in light of 
the venerable policy against admitting declarations 
by witnesses who cannot be cross-examined." 
(People v. Deinethtlias (2006) 39 Ca1.4th1,27, 45 
Cu1.Rptr.3d 407, 137 P.3d 229.) Defendant suggests 
that the reliability of his statements, coupled wIth the 
fact that the' statements were introduced at the guilt 
phase of his trial, compels this court to recognizthi 
narrow exception to the hearsay rule. We disagree. 
As previously explained, the statements ate ·self­
serving and uncorroborated by physical evidence; 
defendant ***644 ,presents us with no reason to 
ignore our admonition to proceed cautiously when 
recognizing exceptions to the, hearsay rule. 

J12l Defendant also contends th~uhe court ,PlUSt 
read sections 190.3 and 19004 in conjunction, to 
require, that statements introduced by thepro&yc'ution 
during the guilt phase of a trial must be introduced at 
the penalty phase of a trial if the defense so reg~le~t~. 
Not so. A plain readiI].g of section 19004 reve~is ,the 
flaw of this argument. Section 19004, subdivision (d) 
provides in pertinent part: "In any case in which the 
defendant may be subject to the death penalty,' 
evidence presented at any prior phase of the trial... . 
shall be considered at any subsequent phase of the 
trial, if the trier of fact of the prior pHase is the same 
trier of fact at the subsequent phase. " (Jtalicsadded.) 
The corollary of this rule is plain-where the trler of 
fact at a subsequent phase of a trial is not thes~tPe as 
th~ trier of fact at a previous phase, it is not the case 
that evidence presented at that prior phase "shall b~, 
considered'; at the *1260 subsequfait phase. The same' 
evidence certainly may be considered, but, to be 
considered, that evidence must be admissible. As 
explained, ante, the videotaped statements were 
inadmissible hearsay evidence, and no exception 
permitting their admission applies. 

J1Ql Finally, defendant suggests that his 
nonverbal conduct on the tapes wascharll,yteI;**.93 
evidence of his remorse admissible under section 
190.3, factor (k). The People argue that defendant 
forfeited this claim by failing to arguein the bri~fWg. 
or argument before the trial court that he sought to 
introduce the ,nonassertive con9uct on .the t~pes as 
mitigating character evidenc~. Assuming wit):1out 
deciding that the argllment is not forfeited. and is 
meritorious, any error was hannless. Detective Spidle 
testified regarding defendant's emotiomil state while 
defendant maqe the statements. Detective Spidle 
noted that he used the word "remorse" in his report, 
though he believed it wQuld. be more. accllrate to say 
that defendant felt regret. Detective Spidle also 
explained that defendant was initially cooperative 
with the police, showing them where he had hidden 
the gun. Upon learning that the officers were dead, 
Detective Spidle testified that defendant became 
teary eyed and visibly emotional. We conclude that 
. defe;ndant was able to, and did,' present evidence of 
remorse; any error in failing to. admit t4e nonassertive 
conduct contained in defendant's taped statements 
was hannless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Chapman 
F. California, supra. 3860.s. at p. :24. 87 S.O. 824.) 

2. Allegedly Erroneous Excusal of Prospective Ju;ors 
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Defendant argues that the trial court erroneously 
excused seven prospective jurors prior to voir dire. 
based upon their answers to jury questionnaires in 
violation of his rights to a fair trial, due process, and 
a reliable penalty determination under the state and 
federal Constitutions. For the' reasons addressed 
below, we reject defendant's claim. 

The trial court and the parties discussed and 
agreed upon the language of the penalty retrial jury 
questionnaires. Prior to conducting voir dire, the 
court informed the parties that it had reviewed all of 
the completed jury questionnaires and had made a 
tentative ruling as to about 25 prospective jurors, 
which it reviewed with the parties. The court 
explained that it wished to "solicit any opposition 
from counsel" before it excused the jurors, and 
ensure that the parties had "an opportunity to be 
heard." The court then proceeded in numeric order to 
discuss the jurors about whom it had concerns or "red 
flags" based upon the answers in the jury 
questionnaires. ***645 On a number of occasions, 
either defense counselor the prosecutor indicated his 
desire for the court to conduct further inquiry of the 
prospective juror at issue, which the court agreed to 
do. 

*1261 The court stated the remalmng 
prospective jurors should be dismissed immediately, 
to which defense counsel replied "no objection" or 
"submit it." Defendant now contends that seven 
prospective jurors were rejected because their 
responses to the questionnaires suggested some 
objection to the death penalty, which violated the 
Witherspoon- WitT rule that a prospective juror 
opposed to the death penalty may only be excused 
when that juror's views would " 'prevent or 
substantially impair the performance of his duties. as 
a juror in accordance with his instructions and his 
oath.' " (Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412, 
424. 105 S.C!. 844. 83 LEd.2d 841: see Witherspoon 
V. Illinois (968) 391 U.S. 510. 88 S.C!. 1770, 20 
LEd.2d 776.2 

[31] The People argue that defendant invited any 
error by agreeing with the questions posed in the 
questionnaire and agreeing to the excusal of the 
seven prospective jurors. Assuming without deciding 
that error was not invited and the claim is not 
forfeited, we conclude that the court did not err by 
excusing the seven prospective jurors opposed to the 

death penalty. We review de novo a trial court's 
decision to excuse a prospective juror based solely 
upon that juror's written response to a questionnaire. 
(People 1'. Avila (2006) 38 Ca1.4th 491, 529, 43 
Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 133 P.3d 1076.) In People V. Avila. we 
concluded that a trial court's excusal of four 
prospective jurors based solely upon their written 
responses to the jury questionnaire was proper 
because the jurors' responses demonstrated an 
inability to perform their duties as jurors. ( 38 Ca1.4th 
at pp. 529-533. 43 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 133 P.3d 1076.) 
People v. Avila distinguished our decision in People 
v. Stewart. in which we held that the trial court erred 
by excusing for cause five prospective jurors based 
upon their answers to a jury questionnaire that asked 
whether the prospective juror's views on the death 
penalty would prevent or make it very difficult**94 
for him or her to impose the penalty. (People v. 
Stewart (2004) 33 Ca1.4th 4/5, 442, 444-445. 15 
Cal.Rptr.3d 656, 93 P .3d 271; People 1'. Avila, supra. 
38 Ca1.4th at p. 530, 43 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 133 P.3d 
1076.) Based on the "make it very difficult" language 
in the questionnaire, we concluded in People V. 

Stewart that it was not possible to ascertain whether a 
juror's response supported disqualification under the 
Wainwright v. WitT standard requiring that such 
person's views on the death penalty would prevent or 
substantially impair that person's ability to perform 
his or her duties. (People v. Stewart. supra. 33 
CalAth at pp. 444-445. 15 Cal.Rptr.3d 656, 93 P.3d 
271: Wainwright 1'. Witt. supra, 469 U.S. at p. 424. 
105 S.C!. 844.) . 

Here, the questions' did not suffer from the same 
deficiency present in People v. Stewart; the questions 
probed whether a prospective juror would experience 
difficulty imposing the death penalty, but also very 
directly asked whether a juror would "always" vote 
for or against the death penalty no matter what the 
evidence demonstrated. From a prospective juror's 
responses, it was possible to ascertain whether that 
juror would automatically vote for or against the 
death penalty, and thus whether that juror would be 
prevented *1262 from performing his or her duty. 
(See Wainwright ].. Witt. supra. 469 U.S. at p. 424. 
105 S.O. 844.) Defendant attacks each of the 
questions individually but fails to consider that, 
considered collectively, the questions here, like those 
in People v. Avila, "included ... expansive and 
detailed***646 questions on capital pWlishment and 
gave jurors the clear opportunity to disclose views 
against it so strong as to disqualify them for duty on a 
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death penalty case." (People V. Avila, supra, 38 
Cal.4th atp. 531, 43 Cal.Rptr.3d 1. 133 P.3d 1076.) 

Defendant argues that the questionnaires 
inadequately queried whether the prospective jurors' 
views regarding the death penalty would interfere 
with the requirement that jurors follow the law. We 
disagree. As was also the case in People v. Avila, the 
responses to questions posed to prospective jurors 
here suggest that the court properly excused the 
prospective jurors for cause "based solely on [their] 
answers to the written questionnaire [because] it is 
clear from, the answers that [the prospective jurors 
are] unwilling to temporarily set aside [their] ,oWn 
beliefs and follow the law:" (People V. Avila, supra, 
38 Cal. 4th at p. 531. 43 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 133 P.3d 
1076.) "With respect to each of these excusals; we 
cOhclude thatthetrialcourtig determinations, based 
solely on the questionnaire responses, were correct." 
([bid.) 

[32] Defendant challenges the court's excusalof 
Prospective Juror R.D., explaining that R,D.'s 
responses were not "clear, unequivocal, and 
internally consistent," as were the responses of the 
prospective juror in People v. Avila. R.V., who had 
"indicated she strongly opposed the death penait)r and 
would in every case automatically vote for life 
imprisonment without the possibility of parole, 
regardless of the evidence that might be produced 
during trial." (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 
531. 43 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 133 P.3d 1076.) We conclude 
Prospectiye Juror R.D.'s responses were analogous to 
those of Prospective Juror R.V. discussed in People 
v. Avila. When asked if there existed "any religious 
or moral feeling that would make it difficult or 
impossible for you to sit in judgment of another' 
person," R.D. responded thathe was "against capital 
punishment," and went on to explain that he'would 
"not always" follow the law if it differed from his 
beliefs, that his "no on capital punishment" feeiings 
might prevent him from being a fair' and impartial 
juror, that he "strongly opposed" the death penalty, 
and that "no matter what: the evidence was, [he 
would] AL WAYS vote [against] FN5 the death 
penalty." 

FN5. Although Prospective Juror R.D. 
ticked the box indicating he would always 
vote for the "death penalty" regardless of 
what the evidence showed, the remainder of 

his responses to questions posed in the jury 
questionnaire made it .clear that he marked 
the wrong box, and instead intended to 
respond that he would always vote for life 
imprisonment. Defendant argues Prospective 
Juror R,D . .'s erroneous box-ticking; -iil· 
conjunction with his other responses, 
"created a conflict and ambiguity which 
needed to be resolved tJvough voir d,ire." 
We disagree, and conclude that ,Prospective 
Juror R.D.'s one response favo~able" to 
capital punishment resulted frqm.,! II 
misreading of the question, not from an 
ambiguous position toward that penalty, 

95[34] *1263 Sirnihlrly,the responses provided 
by Prospective Jurors ML., J.Q., and T.T.were, 
internally consistent, and demonstrated that tlie court 
properly excused these prospective jurors based 
solely upon their written responses to, the 
questionnaire. Prospective Juror M.L. indicated that, 
he would ''probably'' follow the' law as the judge 
instructed, but that he was '~not absolutely certain 
[he] would." He clarified, "I am strongly opposed to. 
the death, penalty," and stated he '.~simply would not 
vote for" death, and that no matter the evidence, he 
would "AL WAYS vote for life without the 
possibility of parole." Prospective Juror J.Q.'s 
responses to the questionnaire;alsounambimouslY. 
demonstrated "unwilling [ ness 1 . to temporarily set 
aside ... her own beliefs and ***647 followtheJaw,.'~ 
(People v. Avila. sum·a. 38 Cal.4that p. 531, 43 
Cal.Rptr.3d 1. 133 P,3d 1 076.) S~e explaipecl, thatshe: 
waS "strongly against" the death penalty, that "God 
alone controls our life or death," that the d~ath 
penalty serves ,no purpose, and that she would 
"ALWAYS vote for life without the possibility,pf 
parole." 

U2l As in People v.'Avila. althoughPrbspectiv,e 
Juror T.T. responded "yes" when queried whether he 
would follow the law as instructed even if ;those 
instructions differed from his beliefs or opinions, 
"taken together, [T.T.'s] answers to the jury 
questionnaire professed an opposition to the death 
penalty that would prevent ,him from perfof1I)inghis 
duties as a juror." (People)/; Avila. supra, 38 Cal.4th 
at p. 532. 43 Cal.Rptr.3d, 1. 133 P3d 107,6;} 
Prospective, Juror T.T, ,stated he "could not condelJlIl 
a person to receive the death pel1alty" under)P!TY 
circumstance " (italics added), that he s1;!:oIlgly 
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opposed the death penalty, and that he would always 
vote for a life sentence. In light of those answers, the 
trial court did not err by excusing him for cause 
based solely upon his responses to the questionnaire. 

Defendant argues that although the responses by 
Prospective Jurors M.G., D.F., and S.O. were not 
internally inconsistent, the court should have 
questioned them because they might have held more 
nuanced views regarding the death penalty than their 
written responses to the questionnaire suggested. We 
disagree. Prospective Juror M.G. expressed a view 
strongly against the death penalty, stating, "I am 
against the death penalty," "[m]y religion does not 
allow me to pass judgment, especially in this case," 
and explaining he could never vote for death because 
he "could not be forgiven." Prospective Juror D.F.'s 
responses were also unequivocally anti-death­
penalty; he explained he did "not believe in taking a 
human life for any reason," and twice indicated his 
strong opposition to abortion on the same grounds. 
Finally, Prospective Juror S.O. consistently indicated 
a strong anti-death-penalty view, explaining, "I could 
not stand being responsible for someone's death." We 
conclude the court did not err by excusing these 
seven prospective jurors based solely on their clear 
and unequivocal written responses to the 
questionnaire. 

*1264 Because we fmd that the court did not err, 
automatic. reversal is not required. (Orav v. 

Mississippi (1987) 481 U.S. 648, 659-668, 107 S.Ct. 
2045. 95 L.Ed.2d 627 (lead opn. of Blackmun, J.); 
People v. Stewart. supra. 33 Ca1.4th at pp. 454-455. 
15 Cal.Rptr.3d 656, 93 P.3d 271.) 

3. Allegedly Improper Introduction oj Victim Impact 
Evidence 

Defendant argues that the presentation of victim 
impact evidence at his penalty retrial violated section 
190.3, Evidence Code section 352, and his state and 
federal constitutional rights to due process, a fair 
trial, and a reliable penalty determination. 
Specifically, defendant contends that evidence 
concerning the character of the victims was excessive 
and partially inadmissible, that testimony of the 
victims' children was cumulative and prejudicial, that 
VIctIm impact evidence was irrelevant or 
inadmissible under Evidence Code section 352, and 
that character evidence elicited from one victim's 
daughter violated Booth 1'. Marvland's prohibition 

against the admission of certain VIctIm impact 
statements. (Booth v. Man'land (1987) 482 U.S. 496, 
503.508, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440. overruled 
in part by Payne v. Tennessee (1991) 501 U.S. 808. 
825. 111 S.Ct. 2597. 115 L.Ed.2d 720.) We fmd no 
error. 

**96 Deputy Lehmann's wife testified about the 
impact of her husband's death on her and her 
children. His daughter testified about the fear she 
experienced as a result of her father's death. Deputy 
Lehmann's father-in-law spoke about Deputy 
Lehmann's***648 kind nature. Deputy Lehmann's 
brother-in-law testified regarding the devastating 
impact of the officer's death on his. son, Christopher, 
and about Christopher's destructive behavior 
following his father's death. Deputy Lehmann's 
mother testified about the heart attack she suffered 
just weeks after her son was killed. 

Deputy Haugen's wife testified regarding her 
relationship with her husband, and testified as to the 
impact of his death on her and her children. Deputy 
Haugen's niece testified about her correspondence 
with her uncle. Deputy Haugen's son testified about 
grieving for his father, and the changes to his family 
following his father's death. Omar Rodriguez 

. described the reaction of Deputy Haugen's family 
when he informed them that Deputy Haugen had 
been killed. In addition to the testimony described 
above, 57 images of the victims and their families 
were introduced into evidence. 

[36J As we have repeatedly held, victim impact 
evidence is relevant and admissible pursuant to 
section 190.3, factor (a) as a circumstance of the 
crime so long as it is not "so unduly prejudicial" that 
it renders the trial "fundamentally unfair." (Payne v .. 
Tennessee. supra. 501 U.S. at p. 825,111 S.Ct. 2597: 
see People v. Burney (2009) 47 Cal.4th 203. 258, 97 
Cal.Rptr.3d 348, 212 P.3d 639; see *1265 also 
People v. Lewis and Oliver (2006) 39 Ca1.4th 970. 
1056-1057. 47 Cal.Rptr.3d 467. 140 P.3d 775.) 
Admission of testimony presented by a few close 
friends or relatives of each victim, as well as images 
of the victim while he or she was alive, has 
repeatedly been held constitutionally permissible. 
(People v. Burne",., supra. 47 Ca1.4th at p. 258, 97 
Cal.Rptr.3d 348. 212 P.3d 639; People v. Bo)'ette 
(2002) 29 Ca1.4th 381. 444. 127 Cal.Rptr.2d 544.58 
P.3d 391.) 

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. . .:~ 



242 P .3d 68 . Page 34 
50 CalAth 1228, 242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 10 Cal. Daily Op. Servo 14,306,2010 Daily Journal D.A.R. 
17,287 
(Cite as: 50 Cal.4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d,615) 

[37][38] Here, a few relatives of each victim 
testified concerning the character of the victims and 
the impact of their deaths upon their f~milies. 

Defeildant's' argument that evidence regarding the 
victims' characters was excessive and irrelevant is 
unavailing. Evidence regarding the character of the 
victim is admissible to demonstrate how a victim's 
family is impacted by the loss and to show the " 
'victim's "uniqueness as an individual human being," 
whatever the jury might think the loss to the 
community resulting from his death might be.' " 
(People v. Brown (2004) 33 Cal.4th 382, 398. 15 
Cal.Rptr.3d 624. 93 P.3d 244. citing Payne v. 
Tenlzessee. supra, 501 U.S. at p. 823. 111 S.Ct. 
2597.) 

[39][40][41] Though the victims' wives did 
testify about the impact of their husbands' deaths on 
their families, we reject defendant's claims that the 
victims' children Were precluded from providing 
testimony regarding their personal experiences 
resulting from the deaths of their fathers. (See People 
v; Panlih (2005) 35 Cal.4th 395. 495, 25 Cal.Rptr.3d 
672. 107 P.3d 790 ["There is no requirement that 
family members confme their testimony about the 
impact of the Victim's. death to themselves, omitting 
mention of other family members."]') Testimony 
. provided by Deputy Lehmann's mother and daughter 
was similarly admissible because it was not so 
prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally 
unfair. (Payne v. Tennessee, supra, 501D.S. at p. 
825. 111 S.Ct. 2597.) Assuming without deciding 
that any of the victim impact testimony was 
erroneously admitted, any error was harmless beyond 
a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming 
evidence in aggravation. (Chapman V. California, 
supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24,87 S.Ct. 824.) 

4. Alleged Instructional Error Regarding Use of 
Victim Impact Evidence 

[42] Defendant alleges that the trial court erred 
by denying his request to instruct the jury concerning 
victim impact ***649 evidence, and erred by failing 
to instruct the jury sua sponte regarding victim 
impact evidence, in violation of his state and federal 
constitutional rights to due process, a fair **97 trial, 
and a reliable penalty determination.FN6 We recently 
held in *1266Carrington. SUpra, 47 Ca1.4th at page 
198.97 Cal.Rptr.3d 117,211 P.3d 617, that the trial 
court need not have instructed the jury sua sponte 

concerning the use of victim impact evidence. In 
Carrington, the defendant did not request an 
instruction, but argued on appeal that the;Court should 
have instructed the jury sua,sponte eonsistent 'With an 
instruction proposed but not mandated by the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Co~. (Ibid,) /I1;le defet;ldant 
in Carrington argued that "raw emotion" would 
taint the jury absent an instruction ~o~cerning iti> 
consideration of victim impact evidence; we reject~d 
the defendant's argument, concluding that CALJIC 
No. 8.85 adequately conveyed ~o the jury its' duty,' 
that emotion may play a part in a juror's 
determination and an instruction to the contrary 
would be erroneous, and that an instruction 
explaining that the law does not deem one life' Illo~e 
valuable than another does :p.othing to clarify the, 
jury's understanding of the case. (Carrington,. supra" 
47 Ca1.4th at p. 198, 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 117. 21 IP.3d 
617.) 

FN6. Defendant's requested instruction 
provided: "Evidence has been introduced for 
the purpose of showing the specific; harm 
caused by the defendant's crime., Such 
evidence, if believed, was not received and 
may not be considered by you to dive,rt your 
attention from your proper role of. deciding 
whether defendant should live or . die. You 
must face this obligation soberly and 
rationally, and yol,lmay not impose the 
ultimate sanction as a result of an irratipn~l, 
purely subjective response to emotiom~l 

evidence and argument. On the other hand, 
evidence and argument on emotion~l though 
relevant subjects may provide legitimate 
reasons to sway the jury to show mercy." 

In People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal. 4th 31 O. 358~ 
359. 33 Cal.Rptr.3d 509,118 P .3d 545. and People v. 
Ochoa (2001) 26 Ca1.4th 398, 445; 110Cal.Rptr.2d 
324. 28 P .3d . 78, two cases defendant 'at(empts to 
distinguish, we concluded .that the trial court did not 
err by refusing to provide an instruction similar t,o the 
Ol1e requested by defendant here. In People. v. Han'is, 
we explained that the requested instruction was 
"unclear as to whose emotional reaction it directed 
tM jurors to consider with caution-that of ¢..e 
victim's family or the jurOl:s' own." (People v. Han~is, 
supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p. 359. 33 Cal.Rpn·.3d 509.118 
P.3d 545.) Defendant's requested instrul;:tion here 
suffers from the same, defect. 
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[43] Defendant argues that People V. Harris is 
distinguishable because the trial court in Harris 
provided the jury with an instruction concerning 
victim impact evidence requested by the prosecution, 
and no such instruction was provided here. In People 
v. Ochoa, however, we concluded that the jury was 
adequately instructed pursuant to CALJIC No. 
8.84.1. (Peoplev. Ochoa. supra. 26 Ca1.4th 398. 455. 
110 Cal.Rptr.2d 324. 28 P.3d 78.) Just as in People V. 

Ochoa. the jury here was given an instruction broadly 
cautioning it to determine the facts from the evidence 
presented,to follow the law, and to avoid being 
swayed by bias or prejudice against defendant. (See 
CALJIC No. 8.84.1.) We have consistently 
concluded that neither the trial court's refusal to 
provide a victim impact evidence instruction worded 
similarly to defendant's proposed instruction, nor the 
trial court's refusal to sua sponte provide a similar 
instruction, constitutes error. Defendant presents us 
with no reason to reconsider our prior holdings. 

*12675. Alleged fnstructional Error Regarding 
Uncharged Acts as Aggravating Factors 

[44] Defendant claims the court erred by 
admitting evidence of uncharged crimes ***650 as an 
aggravating factor under section 190.3, factor (b) 
without instructing the jury sua sponte that the 
commission of uncharged crimes under section 
190.3, factor (b) must be proven beyond a reasonable 
doubt pursuant to People v: Robertson (1982) 33 
Ca1.3d 21. 53-56. 188 Cal.Rptr. 77, 655 P.2d ?79. 
Defendant . correctly points out that People v. 

. Robertson requires the prosecution to prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt the commission of uncharged 
crimes when introduced as a factor in aggravation, 
but defendant fails to aclmowledge that a reasonable 
doubt instruction is not required if evidence of 
uncharged crimes is admitted for other purposes. 
(People v. Rich (J 988) 45 Ca1.3d 1036. 1121, 248 
Cal.Rptr. 510. 755 P.2d 960; **98People v. 
Robertson. supra. 33 Ca1.3d at p. 60. 188 Cal.Rptr. 
77. 655 P.2d 279 (conc. opn. of Broussard, J.).) 

[45] Here, defendant claims that evidence of 
uncharged crimes was introduced in several ways. 
During his opening statement at the penalty retrial, 
the prosecutor explained to the jury that defendant 
abused his wife and had gone to jail in the past when 
his wife called the police. The prosecution elicited 
testimony from defendant's former brother-in-law 

that defendant had "mistreated" his wife during their 
marriage. During cross-examination of Dr. Verde 
from the Veterans Administration medical center, the 
prosecutor elicited testimony concerning 12 incidents 
of domestic violence referre<,i to in defendant's 
medical records. The prosecution also elicited 
testimony from Pastor Young that defendant's wife 
stated several weeks before the shootings that 
defendant had threatened to shoot her. Finally, the 
prosecutor stated during his closing argument that 
defendant was abusive towards his wife. 

The People argue that none of the evidence 
concerning domestic abuse was introduced as a factor 
in aggravation under section 190.3, factor (b), but 
instead was introduced to show defendant's intent to 
commit the instant crimes. This was elicited through 
defendant's brother-in-law's testimony concerning 
defendant's past statements that defendant would not 
be bothered by shooting a police officer. Similarly, 
the People claim that testimony elicited during the 
cross-examinations of Dr. Verde and Pastor Young 
demonstrated defendant's unchanging nature 
(presumably to show that defendant continued to 
believe he. would not be bothered by shooting a 
police officer) and the likelihood that defendant 
would act on threats made previously, or to show a 
factor in mitigation, such as defendant's acting while 
under the influence of extreme mental or emotional 
disturbance. 

The People rely heavily on People V. Rich, in 
which we concluded that a court need only give a 
Robertson reasonable doubt instruction " 'when 
*1268 evidence of other crimes is introduced or 
referred to as an aggravating factor' " under section 
190.3, factor (b). (People v. Rich, supra. 45 Ca1.3d at 
p. 1121, 248 Cal.Rptr. 510. 755 P.2d 960. quoting 
People v. Robertson. supra. 33 Ca1.3d at p. 60, 188 
Cal.Rptr. 77. 655 P.2d 279 (conc. opn. of Broussard, 
J.).) The People contend that the contested evidence 
was. introduced here for purposes distinct from 
proving the commission of other crimes as an 
aggravating factor under section 190.3, factor (b). We 
do not find People V. Rich instructive here because in 
that case most of the contested other crimes evidence 
was introduced by the defendant in the guilt phase of 
the trial to establish diminished capacity. (People 1'. 

Rich. supra. 45 Ca1.3d at 00. 1121-1122, 248 
Cal.Rptr. 510. 755 P.2d 960.) Here, the contested 
evidence was introduced during the penalty retrial, 
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and the purpose ***651 for which it was, introduced 
was not made as cleat as in People Vi Rich. 

Nonetheless, we have concluded that a court's 
failure to provide a Robertson instruction does not 
constitute error where,· as here, "the prosecutor did 
not argue that any evidence relating to ... factor [ (b) ] 
had been presented" even when "the jury Was 
instructed that in determining penalty it could 
consider, among other things; the presence or absence 
of criminal activity involving the use, attempted use, 
or threat of violence." (People v. Lang (989) 49 
CaUd 991, 1040; 264 Cal.Rptr: 386.782 P.2d 627.) 
In ,the preserit case, the prosecutor argued only that 
factors. (a) and (k )--circumstances of the crime and 
circumstances extenuating the gravity of the crime, 
respectively-'-"-were relevant. Accordingly, no 
Robertson instruction was required because the 
evidence was not introduced as evidence of 
uncharged crimes under section 190.3, factor (b). 
(See People v. Lang. supra. 49 CaUd at p. 1040, 264 
Cal.Rptr. 386. 782 P.2d 627; People 1'. Poggi (1988) 
45 Cal·.3d 306. 341, .246 Cal.Rptr .. 886. 753P.2d 
1082.) 

[46] Even if the trial court's failure to provide 
sua sponte a Robertson insfiuction.constituted'ertor, 
any error was harmless because if is not possibly 
probable that providing the oIiritted"instruclioh'wo'uld 
have altered the verdict. (People v. Brown. supra; 46 
Cal.3d at pp. 446-449, 250 Cal.Rptr. 604, 758 P.2d 
1135; **99People 1'. Ave7IG (1996) 13 CaL4th 394. 
433-435. 53. Ca1.Rptr.2d 301, 916 P.2d '1000.) 
Defendant did not argue during the penalty phase of 
his trial, and does not argue now, that the evidence 
concerning the alleged domestic abuse was 
inaccurate. (See Peoplev. Avei1G. !,;upra. 13 Cal.4th at 
p. 433;. 53 Cal.Rptr.2d 301.' 916 P.2d 1000; 
[uncontroverted other crimes evidence renders failure 
to give Robertson instruction nonprejudicial].) 
Indeed, defense counsel alluded to the domestic 
abuse in his .own cross-examination of the People~s 
witness, Pastor Young. Pastor Young testified that 
defendant's wife would call seeking. counseling 
because she was fearful that defendant would harm 
her; Pastor Young also testified that .defendant 
brought Pastor Young a gun because· he wanted to " 
remove [it] from [his] home, because [he] want[ed] to! 
work on [his] relationship with Elaine." Far from 
arguing that evidence concerning the *1269 domestic 
abuse, . was inaccurate, defendant .elicited similar 

testimony from the prosecution's witnesses during 
cross-examination. Accordingly, we conclude that the 
court's error, if any, in failing to instruct th~; jury 
pursuant to People v. Robertson was harmless .. 
because it is not possibly probable that :the \fel:"q!~t. 
would have been different. (People v; AvenG;,slIpra.· 
13, Cal.4th at p. 433, 53Cal.Rptr.2d 301, 9l6P.2d 
1000.) 

6; A ZZeged Instructional Error Regarding Lack of 
Prior Felony Convictions 

[471 Defendant requested that the jury be, 
instructed that the absence of any prior, felony· 
convictions is a factor in mitigation. The jury was 
instructed; pursuant to CALJIC No. 8.85, that it must 
"corisider, take into account, and be guided by' the 
following factors, if applicable .... C; the presence Of. 

absence of any prior felony conviction otherth~m rthe 
crimes forwlllch the defendant has been tried ill the 
preSent proceedings." DefeIidantalleges thahthe, 
court's refusal to give a more 'specific instruction, 
stating in particular that the absence of a prior felony 
conviction is a mitigating factor;FN7 violated section 
1093, ***652 subdivision (f) FN8, and Iris .. state and 
federal constitutional rights.to due process a.nd a 
reliable penalty determination. Defe:v.dant .aJ~o 
contends that the prosecutor's argument that <)Illy 
factors (a) and (k) wererelevanti and Jdefenda;nt's 
counterargument that factors (b) and (c) should a,lso 
be considered, added ambiguity to the standard 
instruction, thus warranting a . more, specific: 
instruction. We disagree. 

FN7. The instn1ctionrequested by defendant 
and rejected by the trial court provided: 
"The absence of any felony convlctIons 
prior to the crime [s] for which the 
defendant has been tried:!inthepresent 
proceedings is a mitigating factor." 

FN8. Section 1093, subdivision (f) provides, 
in pertinent part, "The judge may then 
charge the jury, and shall do so on any 
points of law pertinent to the issue, if 
requested by either party .... " 

We have consistently concluded that CALJIC 
No. 8.85" is " 'correct and adequate,' "andthat~b 
error results from a court's refusal to provide a thoi-'e 
specific instruction informing the jury that it may 
consider a defendant's lack of prior felbIiy 
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convictions to be a factor in mitigation. (People V. 

Burne)'. supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 262. 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 
348.212 P.3d 639. quoting PeoDle V. Valencia (2008) 
43 Cal. 4th 268, 309, 74 Cal.Rptr.3d 605, 180 P.3d 
351; see also People v. Montel'roso (2004) 34 Ca1.4th 
743. 788. 22 Cal.Rptr.3d L 101 P.3d 956 [" '[A] trial 
court need not instruct that the absence of prior 
felony convictions is necessarily mitigating,' even if 
the defendant requests such an instruction"], quoting 
People v. Pollock (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1153. 1194. 13 
Cal.Rptr.3d 34, 89 P.3d 353.) Defendant presents us 
with no compelling reason to reconsider our prior 
holdings. 

*12707. Alleged Instructional Error Regarding 
Double-Counting Special Circumstances as 

Aggravating Factors ' 
BID Defendant argues . that the trial court 

erroneously refused his request to instruct the jury 
that it "should not double count aggravating factors 
which are special circumstances," and that this error 
violated his rights to due process and a reliable 
penalty detennination under the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 
Constitution. We disagree. Even if the' court erred by 
failing to provide defendant's requested instruction, 
we have repeatedly held that no prejudice results 
from such an **100 error where, as here, the 
prosecutor does not suggest that double-counting 
aggravating factors is pennissible and the jury 
receives the standard instruction concerning the 
weighing of aggravating and mitigating factors. 
(People v. Melton (1988) 44 Ca1.3d 713. 774-775, 
244 Cal.Rptr. 867.750 P.2d 741; see People v. Ayala 
(2000) 24 Ca1.4th 243. 289, 99 Cal.Rptr.?d 532. 6 
P.3d 193 [standard instruction does not encourage 
double-counting of aggravating factors]; see also 
People v. Burnell, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 267, 97 
Cal.Rptr.3d 348,212 P.3d 639.) 

8. Alleged Instructional Error Regarding Jury's 
Consideration of Circumstances of Crime as 

Aggravating Evidence Under Section 190.3. Factor 
(b) 

[49] Defendant argues' that the jury was 
improperly pennitted to consider the circumstances 
of the crimes as uncharged violent crimes under 
section 190.3, factor (b) (factor (b)) in violation of his 
state and federal constitutional rights to due process, 
a fair trial, and a 'reliable penalty detennination. 
Specifically, defendant contends that evidence 

concerning the events leading up to the shootings of 
Deputies Lehmann and Haugen, which formed the 
basis for the additional charged crimes of assault with 
a deadly weapon of Brown (which was dismissed 
during trial) and misdemeanor spousal abuse of 
Elaine Russell (to which defendant pleaded no 
contest ***653 before trial), were improperly 
considered by the jury as factor (b) evidence. 
Defendant's claim fails. 

Factor (b) permits a jury to consider "[t]he 
presence or absence of criminal activity by the 
defendant which involved the use or attempted use of 
force or violence or the express or implied threat to 
use force or violence." (§ 190.3, factor (b).) The court 
instructed the jury pursuant to CALJIC No. 8.85, 
which, with regard to factor (b), informs the jury that 
it may consider evidence of criminal activity "other 
than the crime [ s] for which the defendant has been 
tried in the present proceedings.~' Here, the only 
evidence about which defendant complains concerns 
the circumstances of the charged crimes, not criminal 
activity other than charged crimes and circumstances 
surrounding them. Accordingly, defendant's claim 
that the jury was improperly pennitted to consider 
evidence regarding the circumstances of the charged 
crimes as factor (b) evidence is *1271 belied by the 
language of the instruction provided to the jury that it 
could only consider evidence of criminal activity 
other than the crimes for which defendant was being 
tried. 

r 50 If 51] [52] Indeed, in the present case the 
prosecutor informed the jury that the only relevant 
section 190.3 factors were factors (a) and (k)-the 
prosecution did not suggest to the jury that factor (b) 
was relevant or that it should consider the 
circumstances of the instant crimes as factor (b) 
evidence. Defense counsel argued to the contrary, 
infonning the jury that it could "also consider factor [ 
(b) ], presence and absence of other criminal 
activity." Defendant complains that instructing the 
jury with both factor (a) and factor (b) improperly 
pennits the jury to double count the same evidence. 
Defendant's claim is forfeited to the extent that he did 
not object to the instruction being given, and even 
argued to the jury that it could and should consider 
factor (b). (See People v. Valdez (2004) 32 Ca1.4th 
73. 113, 8 Cal.Rptr.3d 271. 82 P.3d 296: see also 
People v. Carpenter (1997) 15 Ca1.4th 312, 390, 63 
Cal.Rptr.2d 1. 935 P.2d 708. superseded by statute on 
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other grounds· as .recognized in Verdin v. Superior 
Codrt (2008) 43 Ca1.4th 1096, 77 Cal.Rpt:r.3d 287, 
183 P3d 1250.) Moreover, as previously explained, 
the language of the instruction reveals the' flaw in 
defendant's argument. Factor (a) pennits the jury to 
consider the circumstances of the charged offenses, 
and factor (b) pennits the jury to consider a 
defendant's violent crimes other than the crime(s) at 
issue in the proceeding before it. Accordingly,. we 
conclude that a reasonable jury would not conflate or 
con:fp:se the instructions concerning factors ( a) and 
(b), and the trial coUrt did not err by instructing the 
jury corisistently. with factor (b). (See People v. 
]vIe/ton. supra. 44 Ca1.3d at p. 763, 244 CaLRptr. 
867, 750 P.2d 741: People v. Ashmus (1991) 54 
Ca1.3d 932, 998, 2 Cal.Rptr.2d 112, 820 P.2d 214, 
abrogated on other grounds as recognized in People 
v .. Yeoman{?003) 31Ca1.4th 93,;117, 2Ca1.Rptr.3d 
186, 72 P.3d 1166.) Even assuming **101 the 
instruction was erroneously given, no prejudjce 
resulted because it was never suggested to the jury, or 
even implied, that "circumstances of the murder 
should be, considered both under factor (a)a:p.d as 
criminal activity under factor (b)." (People v. 
Coleman (989) 48 Cal.3d 112, 157, 255 Cal,Rptr., 
813,768 P.2d 32.) 

9. Penalty Phase Instructional Challenges 
[53][54][551[56][57] Defendant raises .a host of 

federal constitutional challenges t6, the . instructions 
given during the penalty phase of the trial to preserve' 
them, recognizing that this court has repeatedly 
rejected similar contentions. lDefendant argues 
~**654 that the coUrt erred by failing to instruct the 
jury that it must find beyond a reasonable doubt that 
aggravating factors outweigh mitigating factors 
before it imposes a sentence of death. We ha.ve 
repeatedly rejected this claim, and. defendant presents 
us with no reason to reconsider our prior holdings. 
*1272 (People V. Mm-tinez (2009) 47 CalAth 399, 
455,.97 Cal.Rpt:r.3d 732, 213 P.3ct· 77.) Defendant 
urges us to reconsider our holding in light of the high 
court's decisions in Apprendi v. New JerSev POOO) 
530 U.S. 466, 120 S.C!; 2348, 147.LEd.2d 435 and 
Ring v. Arizona (2002}.536 U;S. 584;.122 s.m. 2428. 
153 L.Ed.2d 556, which we have ,consistently 
declined to do. (People v .. Martinez, supra; 47 CalAth 
at p. 455. 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 732. 213 P.3d 77 [" , " 
[u]nlike the guilt detennination, 'the sentencing 
function is inherently moral and normative, not 
factual' [citation] and, hence, not susceptible to a 
burden-of-proof quantification." , "], quoting People 

v. Manriquez: (2005)37 CalAth547, 589; .3.6 
Cal.Rptr.3d 340, 123 P.3d 614.) Defendant claims his 
Eighth and FoUrteenth, .Amendment rights were 
violated because the jury was not told that it was 
pennitted to impose death only if it were persuaded 
beyond a reasonable doubt that aggtavatmg factors 
outweighed mitigating factors. We have repeatedly 
rejected this claim. (People v. Cruz (2008) 44 CalAtll 
636. 681, 80 Cal.Rptr.3d 126, .187 P.3d970.). 
Defendant argues that the Sixth~Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments tq the United States 
Constitution require that. the state bear some burden 
of persuasion at the penalty stage, which thedury 
instructions failed to provide. We have consistently 
rejected this contention. (See People 11:' M01/1·iquez. 
supra, 37 Ca1.4th alp. 589,36 Cal.Rptrjd 340.123 
P.3d 614.) We similarly reject defendant's claims'that 
the penalty phase instructions were constitutionally 
deficient. because they did notmandilte juror 
unanimity concerning aggravating factors (people.v, 
Martinez, supra. 47 Ca1.4th at p. 455, 97 Oii.Rpir:3d 
732, 213 P.3d 77). and we reject defendant's claim 
that the jury should have been instructed regardi;{ga 
''presumption of life." (People v. McWhorter. supra.'· 
47 Ca1.4th at p. 379, 97 CaLRptr.3d.412,2i2P.3d" 
692.) . . . 

10. Alleged Instruetional Error Regarding Scope oJ 
Jury's Sentencing Discretion and Nature of 

FJeliberative Process 
[58] Defendant argues· that, .theconcluding; 

instruction given to the jury, a modified version of 
CALJIC No. 8.88, was flawed because it failed to 
adequately convey deliberative principles, was 
misleading and waS vague. FN9 *1273 Defendant 
contends ***655 these defects **102 violated his 
rights to due process, a fair trial by jury, and .a 
reliable penalty determiilation under the Sixth, Eighth 
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 
Constitution. Not so. 

FN9. The instruction read to the jury 
provided: "It is now your duty to. detennine 
which of the two penalties, death or 
confinement in the state prison for life 
without the possibility of parole, shall be 
imposed on the defendant. ['ilJ .. After 
hearing-after having heard all of the 
evidence and having heard arid considered 
the arguments of counsel, ,yoU,' .shall 
consider; take into account, and.tbe .guided 
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by the applicable factors of aggravating and 
mitigating circumstances upon which you 
have been instructed. [~ An aggravating 
factor is any fact, condition or event 
attending the commission of a crime which 
increases its guilt or enormity or adds to its 
injurious consequences which is above and 
beyond the elements of the crime itself. [f.] 
A mitigating circumstance is any fact, 
condition or event which does not constitute 
a jilstification or excuse for the crime in 
question, but may be considered as an 
extenuatiIig circumstance in determirung the 
appropriateness of the death penalty. [f.] The 
weighing of aggravating and mitigating 
circumstances does not mean a mere 
mechanical counting of factors on each side 
of an imaginary scale or the arbitrary 
assignments of weights to any of them. You 
are free to assign whatever moral or 
sympathetic value you deem appropriate to 
each and all of the various factors you are 
permitted' to consider. [f.] In weighing the 
various circumstances you determine under 
the relevant evidence which penalty is 
justified and appropriate by considering the 
totality of the aggravating circumstances 
with the totality of the mitigating 
circumstances. [f.] To return a judgment of 
'death each of you must be persuaded that the 
aggravating circumstances are so substantial 
in comparison with the mitigating 
circumstances that it warrants death instead 
of life without possibility of parole." 

[59][60] Defendant argues that the phrase "so 
substantial" in the final paragraph of the 
instruction-that jurors may return a verdict of death 
if each is "persuaded that the aggravating 
circumstances are so substantial in comparison with 
the mitigating circumstances that it warrants a 
judgment of death" (italics added)-created a vague 
and directionless standard in violation of the Eighth 
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 
Constitution. We disagree. As an initial matter, we 
note that defendant did not request a clarifying 
instruction; ac<;:ordingly, any objection he has to the 
instruction is forfeited. (People V. Arias (1996) l3 
Cal.4th 92. 171, 51 Cal.Rptr.2d 770.913 P.2d 980.) 
Defendant's claim also fails on the merits. We have 
consistently held that the "so substantial" language in 
CALlIC No. 8.88 "is not inadequate or misleading. 

By advising that a death verdict should be returned 
only if aggravation is 'so substantial in comparison 
with' mitigation that death is 'warranted,' the 
instruction clearly admonishes the jury to determine 
whether the balance of aggravation and mitigation 
makes death the appropriate penalty." (People v. 
Arias, supra, 13 Ca1.4th at p. 171. 51 Cal.Rptr.2d 
770.913 P.2d 980; see also People v. Breaux (1991) 

1 Cal.4th 281, 315-316. 3 Ca1.Rptr.2d 81, 821 P .2d 
585.) 

Defendant next contends that the instruction's 
use of the term "warrants" was inadequate because 
jurors are called upon to decide whether death is the 
"appropriate" penalty, not whether it is warranted. 
We rejected an identical argument in People V. 

Breaux" concluding that the "contention is spurious." 
(People V. Breaux, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 316. 3 
Cal.Rptr.2d 81. 821 P.2d 585: see also People v. 
Friend (2009) 47 Ca1.4th 1. 90. 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 211 
P.3d 520 ["The phrases 'so substantial' and 
'warranted' in CALJIC No. 8.88 are not 
unconstitutionally vague."].) Finally defendant 
suggests that the instruction was inadequate because 
it failed to convey to the jury that it must impose a 
life sentence if it did not fmd that aggravating factors 
outweighed mitigating factors. We have consistently 
concluded otherwise. (People v. Friend. supra, 47 
Cal.4th at p, 90, 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 211 P,3d 520; 
People V. Coffman and Marlow (2004) 34 Cal.4th 1, 
124, 17 Cal.Rptr.3d 710. 96 P .3d 30.) 

11. Alleged Instructional Error Regarding Section 
190.3 

Defendant raises numerous challenges to the jury 
instructions concerning section 190.3 (CALJIC Nos. 
8.85 & 8.88, as given), all of which this court has 
*1274 repeatedly rejected. Defendant first contends 
that section 190.3, factor (a) violates the Fifth, Sixth, 
Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 
States Constitution because the "circumstances of the 
crime" factor is applied in "a wanton and freakish 
manner" resulting in arbitrary and capricious 
imposition of the death penalty. We have previously 
considered and rejected this claim, (People v. 
Gutierrez (2009) 45 Ca1.4th 789, 831. 89 Cal.Rptr.3d 
225.200 P.3d 847.) Defendant next contends that the 
trial court erred by failing to delete inapplicable 
factors from CA.LJIC No. 8.85 ***656 as provided to 
the jury; we have consistently concluded otherwise. 
(People v. Me Whol'wr, supm. 47 Ca1.4th at p. 378. 97 
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CaLRptdd 412, 212 P.3d 692.} We have also 
consistently rejected the claim that the failure to 
instruct the jury as to which factors were mitigating. 
constituted errOr. (Ibid.) We have likewise repeatedly 
rejected the claim that adjectives such as "extreme" 
and "substantial" act as a barrier to the jury's 
consideration of factors in mitigation. (lei. at pp. 378-
379.97 Cal.Rptr.3d 412.212 P.3d 692.) 

Defendant also argues that the failure of CALJIC 
Nos. 8.85 and 8.88 to require written findings 
deprived him of his rights to due process, meaningful 
appellate review, and equal protection pursuant to the 
Eighth and **103 Fourteenth Amendments to the' 
United States Constitution. We have consistently 
concluded otherwise. (People v. Geier (2007) 41 
Cal.4th 555,620,61 Cal.Rptr.3d 580. 161 P~3d 104.) 
Finally, defendant erroneously suggests that 
California's death penalty scheme denies capital 
defendants equal protection of the laws; we have 
repeatedly concluded to the contrary. (People v. 
Gutierrez; supra. 45 Ca1.4th at po 831, 89 Cal.Rptr.3d 
225. 200 P.3d 847; People v.' Zamudio (200S) 43 
Cal.4th 327. 373. 75 Cal.Rptr3d 289.181 P.3d 105.) 

" , 

12. Intercase Proportionality ReJ'Jiew 
Nll Defendant argues that the 'CaliforDia· capital 

sentencing scheme's lack of interca.se proportionality' 
review violates his rights to be free from the arbitrary 
and capricious imposition of a capital sentence 
pursuant to the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments 
to the United States Constitution. We have repeatedly 
rejected sirniiat claims, and are presented with no 
arguments compelling us to alter our long-standing 
rule. (People '1'. Gutierrez. supra. 45 Ca1.4tll at p. 
833. 89 Cal.Rptr.3d 225. 200 P .3d 847: People v.' 
Hovos (2007) 41 Ca1.4th 872, 927, 63Cal.Rptr.3d L 
Ii52 P.3d 528.) 

J 3. Cumulative Error 
Defendant argues that even if individual errors 

db not warrant reversal, the cumulative effect of 
multiple errors resulted in prejudice to defendant 
mandating reversal. We disagree. To the exterifwe 
concluded or assumed that the trial court erred, no 
SIngle error warranted reversal, and we are not 
persuaded that reversal is warranted when those same 
nonprejudlcial ,errors 'are considered collectivelY. 

*i275 14. Alleged Violation ojInternational Law, ' 
and of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constjtu,tion 
Defendant's ,final contel1tio:lh-thathis death 

sentence- and California's capital sentencing scheme 
are inconsistent with international norrw;, and 
therefore violate the Eighth," and Fo;wteenth 
Amendments to the United States Gonstjtutio,n-has 
been repeatedly rejected by this. court. (People v. 
Curl (2009) 46 Ca1.4th 339; 362-363. 93 Cal.Rptr.3d 
537.207 P.3d 2.) 

III. CONCLUSION 
We 'aff:uiIi. the judgment. 

WE 'CONCUR: GEORGE,' (SJ., K:ENNARD, 
BAXTER, WERDEGAR, CHIN, and CORRIGAN, 
JJ. 
KENNARD, J., cohdming. . , 

,- Thecourl's opinion, which I have signed, states 
that the waiting and watching required to support a 
first degree murder conviction on a lying~in-wait 
theory need not continue for anypaiiicular length of 
time. For this reason, it rejects defendan.tis argument 
that the trial court should have instructed the jury that 
the period Of ***657 waiting and watching 'must be 
substantiai. (Maj. opn., ante, 117 Cal.Rptr:3d at pp. 
629-632; 242 P.3d at pp. 80-83.)1 agree. ' 

',' :':.i-' "; .; 

iWri'te separ~tely to ~xpl,ain\¥by my.,?oncurrence 
h~re does riot. _ conflict With . TIl)/' 'coiictiiring and 
dissentillg 'opinion in People l~' StevehS"(2007) 41 
CalAtJl182. 214, 59 Cal.Rptr.3ar96~'15S'P.3d 763 
(Stevens ). There, I expressed the yiew that a period 
of waiting and watching ITIust be sUbstaptial. But in 
Stevens I was addressing lying in waifas' a special 
circumstance (Pen.Code, § 190.2; subd. (a)(15)) 
rather than, as here, lying in wait as a foim of fIrst 
de~ree murder.; . 
\!~'" } < 1 I ' 

As' I explained in Stevens. California's,~e~0 
penalty law, which the voters enacted ih')978, 
cOntains. a list of sp~cial circurnstaIJ,ces tha~ ~ke. a 
fn-st degree murder punishable by death. (Pen. Code. 
§.190.2, subd. (a),) The list includes lying in wait, b~t 
not premeditation and deliberation. In this way, the 
provisions of our death penalty law reflect, a 
determination by the voters that lying-in-wait murder 
is "more hehious than premeditated ~iirder·." 
(Stelwns. supra. 41 Ca1.4th at p. 215.59 Cal.R.pti-.3'd 
196, 158 P.3d 763 (conc. & dis. opn. ofKennaid, J.)) 
Thus, I' ~oncluded, the voters must .have intenqed tluH 
the lying-in-wait, special .circu~tance be def'j.necl"in 

, -. , ~ • l 
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a marmer that differed significantly from 
premeditated murder." (Ibid.) 

**104 To make that important distinction, I 
concluded that the waiting and watching required to 
support the lying-in-wait special circumstance must 
*1276 continue for a substantial period of time. 
(Stevens, suvra, 41 Cal.4th at p, 215. 59 Cal.Rptr,3d 
196.158 P,3d 763 (cone. & dis, opn. ofKennard,J.),) 
Because the issue defendant raises here concerns 
lying in wait as a form of first degree murder, and not 
as a special circumstance, there is not the same need 
to distinguish defendant's crime from other 
premeditated and deliberate murders. Indeed, this 
court has held that, for establishing that a murder is 
of the first degree, "proof of lying-in-wait" is "the 
functional equivalent of proof' of premeditation, 
deliberation and intent to kill," (People v. Ruiz (1988) 
44 Ca1.3d 589. 614. 244 Cal.Rptr. )00. 749 P.2d 
854.) In other words, submitting evidence of lying in 
wait is merely one of several ways of establishing 
premeditation and deliberation. Therefore, I join in 
the court's opinion that, for purposes of establishing 
the degree of a murder, waiting and watching need 
not continue for any particular length of time. (See 
People v. Moon (2005) 37 Ca1.4th 1, 23. 32 
Cal.Rptr.3d 894. 117 P.3d 591.) 

Cal.,20l0. 
People V. Russell 
50 Cal. 4th 1228,242 P.3d 68, 117 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 
10 Cal. Daily Op. Servo 14,306, 2010 Daily Journal 
D.A.R. 17,287 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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Filed 12/21110 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 'OF CALIFORNIA 

THE PEOPLE, 

Plaintiff and Respondent, 

v. 

TIMOTHY RUSSELL, 

Defendant and Appellant. 

THE COURT: 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)., 
) 

S075875 

Riverside County 
Super. Ct. No. RIF72974 

MODIFICATION OF OPlNION ' 

The opinion in this case, filed on November 15,2010 and appearing at 50 

CalAth 1228, is modified as follows: 

On page 1268, last paragraph on the -page, the first sentence is modifed t-o 

read: "Even if the trial court's failure to provide sua sponte a Robertson instruction 

constituted error, any err~r was harrpless because it is not possibly probable that 

providing the omitted instruction would have altered t .. 9.e verdict." The last sentence of 

that same paragraph, on page 1269, is.modifiea to read: ""Accordingly, we c.onclude 

that the court's error, if any, in failing to instruct the jurypursuanuo People 

v. Robertson was harmless because it is not possibly prooa9le that the v.::erdici would 

have been different." 

This modification does not affect the judgment. 
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Supreme Court of the United States 
Office of the Clerk 

Washington, DC 20543-0001 

March 16, 2011 

William K. Suter 
Clerk of the Court 
(202) 479-3011 

Mr. Kent Barkhurst 
221 Main Street lOth Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105-0000 

Re: Timothy Russell 
v. California 
Application No. 10A903 

Dear Mr. Barkhurst: 

The application for an extension of time within which to file a petition 
for a writ of certiorari in the above-entitled case has been presented to 
Justice Kennedy, who on March 16, 2011 extended the time to and including 
April 20, 2011. 

This letter has been sent to those designated on the attached 
notification list. 

Sincerely, 

William K. Suter, Clerk 

by Jt1ie.~ 
. /j 

Kyle R. Ratliff 
Case Analyst 
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STATUTORY APPENDIX 

California Evidence Code § 1220 provides: 

Evidence of a statement is not made inadmissible by the hearsay rule when 
offered against the declarant in an action to which he is a party in either his 
individual or representative capacity, regardless of whether the statement 
was made in his individual or representative capacity. 

California Evidence Code § 356 provides: 

Where part of an act, declaration, conversation, or writing is given in· 
evidence by one party, the whole on the same subject may be inquired into 
by an adverse party; when a letter is read, the answer may be given; and 
when a detached act,-declaration, conversation, or writing is given in 
evidence, any other act, declaration, conversation, or writing which is 
necessary to make it understood may also be given in evidence. 

California Penal Code § 190.4, subdivision (b) provides: 

(b) If defendant was convicted by the court sitting without a jury the trier of 
fact at the penalty hearing shall be a jury unless a jury is waived by the 
defendant and the people, in which case the trier of fact shall be the court. 
If the defendant was convicted by a plea of guilty, the trier of fact shall be a 
jury unless a jury is waived by the defendant and the people. 

If the trier of fact is a jury and has been unable to reach a unanimous 
verdict as to what the penalty shall be, the court shall dismiss the jury arid 
shall order a new jury impaneled to try the issue as to what the penalty shall 
be. If such riew jury is unable to reach a unanimous verdict as to what the 
penalty shall be, the court in its discretion shall either order a new jury or 
impose a punishment of confinement in state prison for a term of life 
without the possibility of parole. 

-California Penal Code § 190.4, subdivision (d) provides: 

(d) In any case in which the defendant may be subject to the death penalty, 
evidence presented at any prior phase of the trial, including any proceeding 
under a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity pursuant to Section 1026 
shall be considered an any subsequent phase of the trial, if the trier of fact 
of the prior phase is the same trier of fact at the subsequent phase. 




